<u>T CELL REPERTOIRES IN ANIMAL AND HUMAN</u> <u>GLOMERULONEPHRITIS</u>

Thesis submitted for the degree of

Doctor of Medicine

at the University of Leicester

by

Dr Giles Walters

March 2005

UMI Number: U204117

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI U204117 Published by ProQuest LLC 2013. Copyright in the Dissertation held by the Author. Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC. All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.



ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

STATEMENT

The research contained in this thesis was performed in the Centre for Kidney Research, part of the Royal Alexandra Hospital for Children, Westmead, Sydney, Australia. Whilst in Australia I was supervised by Dr John Knight, the director of the Centre. My laboratory work was overseen by Dr Huiling Wu, who taught me all the laboratory techniques required for the work presented here.

All the work within this thesis is my own except where acknowledged within the text. Notably, chapters 5 (p. 71) and 6 (p.88) are collaborations with other researchers. Statements on each of these are included in each chapter. Chapters 3, 4, 5 and 6 are the respective publications, reproduced almost verbatim, listed on page iv.

I would like to acknowledge with gratitude the input of each of my supervisors within this project; Dr John Knight for his leadership, vision and wisdom in directing me and those around me; Dr Huiling Wu for her quite extraordinary patience in teaching me at every stage and for her example in hard work and dedication; Professor John Feehally for enabling my placement and for his continued support throughout. I regard it as a major privilege to have an association with each of these people.

ii

ABSTRACT

This thesis aims to study the role of T cells in glomerulonephritis and to take a first step towards design of novel T cell based treatments of these conditions. Two animal models, Heymann nephritis (HN) and experimental autoimmune glomerulonephritis (EAG), are studied. Glomerular T cell receptor (TCR) repertoires from each of these models are analysed using polymerase chain reaction, CDR3 spectratyping and DNA sequencing of their CDR3 regions. In HN, a restricted set of T cells defined by their V β J β and CDR3 regions are identified as potentially pathogenic cells. In EAG, infiltrating T cells are shown to be clearly oligoclonal with restricted TCR repertoires in each animal. The repertoire restriction differs in each animal studied but the entire population carries multiple TCR CDR3 motifs which are absent in control cells.

The data from HN is utilised to design a DNA vaccination based upon the identified PCR products of infiltrating T cells. Vaccinated rats have significantly improved disease with reduced proteinuria, $CD8^+$ and macrophage infiltration and IFN- γ expression. The mechanism of action of DNA vaccination is explored, demonstrating specific anti-TCR antibodies in vaccinated rats. The antibodies appear to reduce specific T cell infiltration to the kidneys and to reduce IFN- γ expression.

Oligoclonal T cells are also identified in archival human renal biopsy tissue. Restricted TCR repertoires are variable but CDR3 spectratypes clearly show oligoclonality within multiple TCR V β families. The data suggests that the most frequently represented T cell mRNA species may account for a large proportion of total T cell receptor mRNA signal.

This thesis demonstrates that infiltrating oligoclonal T cells can be identified in renal tissue and that specific anti T cell therapy may have an important place in future developments.

iii

PUBLICATIONS

Walters G, Wu H, Knight JF. Glomerular T cells in Heymann nephritis. *Clin Exp Immunol.* 2001;126:319-325.

Wu H, Walters G, Knight JF, Alexander SI. DNA vaccination against specific pathogenic T cell receptors reduces proteinuria in active Heymann nephritis by inducing specific autoantibodies. *J Immunol.* 2003;171:4824-4829.

Walters G, Habib AM, Reynolds J, Wu H, Knight JF, Pusey CD. Glomerular T cells are of restricted clonality and express multiple CDR3 motifs across different Vbeta T-cell receptor families in experimental autoimmune glomerulonephritis. *Nephron Exp Nephrol.* 2004;98:e71-81

Walters G, Alexander SI. T cell receptor BV repertoires using real time PCR: a comparison of SYBR green and a dual-labelled HuTrec[™] fluorescent probe. *J Immunol Methods*. 2004;294:43-52.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1. Introduction and Literature Review.

1.1 αβ]	T cell receptor	1
1.1.1.	Introduction	1
1.1.2.	The nomenclature and organisation of $\alpha\beta$ TCR genes	1
1.1.2	2.1. Rat TCR V β genes	1
1.1.2	2.2. Human TCR V β genes	1
1.1.3.	The rearrangement and diversity of $\alpha\beta$ TCR genes	2
1.1.4.	The structure of the $\alpha\beta$ TCR	3
1.2 Anti	igen recognition by the TCR	4
1.2.1.	The major histocompatibility complex	4
1.2.2.	The recognition of antigen by the $\alpha\beta$ TCR	4
1.3 TCF	R repertoire studies in animal and human diseases	5
1.3.1.	Techniques for analysis of TCR repertoires and oligoclonality	5
1.3.	1.1. Monoclonal antibodies	5
1.3.	1.2. Anchor polymerase chain reaction (PCR)	6
1.3.	1.3. Northern blot	6
1.3.	1.4. Semiquantitative PCR	6
1.3.	1.5. Real time PCR	7
1.3.	1.6. CDR3 spectratyping	7
1.3.3	1.7. Single Strand Conformational Polymorphism	8
1.3.2.	T cells and TCR repertoires in animal models	8
1.3.2	2.1. Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis (EAE)	8
1.3.2	2.2. Heymann Nephritis	10
1.3.2	2.3. Experimental Autoimmune Glomerulonephritis	12
1.3.3.	T cell involvement and TCR repertoires in human diseases	14
1.3.	3.1. Multiple Sclerosis	14
1	1.3.3.1.1 T cell studies in MS	15
1	1.3.3.1.2T cell based therapies for MS	16
1.3.	3.2. Goodpasture's disease and renal vasculitis in humans	19
1	I.3.3.2.1 Goodpasture's disease	19
1	1.3.3.2.2 Pauci-immune vasculitis	20

1.3.3.2.3	Evidence for involvement of T cells	22
1.3.3.2.4	T cell receptor repertoires	23

Chapter 2. Materials and Methods.

2.1	Ethics approval	25
2.2	Induction of Heymann Nephritis	25
2.3	Isolation of glomeruli	25
2.4	Immunoperoxidase Staining	26
2.5	Extraction of RNA and reverse transcription	26
2.6	First strand cDNA synthesis	27
2.7	Rat TCR Vβ Polymerase Chain Reaction	27
2.8	Human TCR Vβ PCR	28
2.9	Detection of PCR products by QPCR System 5000	28
2.10	CDR3 Spectratyping of PCR products	29
2.11	Cloning of PCR products	29
2.12	DNA vaccination	31
2.13	Autoantibody determination	31
2.14	Urinary protein estimation	32
2.15	Renal biopsies and PBMC samples	33
2.16	Real time PCR for CCβ and GAPDH	33

Chapter 3. T cell receptor BV repertoires using real time PCR: a comparison of SYBR green and a dual-labelled HuTrec[™] fluorescent probe.

3.1 Introduction				
 3.2 Methods	3.1	Intro	duction	.36
3.2.1. Generation of cDNA	3.2	Meth	ods	.37
 3.2.2. Design of real time PCR primers and probes	3.	.2.1.	Generation of cDNA	.37
 3.2.3. Real Time PCR	3	.2.2.	Design of real time PCR primers and probes	.38
 3.2.4. Statistical Methods	3	.2.3.	Real Time PCR	.38
 3.3 Results	3.	.2.4.	Statistical Methods	.39
3.3.1. HuTrec [™] fluorogenic probes and SYBR green both show low intrasample variability	3.3	Resu	lts	.39
variability	3.	3.1.	HuTrec [™] fluorogenic probes and SYBR green both show low intrasample	
	va	ariabili	it <u>y</u>	.39

	3.3.2.	SYBR green and HuTrec [™] fluorogenic probes give consistent results in	
(GAPDH	and BC assays on serial dilutions of peripheral blood mononuclear cells	.39
	3.3.3.	TCR BV repertoires measured with a HuTrec [™] fluorescent probe	.40
	3.3.4.	TCR repertoires measured with SYBR Green	.40
•	3.3.5.	Assessment of the cause of SYBR green error with small samples	.41
	3.3.6.	Comparing the TCR repertoires produced using the fluorogenic probe and	
i	SYBR g	reen	.41
-	3.3.7.	Assessment of the non-specific binding of SYBR green causing elevated	
1	results by	y real time PCR	.42
3.4	Discu	ssion	.50

Chapter 4. Glomerular T cells in Heymann nephritis

4.1 \$	atement
4.2 I	troduction53
4.3 1	aterials and methods
4.3	. Induction of Heymann Nephritis54
4.3	. Isolation of glomeruli
4.3	. Immunoperoxidase Staining
4.3	. Extraction of RNA and reverse transcription
4.3.	Detection of PCR products by QPCR System 500055
4.3.	. CDR3 Spectratyping of PCR products
4.3.	. Cloning and sequencing of PCR products
4.4 I	esults
4.4.	Development of Heymann Nephritis
4.4.	. No Vβ TCR family was significantly overexpressed
4.4.	. Multiple restricted CDR3 spectratypes present in each animal
4.4.	. Several Vβ TCR families have identical spectratypes in different animals57
4.4	. Small public response
4.4	Clones of interest in Vb 5, 7 and 13 had identical CDR3 size
4.4	. Overexpression of Jb 2.6 in glomerular clones
4.5	iscussion
4.6	onclusion70

.

Chapter 5. DNA Vaccination Against Specific Pathogenic T Cell Receptors Reduces Proteinuria In Active Heymann Nephritis by Inducing Specific Autoantibodies

5.1	State	ment	.71
5.2	Intro	duction	.71
5.3	Mate	rials and Methods	.72
5.	3.1.	Experimental animals and induction of active Heymann Nephritis	.72
5.	3.2.	DNA vaccination	.73
5.	3.3.	Autoantibody determination	.73
5.	3.4.	Urinary protein estimation	.74
5.	3.5.	Immunoperoxidase staining	.74
5.	3.6.	RT-PCR for TCR V β repertoire	.74
5.	3.7.	CDR3 spectratyping	.74
5.	3.8.	Semiquantitative RT-PCR for cytokine genes	.75
5.	3.9.	Flow cytometry analysis and cell sorting	.75
5	.3.10.	Statistical analysis	.75
5.4	Resu	lts	.75
5	.4.1.	DNA vaccination protects against HN	.75
5	.4.2.	DNA vaccination reduces IFN-γ mRNA expression in HN glomeruli	.76
5	.4.3.	DNA vaccination reduces the clonality of T cells response in HN glomerul	i
7	6		
5.	4.4.	DNA vaccination has no significant effect on anti-Fx1A antibodies	.77
5.	.4.5.	DNA vaccination induces specific autoantibodies	77
5.5	Discu	ussion	.85

Chapter 6. Glomerular T cells are of restricted clonality and express multiple CDR3 motifs across different $V\beta$ T cell receptor families in experimental autoimmune glomerulonephritis

6.1	State	ement	
6.2	Intro	oduction	88
6.3	Mate	erials and Methods	
6.	3.1.	Experimental animals	
6.	3.2.	Induction of EAG	90

6.3	3.3.	Assessment of EAG	90
	6.3.3	3.1. ELISA	90
	6.3.3	3.2. Rocket immunoelectrophoresis.	91
	6.3.3	3.3. Direct immunofluorescence	91
	6.3.3	3.4. Light microscopy	91
6.3	3.4.	Immunohistology	92
6.3	3.5.	Isolation of glomeruli	92
6.3	3.6 .	Extraction of RNA and reverse transcription	92
6.3	3.7.	Detection of PCR products by QPCR System 5000	93
6.3	8.8.	CDR3 spectratyping of PCR products	93
6.3	3.9 .	Cloning and sequencing of PCR products	94
6.3	3.10.	CDR3 region analysis	94
6.4	Resu	llts	95
6.4	4.1.	Assessment of EAG	95
6.4	4.2.	Vβ repertoires in glomerular T cells	95
6.4	4.3.	CDR3 spectratyping	95
6.4	4.4.	CDR3 motifs	96
6.5	Disc	cussion	102

Chapter 7. Oligoclonal T cells in human rapidly progressive glomerulonephritis

7.1	State	ment	106
7.2	Intro	duction	106
7.3	Meth	ods	107
· 7.	.3.1.	Renal biopsies and PBMC samples	107
7	.3.2.	RNA extraction and reverse transcriptase PCR	107
7	.3.3.	CDR3 spectratyping	108
7	.3.4.	Cloning and sequencing of PCR products	108
7	.3.5.	Real time PCR for CC _β and GAPDH	109
7.4	Resu	lts	109
7	.4.1.	Vβ TCR repertoires	109
7	.4.2.	Oligoclonal CDR3 spectratypes	109
7	.4.3.	Agarose gel densitometry gives an estimate of the TCR repertoire compa	ured
W	vith rea	l time PCR	110

7	.4.4.	Sequencing results	111
7	.4.5.	Shared CDR3 motifs in multiple biopsies	111
7.5	Disc	ussion	120

Chapter 8. Summary and Conclusions

8.1	Summary	122
8.2	Future studies	124
8.3	Conclusions	126

Chapter 1. Introduction and Literature Review.

1.1 $\alpha\beta$ T cell receptor

1.1.1. Introduction

The $\alpha\beta$ T cell receptor (TCR) is a heterodimer unique to the T cell. Displayed on the cell surface, it mediates antigen recognition by binding to major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules complexed with self or foreign peptides on the surface of other cells in the body. The TCR has a highly variable structure to enable a huge diversity of antigens to be bound and thus recognised by the acquired immune system. Each T cell has a single TCR sequence which does not change after maturation of the cell. Thus a single cell has a limited range of peptide:MHC complexes that it is able to bind. On cell division, a T cell produces progeny with an identical receptor. Thus a clone of T cells can easily be identified by their TCR since, due to the enormous variability of the receptor, it is extremely unlikely that two identical T cell clones could exist. T cells have no other way of recognising antigen. The TCR therefore represents the cornerstone of the acquired immune response. Without a T cell response to antigen, even an effective antibody response is rarely possible since T cell help is required by B cells under most conditions.

1.1.2. The nomenclature and organisation of $\alpha\beta$ TCR genes

1.1.2.1. Rat TCR $V\beta$ genes

Rat TCR V β gene sequences were identified using anchored PCR and named by comparison with the previously defined mouse TCR V β genes (1). There are 17 single member and 3 multimember families.

1.1.2.2. Human TCR V β genes

Multiple nomenclatures of human $\alpha\beta$ TCR genes have been published over a number of

years. The nomenclature used throughout this work for human V β TCR genes is described by the ImMunoGeneTics (IMGT) database (2). Genes are named according to their position on the chromosome and are designated BV rather than V β . Members of subfamilies have greater than 75% identity. The TCR BV locus is found on chromosome 7 and consists of 52 functional V gene segments, one D gene segment, up to seven J gene segments and a single C gene (3).

Where work from other authors is quoted, TCR are referred to by the names given by the authors of that work. Many workers continue to use previous nomenclatures labelled $V\beta$, there are therefore mixed names in the text. Though clearly unsatisfactory, this reflects the current situation in the literature. In my own work, I have utilised the IMGT names for human work only since they are not yet available for the rat.

1.1.3. The rearrangement and diversity of $\alpha\beta$ TCR genes

Each TCR V β chain is made up of single V, D, J and C regions arranged in series. Germline sequences are retained with important exceptions at the VD and DJ junctions. Each developing T cell undergoes rearrangement of its germline genes to select a combination of V, D, J and C genes. Whilst developing in the thymus, each T cell alters its germline DNA to approximate a V region to a D and J region, generating a functional VDJ β exon. This exon is subsequently spliced onto a C β region once transcribed as mRNA.

Alterations in the DNA sequence during recombination of the gene segments generates a highly diverse VDJ region which is otherwise known as the Complementarity Determining Region 3 (CDR3). This region corresponds to the antigen binding domain of the TCR.

Diversity in the TCR is generated by several mechanisms (4). First, somatic recombination as described above combines different gene segments in varying combinations in different T cell progenitors. This mechanism is complemented by alterations to germline DNA sequences at the junctions of gene segments. Several processes take place. P (or palindromic)

nucleotides are added to gene segments via the action of RAG-1 (Recombination Activation Gene 1) enzyme. N nucleotides are non-template encoded and added at random to the end of the segment by terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (TdT). Nucleotides are also removed by as yet unknown exonucleases. The final CDR3 region has a significantly different DNA sequence to the original set of gene segments that make it up. This process generates an enormous repertoire of unique TCRs. Each individual developing T cell utilises a single TCR. All progeny from a T cell carries the identical TCR. A clone of T cells can therefore be identified by a shared TCR. Because of the enormous repertoire generated by this process of combinatorial and junctional diversity, it is highly unlikely that two T cells clones could develop with an identical TCR.

1.1.4. The structure of the $\alpha\beta$ TCR

The $\alpha\beta$ TCR is made up of an α and β chain folded together into the final structure. It is highly similar to the Fab portion of an antibody molecule with the α and β chains corresponding with the light and heavy chains respectively. The chains are folded together such that the CDR3 regions of each chain approximate to form an antigen binding domain which has been shown to align with the peptide binding groove of MHC molecules (5). The receptor is displayed on the surface of the T cell. A transmembrane domain in the constant region of each chain anchors the receptor to the cell and a disulphide bond between the constant regions links the two chains. The variable regions lie outermost on the receptor and come into contact with MHC peptide complexes.

There are several important differences between immunoglobulin (Ig) and TCR structure. TCR do not have effector functions in themselves. They serve only as antigen detection systems. Effector functions are defined by the co-receptors expressed alongside the TCR like the CD4 and CD8 molecules. TCR are designed to pass signals to the T cell not to promote any particular effector reaction. Thus a TCR may be used to promote or suppress

inflammation depending on the T cell upon which it is expressed.

1.2 Antigen recognition by the TCR

Unlike Ig, TCR do not recognise native antigen in isolation. Instead peptide fragments are presented to the TCR bound to molecules of the MHC or major histocompatibility complex.

1.2.1. The major histocompatibility complex

The major histocompatibility complex (MHC) is an area of the genome first described (and named) because of its association with rejection of transplanted tissue. MHC molecules are cell surface glycoproteins encoded by MHC genes. There are two main classes, class I and II. Class I present antigens to T cells bearing the CD8 coreceptor, class II to those bearing the CD4 coreceptor. These coreceptors bind to the MHC molecule alongside the TCR and to a some extent dictate the effector function of the T cell. Without the coreceptors, binding of a TCR would be ineffective. These coreceptor molecules bind to invariant regions of their respective MHC molecules leaving the top surface free for simultaneous TCR interaction. Binding of CD4 and CD8 increases the intracellular signalling of the associated TCR via alterations in their cytoplasmic tails. This increases the sensitivity of the receptor by at least 100 fold. Less antigen is therefore required to stimulate the T cell.

1.2.2. The recognition of antigen by the $\alpha\beta$ TCR

The available crystal evidence is limited but suggests that TCR bind to MHC molecules in a similar fashion regardless of antigen specificity with the V α domain approximating with the class I MHC α 2 helix and the V β domain with the MHC α 1 helix. The position occupied by the V α domain is currently thought to be invariant overlying the N-terminus of the bound peptide and the α 2 domain of the MHC. The binding of the V β domain is more variable suggesting that the V α chain is mainly responsible for anchoring the TCR in place over the MHC.

The CDR3 α and β regions are brought into close proximity to the centre of the peptide

Chapter 1.

binding groove of the respective MHC molecule and appear to recognise critical residues of the peptide.



Figure 1.1 TCR binding to a peptide MHC complex. The CDR3 regions bind to peptide and adjacent areas of MHC. The variable chains bind the helices of the MHC chains.

1.3 TCR repertoire studies in animal and human diseases.

TCR repertoire studies are based on the premise that T cells infiltrating a diseased tissue represent a subset of all T cells that can be defined by their TCR expression, usually by the V gene segments of their β chain. Many studies have confirmed this finding showing restricted expression of V β genes in the mRNA extracted from tissue and demonstrating clonal expansion of potentially pathogenic T cell clones.

1.3.1. Techniques for analysis of TCR repertoires and oligoclonality

1.3.1.1. Monoclonal antibodies

Monoclonal antibodies raised against specific VB proteins has been extensively utilised to

analyse the repertoire of T cells in several situations (6) (7). Antibodies bind to the TCR in a V β specific manner. These are subsequently labelled with a fluorescent-labelled second antibody and analysed by fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS). The readout provides a measure of the number of T cells bearing a specific V β gene in the sample tested.

There are several disadvantages to this method. First, there has been a limited number of monoclonal antibodies available such that the analyses have been unable to reflect the entire TCR repertoire, for example, Kotzin (7) used only five available antibodies. As such the analyses are incomplete and may have missed important alterations. Second, the use of this method necessitates obtaining T cells that can be physically isolated from surrounding tissue such that they can be mixed in solution with the monoclonal antibodies and then analysed by FACS. This is clearly difficult when working with diseased tissue samples where extraction of lymphocytes is a time-consuming and inefficient process.

Monoclonal antibodies can also be used in histological study of tissue. This is not, however, part of TCR repertoire analysis but rather simple detection of a particular V β gene expression within the specimen.

1.3.1.2. Anchor polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

Anchor PCR involves the isolation of mRNA from tissue and conversion to cDNA. This is followed by ligation of a known sequence tag (the anchor) on the 5' end of all cDNA. PCR is then performed using a primer for the anchor sequence and a standard primer for the C β gene. Under these conditions, all V β genes are amplified with equal efficiency. The results are then thought to reflect relative quantities of V β gene expression than standard semiquantitative PCR (8). Another advantage of this method is the amplification of all V β genes irrespective of whether their sequence has already been defined. It has therefore been used to detect all expressed alleles in an animal as a definitive study (9).

Chapter 1.

1.3.1.3. Northern blot

Northern blotting is now, except under exceptional circumstances, an outmoded method of RNA analysis involving the isolation of RNA from a sample and electrophoresis on a formaldehyde agarose gel. RNA is then transferred onto nylon membranes and crosslinked. The membrane must then be probed with radiolabelled V β specific probes. The membranes are exposed to x-ray films and the results assessed by densitometry (10). It is very time consuming and presents multiple opportunities for error.

1.3.1.4. Semiquantitative PCR

Total or mRNA is extracted and reverse transcribed to cDNA. The V β repertoire is then assessed with multiple PCR reactions each primed with a C β and single V β primers. The resulting PCR products are electrophoresed usually on an agarose gel to demonstrate the size and relative quantity of the specific product in each reaction. Further analysis may then be carried out either on the gel using southern blotting, or on the PCR product remaining. Preliminary reactions with two or more V β primers must be first carried out to assess the optimum number of cycles that are required to interrupt the reaction whilst all PCR products are detectable and likely to be undergoing exponential amplification. This compromise can difficult to carry out. Standard PCR requires all reactions to stop at a particular cycle. Some may have no detectable product whilst others are overamplified having reached the plateau phase of amplification. Multiple problems need to be overcome to ensure results are meaningful.

1.3.1.5. Real time PCR

Real time PCR is a relatively recent development and has transformed PCR to make it more rapid with a larger dynamic range. The PCR reaction now contains not only two primers but also one or two fluorescent-labelled probes which provide a real time readout of the level of product at each cycle of a reaction. It has therefore become possible to accurately compare

samples of very different signal strength in the same experiment whilst being certain of the level of amplification. In experiments used in this thesis, a single dual-labelled DNA probe is utilised. The method is described in detail in chapter 3 (p.37). At each PCR cycle, primers bind to the DNA template and promote elongation of the DNA. On one of the strands, the probe is also bound. As the Taq polymerase passes along the template, the fluorescent labelled probe is broken down into its constituent parts releasing the two fluorescent molecules. Whilst the probe is intact the fluorescence from its FAM moiety is quenched by the molecule at the opposite end of the probe. When the probe is destroyed, the FAM is released into solution free to emit its fluorescent signal. The number of fluorescing molecules, and therefore the level of fluorescence, is a direct measure of the formation of PCR product.

1.3.1.6. CDR3 spectratyping

CDR3 spectratyping involves a second PCR reaction. Specific V β PCR product is fluorescent labelled using a labelled primer for 6 to 10 cycles. The product is then run on a high resolution sequencing gel. This demonstrates small differences in the length of the products in that V β family. If a diverse population of TCR is present in the test sample, there will be a Gaussian distribution of cDNA lengths in the PCR product. If an oligoclonal or monoclonal TCR is present, one or two cDNA lengths may be demonstrated. This is a rapid method for screening the diversity of TCR in a particular V β family.

1.3.2. T cells and TCR repertoires in animal models

An enormous literature exists on this subject. I have therefore confined myself to a discussion of a very well known autoimmune disease, experimental autoimmune encephalitis, which has been extensively studied followed by the literature on the diseases and models of the work contained in this thesis. In the human section, the parallel human disease to EAE, multiple sclerosis, is also summarised.

1.3.2.1. Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis (EAE)

EAE is a T cell mediated disease generated in mice and rats characterised clinically by an acute or relapsing, remitting paralysis and histologically by perivascular lymphocytic infiltration and demyelination (11). It bears some similarities to the human demyelinating disease multiple sclerosis and is cited as an animal model for its investigation (12). Acute EAE is generated by injection of the hind foot pads of Lewis rats with an emulsion of guinea pig or rat myelin basic protein (MBP) with complete Freund's adjuvant (13). Over the subsequent two weeks, rats develop a symmetrical ascending paralysis whose clinical stages are divided into four. Stage 1, floppy tail; stage 2, mild paraparesis; stage 3, severe paraparesis; stage 4, tetraparesis or moribund. If the animals survive, week three begins a total recovery. Chronic relapsing EAE is generated using injections of spinal cord homogenate rather than MBP co-administered with intraperitoneal injections of Cyclosporin A (12). A histologically similar disease occurs but in a relapsing remitting form.

The transfer of CD4⁺ T cells reactive to MBP was shown to transfer disease to naïve rats (14). Several groups identified T cells responding to an immunodominant epitope of MBP as responsible for the majority of disease in this model in rats. T cells utilising V β 8.2 responding to an epitope within the region of amino acids 68-89 was identified as the encephalitogenic epitope (15) (16).

Analysis of pathogenic T cells was first performed on *in vitro* manipulated T cells in the form of T cell clones, lines and hybridomas. Burns et al (15) generated a series of T cell clones and hybridomas from the lymph nodes of MBP-immunised Lewis rats. These were tested against V α and V β probes generated from known encephalitogenic CD4⁺ T cell hybridomas. All encephalitogenic clones bore the same V β sequence which was subsequently named V β 8.2. V α usage involved V α 2 in 7 of 10 encephalitogenic clones. This finding was confirmed and extended to show similarities in the CDR3 sequences of T

cells reactive to MBP 68-88 (17). All MBP reactive T cell clones utilised V β 8.2. Twelve of 15 sequences bore closely related CDR3 regions with aspartic acid followed by serine as the first two amino acids.

Studies of *in vivo* T cells mostly confirmed the *in vitro* experiments. Infiltrating T cells studied using monoclonal antibodies to V β 8.2, 8.5 and 10 showed a predominance of V β 8.2 cells throughout the course of chronic relapsing EAE. V β 8.5 and 10 were present more during relapses than remissions (12). Subsequent CDR3 spectratyping demonstrated oligoclonal expansion of V β 8.2 at all stages of the relapsing disease and in the acute form. DNA sequencing showed CDR3 sequences identical across the two forms of EAE. Other V β families also appeared to be involved but were different in each disease. Oligoclonality was detected in V β 17 in acute disease and V β 12 in chronic relapsing EAE. V β 8.2 expansions persisted throughout the disease.

Other T cell studies have focused on cells responding to secondary epitopes on the MBP molecule and other proteins thought to have a potential role in pathogenicity. Encephalitogenic clones specific for proteolipid protein (PLP), and bearing V β 2, transferred to a naïve Lewis rat caused a form of chronic relapsing EAE. The clonal cells were predominant throughout the acute disease but appeared to play a minor role in subsequent relapses (18). V β 10 cells may be specific for the secondary epitope MBP 44-67 and are encephalitogenic. Depletion of T cell lines of both V β 8.2 and 10 still leaves an encephalitogenic population of cells which use mainly V β 3 and V α 2 (19).

1.3.2.2. Heymann Nephritis

Active Heymann Nephritis (HN) is a rat model of human membranous nephropathy generated by injection of susceptible strains of rats, such as Lewis or Fisher, with crude rat renal tubular antigen (RTA/Fx1A) emulsified in complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA) (20).

Antibodies to Fx1A bind to autoantigens expressed on glomerular epithelial cells (GEC). Subepithelial deposits of IgG form and result in activation of complement producing severe glomerular injury, proteinuria and renal failure (21) (22). Proteinuria develops in 80% of rats within 8 to 10 weeks of immunisation (23).

Histologically there are similarities between HN and human membranous nephropathy with subepithelial electron dense deposits detectable on electron microscopy. Interstitial infiltration by mononuclear cells including $\alpha\beta$ TCR⁺ CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ populations (24) occurs early in the disease. Monoclonal antibody studies have demonstrated glomerular infiltration by macrophages, CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cells with associated mRNA expression of IFN-y, granzyme A, perforin and TNFa. Production of anti-Fx1A antibodies is dependent on CD4⁺ T cells (25). Blocking experiments using anti-CD4 antibodies showed a marked reduction in immunoglobulin deposition, proteinuria and mononuclear cell infiltration (24). The use of anti-CD8 monoclonal antibodies was also shown to be effective in the prevention of active HN. This method depleted CD8⁺ cells temporarily and reduced proteinuria and mononuclear cell infiltration. This strongly suggested that the role of T cells is not confined to help for antibody production but may involve the direct mediation of glomerular or interstitial injury. The appearance of glomerular T cells was shown to be correlated with the development of proteinuria by Penny et al (26). In their experiments, immunoperoxidase staining with monoclonal antibodies was used to demonstrate the influx of mononuclear cells into the glomeruli at 8 weeks. This was associated with the development of proteinuria which was not correlated with the deposition of immunoglobulin, as might have been expected. Ig deposition was present at 4 and 8 weeks. Cells infiltrating the glomeruli were CD4⁺ Th1 T cells, CD8⁺ T cells and macrophages. This was confirmed using RT-PCR to detect cytokines associated with each cell type. CD4⁺ Th2 cells could not be demonstrated in the absence of mRNA expression of IL-4, IL-5 or IL-6. A previous needle aspiration study had shown the

presence of mainly CD8⁺ T cells (27). The authors had suggested linkage between the presence of T cells and tubulointersitial lesions.

T cell receptor gene usage in active HN is addressed by a single study and showed preferential expression of V β 2 and V β 16 families in the mRNA extracted from whole kidney tissue (28). This could only be detected at the 8 week stage of pathogenesis. Later in the course of the disease the relative expression of V β families returned to normal. It was suggested that these cells infiltrating the kidney early in the disease represented antigen specific T cells which were responsible for the interstitial damage and which later gave way to a more severe, non-specific infiltrate. The non-specific nature of the subsequent infiltrate may explain the difficulty in identifying preferential expression of V β families at that stage. CDR3 spectratyping was performed on overexpressed V β families and showed conserved usage of particular regions and the over-representation of arginine residues in the CDR3 region. The restricted V β gene usage and CDR3 regions were purported to indicate clonal expansion of antigen specific T cells within the kidney during the pathogenesis of HN.

1.3.2.3. Experimental Autoimmune Glomerulonephritis

Experimental autoimmune glomerulonephritis (EAG) is a model of human Goodpasture's disease. Initially described in 1962, it was induced initially in sheep by injection of heterologous GBM antigens in CFA. Subsequent experiments demonstrated that EAG could be generated in susceptible strains of rat by a single injection of collagenase digested homologous or autologous GBM in CFA (29) (30) (31). It is characterised in the WKY rat by sustained anti-GBM antibody production, linear deposition of antibody on the GBM and severe focal necrotising glomerulonephritis with crescent formation.

T cell involvement in this model has been demonstrated by a reduction in severity of the disease with various therapeutic manoeuvres. Cyclosporin A was used both in preventive and therapeutic regimens (32). High dose treatment both prior to and at the time of

immunisation with GBM produced a significant reduction in circulating anti-GBM antibodies and almost complete abrogation of proteinuria. Treatment of established disease was also successful. Levels of anti-GBM antibodies were less markedly affected by treatment but, in animals treated from day 14 from immunisation, levels of proteinuria were virtually undetectable.

Monoclonal antibody therapy has supported these observations. Intraperitoneal injection of anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody (W3/25) was performed three times a week at 5 and 10 mg/kg doses for 2 and 4 weeks on induction of disease (33). This was highly effective if given for 4 weeks with only a single animal developing low levels of anti-GBM antibody. A further experiment explored the use of higher dose antibody (30 mg/kg) given three times in the first week only. Three of 5 animals developed a low titre of antibody in this group suggesting that profound depletion of CD4⁺ T cells within the first week after immunisation. All animals in the treatment groups had negligible proteinuria and were protected from disease.

The use of anti-CD8 monoclonal antibody (OX8) showed similar efficacy (34). Rats were treated with 5 mg/kg doses injected intraperitoneally three times a week. Therapy began either at disease induction for 4 weeks (prevention) or from weeks 2 to 4 (treatment). The preventive therapy completed prevented proteinuria, fibrin deposition, crescent formation, glomerular and interstitial damage and the infiltration of mononuclear cells into the kidney. Treatment from week 2 was almost as effective. Some T cells and macrophages were detectable in the renal tissue and a small percentage of glomeruli had detectable abnormalities on histology. There were no glomerular crescents. Circulating antibody concentrations, however, were entirely unaffected by either treatment protocol, demonstrating a clear distinction between the functions of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cells in the pathogenesis of this disease.

Adoptive transfer of CD4⁺ T cells from immunised animals primed naïve animals to produce an enhanced anti-GBM antibody response to subsequent immunisation, suggesting CD4⁺ T cell involvement in antibody production but not directly in renal damage (35). More recently, it has been shown in a similar rat model of EAG that disease can be transferred using autoreactive CD4⁺ T cells (36). This second model has some differences to that used by Reynolds et al. The α 3 chain of type IV collagen (Col4 α 3NC1) is used as the antigen by Wu et al. This has been shown to be the main antigen responsible for disease in EAG (37) (38) (39) and T cells from GBM immunised animals have been shown to proliferate in response to Col4a3NC1. In spite of this similarity, Wu's model has some significant differences to EAG. Rats were immunised with 300 µg of Col4a3NC1 in a single hind foot pad and at the base of the tail. Disease generated does not involve the deposition of antibody in the glomeruli (40). The adoptive transfer of CD4⁺ cells is also performed differently to Reynolds. Primed T cells are extracted from lymph nodes and stimulated in vitro. They are then transferred into pertussis primed rats rather than naïve rats used by Reynolds et al. Thus, both the disease and the transfer of CD4⁺ cells are different. The experiments do, however, demonstrate that different roles played by CD4⁺ cells in the pathogenesis of EAG may include help for antibody production or more direct involvement in renal damage. Other investigators have shown in a mouse model of EAG, also utilising Col4a3NC1 as the immunising antigen, that MHC class II genes are critical for the development of crescentic nephritis (41). By implication this suggests the involvement of CD4⁺ cells since they bind to class II MHC. This model does generate circulating and deposited anti-GBM antibodies but passive transfer of these alone is not sufficient to generate disease. Also crescentic nephritis is dependent upon MHC genes and CD4⁺ T cells rather than the presence of anti-GBM antibodies.

T cells are therefore critically important in the development of EAG. However, no studies of TCR repertoires had been carried out until the work presented in this thesis.

1.3.3. T cell involvement and TCR repertoires in human diseases

1.3.3.1. Multiple Sclerosis

Multiple Sclerosis (MS) is a neurological disease widely believed to represent an autoimmune reaction to myelin components. It is characterised by infiltration of T cells macrophages and B cells, demyelination and to some extent degradation of axons. Extensive study of T cell involvement has taken place based upon previous work on EAE in the rat, mouse and other animals. The remarkable findings in EAE began the search for similarly restricted V β TCR repertoires in MS in humans. The investigation has been hampered by the fact that the organ of interest is the CNS; biopsies are rarely taken from patients, therefore T cell studies have mainly focused on PBMC, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) T cells and postmortem studies of brain tissue.

1.3.3.1.1 T cell studies in MS

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were taken from MS patients and controls and stimulated with either whole myelin basic protein or various peptides from putative epitopes identified in EAE work. Responding T cells were then cloned and examined for V β TCR repertoire and other characteristics. Kotzin et al cultured T cells from 7 patients with MS with whole human myelin and found preferential use of V β 5.2 and 6.1. This was not reflected in alterations in the peripheral TCR repertoire (7). Other workers have shown that different V β genes are used in different patients, suggesting individual immunotherapy would have to be the way forward (42). In 1995, Richert et al examined 54 MBP specific clones from the blood of 15 MS patients and 3 normal controls. Multiple V α and V β genes were used in conjunction with 23 CDR3 $_{\alpha}$ and 30 CDR3 $_{\beta}$ regions. Some CDR3 motifs were shared across T cells which also shared epitope specificity, others were detected in T cells of differing

epitope specificity (43). Hong et al stimulated patient PBMC with the presumed dominant epitope of MBP (MBP 83-99) and demonstrated an identical CDR3 motif in V β 13.1 cells across different individuals (44). A CDR3 probe was generated to detect the T cell clone in the PBMC of 15 out of 48 randomly selected MS patients and in 36 of 44 T cell lines. The majority of work has not shown shared motifs across different individuals but does strongly support the oligoclonality of T cells responding to MBP. Wucherpfennig found that the immune response to MBP was dominated by expanded clones in some patients but not others (45).

Another group examined T cells from peripheral blood responsive to IL-2 from MS patients and controls. Without IL-2, the numbers of T cells responsive to MBP was similar in controls and patients. With primary recombinant IL-2 stimulation, numbers increased in patients. CSF was also examined in MS patients where up to 7% of IL-2 responsive T cells were MBP reactive, a ten fold increase over results from peripheral blood (46). These cells recognised MBP peptides 84-102 and 143-168 and were CD4⁺. A further study compared V β 5 and 17 expression in CSF and peripheral blood. Reduced diversity was found in both V β families but recurrent clonal expansion was found only in V β 17. T cell clones utilising V β 17 J β 1.6 were found with identical CDR3 length in 3 patients (47). Wilson et al examined CSF T cells and showed over representation of several TCR V β families including 2, 4, 5, 6.5 and 6.7. Two thirds of patients showed clear evidence of clonal dominance with over 50% of sequences from a single V β family originating from a single clone (48). This formed the basis of a later therapeutic trial of V β 6 CDR2 peptide immunisation.

Examination of brain tissue from MS patients has been performed by a number of groups and has produced a range of results showing both TCR restriction and diversity. Oksenberg published an initial study showing restricted usage of V α genes with 2 to 4 genes used per patient. J β usage was also restricted on subsequent DNA sequencing of V α 12 CDR3 sequences (49). Two years later, the same group studied TCR V β rearrangements in brain tissue and showed the presence of V β 5.2 TCR in lesions of patients with particular HLA genes. One of the CDR3 sequences detected was identical to a T cell clone previously identified reactive to MBP 89-106. It carried a CDR3 motif that had also been demonstrated in rat EAE lesions (50).

Another group, however, have failed to detect restriction in infiltrating T cells in the CNS. Wucherpfennig et al studied postmortem specimens from both acute and chronic MS plaques. Samples were small, taken from small frozen sections. They found diverse V α and V β usage in all plaques (51).

1.3.3.1.2 T cell based therapies for MS

In spite of the lack of a clear consensus on the immunological reaction involved in MS there are multiple studies of T cell based interventions in its treatment. Some of these involve therapy based upon targeting the TCR of implicated T cells. Other treatments under study include oral tolerance with bovine myelin, infusion of synthetic MBP peptide regions 82-98 and 85-96, solubilized HLA DR2:MBP84-102, altered peptide ligand and glatiramer acetate combined with several other agents including natalizumab, $IFN\beta$ -1b albuterol and mitoxantrone.

The use of a monoclonal antibody against V β 5.2 was a logical extension of the studies by Oksenberg, above. Monthly injections of a humanized monoclonal antibody to 47 relapsing-remitting MS patients reduced target cell numbers effectively but failed to demonstrate any significant clinical benefit (52).

In 1997, Gold et al reported the results of vaccination with a V β 6 CDR2 peptide. 10 patients were vaccinated with low (100 μ g; n=5) or high (300 μ g; n=5) doses with incomplete Freund's adjuvant (IFA). The study had to be terminated due to the development of delayed type hypersensitivity (DTH) reactions in 3 of the 10 patients. The results did however show a

reduction in CSF cellularity in those treated with high dose peptide along with a reduction in growth of CSF cells in expansion culture *in vitro* and reduced levels of V β 6 in these cultures (53). A further study using BV6S2 and BV6S5 peptides reported the vaccine was safe and well tolerated, resulting in cell-mediated immunity to the peptide in 8 of 10 patients (54). No efficacy results were reported. Further results from Vandenbark et al suggest that they have found TCR CDR2 peptides to be safe and immunogenic in over 170 MS patients but with highly variable efficacy (55). They propose that peptide vaccination generates Th2 cells which act to regulate the activity of autoimmune CD4⁺ Th1 cells.

Vaccination with autologous CD4⁺ T cells activated with a combination of MBP with or without Myelin Oligodendrocyte Glycoprotein (MOG) has been investigated as an alternative to TCR directed therapies. These studies have all been reported as phase I trials. Medaer and colleagues vaccinated patients with MBP reactive T cell and showed an improvement in 5 of 8 patients with a reduced number of relapses. Brain lesion size increased by 8% in vaccinated patients as compared with a 39.5% increase in control patients (56). Reactive T cells were reduced in vaccinated patients but reappeared in 5 patients. Revaccination abolished these T cells again (57). Extension of this study to 49 MS patients suggested that vaccination was safe and produced a complex cellular reaction (58).

Zhang et al injected irradiated autologous CD4⁺ T cells into 28 relapsing-remitting (RR) MS patients and 26 secondary progressive MS patients. They documented a 40% reduction in relapse rate compared to the same patients in the 2 years prior to the study. There was no control group. MRI lesions got no worse and there was no change in the patients' EDSS (59). Achiron reported this year on the treatment with T cell vaccination of 20 RR MS patients who had not responded to other forms of treatment. T cells were activated with both MBP and MOG peptides prior to injection. Relapse rate was cut from 2.6 to 1.1 per year and disability stabilised. There was no significant reduction in the number and volume of MRI

Chapter 1.

detected CNS lesions (60).

A further encouraging study used vaccination with CD4⁺ T cells taken from CSF and stimulated in recombinant IL-2 (61). Only 5 MS patients were included (4 RR, 1 chronic progressive) but none suffered a relapse during the study. EDSS scores improved during the study. The CD4⁺ T cells infused showed reactivity to multiple myelin epitopes. A placebo controlled trial is under way. This study overcomes some of the problems with others. Several of the studies above stimulate autologous cells with either whole MBP or particular peptides of MBP or MOG. In contrast this study merely expands activated cells found in the CSF of each patient. The method therefore does not prejudge the epitopes used by each patient.

There have clearly been significant difficulties in exploring the basis of T cell involvement in MS. After the encouraging initial results from EAE, transfer of techniques used in rodents to humans has been fraught with problems. Humans are an outbred population carrying a huge diversity of HLA genes and therefore generating a large array of T cells and subsequent immune reactions. However some of the data has shown clear indications that MS has an immunological basis with evidence of clonal expansions of T cells. These T cell populations are highly likely to be different in each individual even if particular V β genes may take a major role in some patients. It is clearly early days for the use of T cell directed therapy in MS but the above data does suggest that there are significant possibilities for its use.

1.3.3.2. Goodpasture's disease and renal vasculitis in humans

1.3.3.2.1 Goodpasture's disease

Human Goodpasture's disease is characterised by rapidly progressive glomerulonephritis often accompanied by pulmonary haemorrhage and associated with the presence of autoantibodies directed against the glomerular basement membrane (GBM). These

antibodies have been shown to recognise epitopes on the non-collagenous domain of the alpha 3 chain of type IV collagen (α 3(IV) NC1) (62) (63) (64). Passive transfer studies have demonstrated the pathogenicity of these antibodies (65). The severity of nephritis has also been correlated with the level of circulating antibodies (66). The disease has therefore been considered an antibody-mediated disease.

There have, however, been several studies that have looked at the role of cell mediated immunity in general (67) (68) and T cells in particular in glomerulonephritis. In a mouse model of anti-GBM glomerulonephritis, Tipping et al showed that CD4⁺ cells were crucial for development of crescentic nephritis. Absence of CD8⁺ cells made this disease model worse (69). In 1983, analysis of T cell subsets in patients suffering from Goodpasture's disease showed a persistent deficiency of CD8⁺ suppressor cells during active disease (70). Subsequently, T cells taken from patients with Goodpasture's disease showed significant responses to affinity-purified human GBM *in vitro* (71). There was no response from control T cells from normal patients. In 1996, autoreactive T cells from two patients with Goodpasture's disease were found to recognise the N-terminal part of the NC1 domain of α 3 type IV collagen (64). The three T cell clones in this experiment were all CD8⁺. Only one of the clones was characterised further. It was HLA class I restricted (HLA A11) and expressed T cell receptor Vβ 5.1 chain.

Recent experiments in the mouse have described a new model of Goodpasture's syndrome utilising the same antigen as that involved in the human. In these experiments, several strains of inbred mice were injected with $\alpha 3$ (IV) NC1 collagen subcutaneously. All mice developed autoantibodies detectable in serum and bound to the GBM. However development of crescentic nephritis was dependent on MHC class II genes and the presence of T cells (41). Human Goodpasture's disease has also been shown to be dependent on MHC class II genes with up to 80% of patients inheriting an HLA-DR2 haplotype. Further studies have

suggested a hierarchy of association of DRB1 alleles, some inducing protection, others susceptibility (72).

The evidence therefore suggests that T cells are involved in Goodpasture's disease and that there are a limited number of epitopes triggering the T cell reaction. This would suggest the possibility that, early in the disease at least, there may an oligoclonal T cell response. This is what we would hope to detect in studying human renal biopsy material from patients with this disease.

1.3.3.2.2 Pauci-immune vasculitis

Pauci-immune vasculitis is a collection of diseases the most well known of which are Wegener's Granulomatosis and Microscopic Polyangiitis. These are characterised by inflammation of small and medium sized blood vessels. Wegener's Granulomatosis also includes granulomatous inflammation of the upper and lower respiratory tract. Both diseases characteristically affect the kidneys with a crescentic glomerulonephritis, infiltration of mononuclear cells and a notable absence of immune deposits in the affected glomeruli (73). Serum antibodies against neutrophil cytoplasmic antigens have been described since the early 1980s and their use as markers for diagnosis and disease activity is well established (74) (75). Antibodies have been detected against various constituents of the neutrophil intracellular granules the most well known of which are proteinase 3 (PR3) and myeloperoxidase (MPO). Anti-proteinase 3 antibodies are 99% specific in patients with Wegener's Granulomatosis (76) though occasionally present in other disorders. ANCA directed against proteins such as myeloperoxidase, lysozyme, cathepsin G and others are far less specific and are found in a range of diseases, including microscopic polyangiitis. The epitope specificities of antibodies to PR3 have been described (77).

Much attention has been focused on the role of ANCA and their interaction with neutrophils and endothelial cells. ANCA have been shown to activate neutrophils causing degranulation

and release of reactive oxygen species. The effect is much greater in neutrophils primed by cytokines such as TNF α (78). This priming causes expression of antigen such as PR3 and MPO on the surface of the neutrophil (79). Levels of TNF α are increased in the serum of patients with Wegener's Granulomatosis.

Involvement of the endothelium follows the same lines. PR3 expression occurs in the cytoplasm of human endothelial cells with time dependent translocation to the membrane under the influence of cytokines TNF α and IFN γ . ANCA have been shown to bind to cytokine pre-treated endothelial cells in vitro but not to naïve cells (80). Cytokine primed neutrophils also bind to damaged endothelial cells in vitro and cause further damage (81).

The pathogenicity of ANCA has been supported by recent data in an animal model. Xiao and co-workers immunised MPO knockout mice with MPO in order to generate both anti-MPO ANCA and splenocytes. The transfer of splenocytes caused a severe necrotizing crescentic glomerulonephritis associated with other features of a systemic vasculitis including pulmonary haemorrhage. The cells transferred included both T and B cells. To investigate the pathogenicity of anti-MPO antibodies alone, these were transferred alone into Recombination Activating Gene 2 knockout (RAG2^{-/-}) mice. This was sufficient to cause a necrotizing crescentic glomerulonephritis albeit milder than that caused by the splenocytes (82).

In spite of the above work, the potential mechanism of action of ANCA is still unclear. Some attention has been focused on the fact that the absolute level of ANCA in a single patient does not necessarily reflect disease activity but a rise or fall in the antibody titre is often far more relevant. Thus two patients with the same total ANCA titre can have different disease activity. One particular study has found a significant correlation between the percentage of IgG3 subclass of total IgG ANCA and disease activity. A higher percentage of IgG3 ANCA was correlated with increased disease activity and relapse (83). The authors suggested that

the IgG3 subclass of c-ANCA was mainly responsible for binding and activation of neutrophils through the FcyII receptors. This subclass of Ig binds to these receptors approximately three times faster than IgG1 antibodies and much faster than IgG2 and 4. The same authors had previously shown that blockade of the FcyII receptor had inhibited neutrophil activation induced by ANCA (84). An earlier study had found only IgG1 and IgG4 antibodies (85).

1.3.3.2.3 Evidence for involvement of T cells

Though much work has focused on ANCA, neutrophils and endothelial cells, there is much evidence to suggest that T cells play an important role in vasculitic diseases. As already stated, renal biopsies of patients show no evidence of immunoglobulin deposition but have dense cellular infiltrates with predominant T cells (86) and CD4:CD8 ratios of 5:1 (87).

Studies of cytokines have also suggested widespread T cell activation. Serum IL-2 receptor levels are elevated in patients with generalised disease and, in general, correlate with disease activity (88) (89). T cells from peripheral blood of patients suffering from Wegener's Granulomatosis have high levels of HLA DR expression and increased secretion of IFN γ and TNF α (90).

The search for a T cell antigen logically started with proteinase 3 as the most common target for anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies. An early paper taking PBMC from vasculitis patients failed to show any T or B cell response to neutrophil cytoplasmic antigens (91). Subsequent papers showed T cells reactive to PR3 and MPO present in patients and, in much lower levels, in normal controls (92) (93) (94). The levels appear to be unrelated to clinical course or ANCA titre. One further study found that T cells from patients with Wegener's were more likely to react to unfractionated neutrophil azurophilic granule contents than to purified PR3 and suggested that possibly T cells are reacting to other proteins from the granules as well as PR3 (95).

1.3.3.2.4 T cell receptor repertoires

Various attempts have been made to show oligoclonal expansions of T cells in patients with different forms of vasculitis. Simpson et al (96) found increased expression of V β 2.1 in the peripheral blood of vasculitis patients, mainly those with microscopic polyangiitis. They also suggested smaller expansions of V β 3, 9, 13, 14 and 15 in various combinations of polyangiitis, Wegener's granulomatosis and non-specific vasculitis. Further study of the V β 2.1 expansion showed no evidence of oligoclonality, in fact more oligoclones were found in controls than patients. They raised the possibility of involvement of a superantigen causing polyclonal activation of V β 2.1 bearing cells. An alternative explanation was that the increased level of V β 2.1 could reflect a genetic predisposition to vasculitis. Normal patients have previously been shown to have a bimodal distribution of V β 2.1 expression with the suggestion that low V β 2 expression may be protective against superantigen induced disease (97)

Giscombe et al (98) studied T cell receptor V gene usage in vasculitis using monoclonal antibodies against several V β and V α chains and found increased T cell expansions in patients over controls. No attempt was made to look at oligoclonality of these expansions. Over their whole population of patients the significant changes were a reduction in the expression of various V β chains on either CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ cells or both. The T cell expansions found were observed in longitudinal studies. Some were stable, some decreased in size, others increased. There was no correlation to disease activity.

More recently, Grunewald et al (99) have shown oligoclonal T cell expansions in the blood of vasculitis patients. They identified conserved β chain motifs in 4 unrelated vasculitis patients all carrying the HLA DRB*0401 allele. These expansions were V β 8 CD4⁺. This suggests strongly that T cells from these patients have encountered an identical antigen presented on the same HLA DR molecule stimulating V β 8 CD4⁺ cells with the same CDR3

Chapter 1.

motif.

All of the above studies have looked for changes in V β TCR repertoire in peripheral blood in these diseases. Though this may on the face of it be logical, the significant background signal from normal PBMC makes it highly unlikely that significant results would be found. There are so far no studies of TCR repertoires of cells infiltrating renal tissue.

1.4 Hypothesis

The work in this study is based on the hypothesis that pathogenic antigen specific T cells can be identified by their TCR expression within renal tissue in immune mediated glomerulonephritis. The design of novel TCR based immunotherapy will be able to interrupt these cells without the side effects associated with broad immunosuppression.
Chapter 2.

Chapter 2. Materials and Methods.

2.1 Ethics approval

Ethics approval was obtained from the joint Animal Ethics committee of the Royal Alexandra Hospital and the Children's Medical Research Institute, Westmead, Australia.

2.2 Induction of Heymann Nephritis

Extract of renal tubular antigen (Fx1A) was prepared as described previously (100). Seven week old inbred male Lewis rats were obtained from the Animal Resources Centre in Perth, Western Australia. One week after arrival, they were immunised subcutaneously into each of their hind footpads with 15 mg Fx1A emulsified with complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA) containing 1 mg mycobacterium tuberculosis HRa37 (Difco, Detroit, MI), 100 μ l incomplete Freund's adjuvant (IFA) and 100 μ l phosphate buffered saline (PBS). Booster injections of 7.5 mg Fx1A in IFA were given subcutaneously at two weeks. Control animals were immunised with the appropriate emulsion prepared without Fx1A.

Animals were killed at 4, 6, 8, and 10 weeks under halothane anaesthesia. Both kidneys were perfused with saline and removed. Samples were placed in OCT, liquid nitrogen and PBS.

2.3 Isolation of glomeruli

Glomeruli were isolated as previously described (101). Cortical slices were pressed through a 250 μ m stainless steel sieve. The filtrate was then washed through a 150-micron sieve with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) at 4 °C and the glomeruli collected on a 75 μ m sieve. They were rinsed in PBS. The tube was incubated at 4 °C for 10 minutes. The top 43 ml was removed and the tube filled with PBS again. After 30 seconds, the bottom 1 ml was removed by pipette. The tube was centrifuged at 150 x g for 7 minutes at 4 °C and the supernatant discarded. The resulting pellet was either resuspended in 2 ml PBS to be used for histology or counting or it was used for RNA extraction immediately. Microscopic examination confirmed purity of over 90% compared to non-glomerular fragments. Glomeruli were

processed for RNA extraction and immunoperoxidase staining.

2.4 Immunoperoxidase Staining

Isolated glomeruli were enzymatically permeabilised for immunoperoxidase staining by incubation at 37 °C with 100 μ l 0.1 mg/ml Collagenase D and 10 mg/ml Soybean Trypsin inhibitor in PBS for 25 minutes. The slides were washed in PBS for 20 minutes to remove calcium ions and the enzymes. Monoclonal antibodies were applied to the prepared slides followed by HRP labelled goat anti-mouse IgG (Pharmingen, San Diego, CA). The monoclonal antibodies used were R73 for the $\alpha\beta$ TCR, W3/25 for CD4⁺, OX-8 for CD8⁺ (Serotec, Oxford, UK) and OX-12 for IgG (Zymed Laboratories, CA). 50 μ l of each antibody diluted 1:80 were used for 30 minutes at 37 °C. The secondary antibody was diluted 1:50 and applied for 30 minutes at 37 °C. The slides were developed using 50 μ l diaminobenzidine solution consisting of: 3,3-Diaminobenzidine, Urea Hydrogen peroxide, Water 15 ml and 200 μ l 18% sodium nitrite (NaN₃). Each slide was passed through 3 baths 70% ethanol, 3 baths 100% ethanol, 2 baths xylol for 30 seconds in each bath.

2.5 Extraction of RNA and reverse transcription

Total RNA was extracted from isolated glomeruli using a modification of the method of Chomczynski and Saachi (102). Samples of glomeruli were dissociated in RNAzol B (Cinna/Biotec, Houston, TX.). RNA was extracted following the standard protocol. Tissue was dissociated in 1 ml RNAzol B, vortexed with 100 µl chloroform and placed on ice for 10 minutes. After centrifuging for 15 minutes at 12,000 rpm at 4 °C, the upper aqueous phase was carefully removed and pipetted into a separate tube. An equal volume of isopropanol (approximately 0.5 ml) was added, the sample vortexed and incubated overnight at -20 °C. Samples were then centrifuged at 12,000 rpm for 15 minutes at 4 °C and the supernatant removed. The RNA pellet was washed with 1 ml 75% ethanol, vortexed and centrifuged again. The supernatant was removed. The final product was then air dried, dissolved in

Chapter 2.

DEPC treated water and stored at -80 °C.

2.6 First strand cDNA synthesis.

First strand complementary DNA was synthesised using the M-MLV Reverse Transcription kit (Gibco BRL). Approximately one microgram of total RNA was heated at 70 °C for 5 minutes in a 10 µl reaction containing 100 ng of random hexamer primers then placed on ice. This was then added to a final 20 µl reaction containing first strand synthesis buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, 75 mM KCl, 3 mM MgCl₂), 10 mM dithiothreitol, 1 mM of each deoxynucleotide triphosphate (dNTPs), 10U human placental ribonuclease inhibitor and 200U Moloney Murine Leukaemia virus reverse transcriptase and was incubated at 37 °C for one hour. The enzyme was then inactivated by heating at 95 °C for 5 minutes and the cDNA stored at -20 °C.

2.7 Rat TCR Vβ Polymerase Chain Reaction

Primers for rat TCR V β genes were published previously (103) and are shown in Table 2.2 (p.36). Amplification of the house keeping gene GAPDH was used as a positive control for intact RNA and efficiency of RT.

Master mixes were made up with PCR buffer and other components and aliquoted to tubes. Aliquots contained 10 mM Tris-HCl, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 50 mM KCl, 0.2 mM dNTPs, 0.25 μM reverse antisense Cβ primer, 1.25U Taq DNA polymerase and water to produce a final volume of 25 μl. Control sample aliquots were removed first and cDNA added to the master solution and mixed thoroughly. After aliquoting to PCR tubes, Vβ primers were added to each reaction. PCR amplification was performed using a thermal cycler for a varying number of cycles (Perkin Elmer 9600). After 5 minutes denaturation at 94 °C, cycles consisted of 94 °C for 1 minute, 60 °C for 1 minute, and 72 °C for 1 minute. A final period of 10 minutes extension at 72 °C was proceeded by a 4 °C hold. Products were then analysed on a 2% agarose gel. Standard curves of product signal were generated at different PCR cycles numbers in triplicate and subsequent V β repertoires were run at appropriate cycles to ensure no overamplification of product. The specificity of PCR products was confirmed using QPCR and individual V β gene expression was expressed as a percentage of total TCR signal. For reactions requiring quantification with QPCR, the C β primer used was biotin labelled.

2.8 Human TCR V\beta PCR

Human TCR V β PCR was performed in a similar manner to the rat experiments. The primer and probes used are documented in Table 2.1 (p.35).

2.9 Detection of PCR products by QPCR System 5000

The specificity of each PCR product was verified by separate hybridisation with a tris (2,2bipyridine) ruthenium (II) chelate (TBR) labelled sequence-specific oligonucleotide probe directed at a segment internal to the amplified PCR segment as previously described (104) (105) (106). Two microlitres of each amplified product was denatured in a solution consisting of PCR product, 3 μ l water and 5 μ l 0.3 M NaOH / 60 mM EDTA buffer at room temperature for at least 5 minutes. After heating to 70 °C for 5 minutes in a thermal cycler, the temperature was held while 40 μ l TBR probe solution was added. This solution consisted of 5 μ l 10x PCR buffer, 1 μ l 10 μ M TBR labelled probe and 34 μ l water. After a 5 minute hold at 60 °C, the final volume was pipetted into a QPCR tube. Ten microlitres of streptavidin coated magnetic beads were added and the tubes were vortexed on the QPCR machine for 30 minutes.

The electrochemiluminescent signal of the hybridized probe was detected with a QPCR 5000 system (Perkin Elmer) according to manufacturer's recommendations. The relative luminosity of each V β family member was expressed as a percentage of the total luminosity in all of the V β regions for a given sample.

Chapter 2.

2.10 CDR3 Spectratyping of PCR products

2 μ l of PCR product from each V β family was used as cDNA for a second round of PCR. Reactions were as before with the replacement of the C β primer by a Fam labelled C β reverse primer internal to the original C β primer. This proceeded for six to ten cycles. 1 μ l of PCR product from this reaction was sent to University of New South Wales sequencing facility and run on a Perkin Elmer ABI Prism 373 Sequencer. The results were analysed using Genescan and Genotyper software.

CDR3 spectratyping is a well described method used as a measure of oligoclonality of T cells. PCR products are run on a high resolution sequencing gel along with size standards. The length of a particular product can be determined to one or two nucleotides. A normal splenic sample of a single V β family gives a Gaussian distribution of 6-11 peaks each separated by three nucleotides. Oligoclonal T cells give fewer peaks in a restricted distribution. Single clones give a single peak. This method can be used to efficiently screen PCR products for the possible presence of T cell clones of similar CDR3 size across different animals without the need to sequence all the different products. Sequencing is used later to confirm spectratyping results.

2.11 Cloning of PCR products

PCR products of interest were purified using a Lifetech Concert PCR purification kit (Life Technologies) or using ethanol or isopropanol precipitation. These were cloned into the p-Bluescript SK-T or pGEM-T vector (Promega). This was transformed into JM-109 or XL1 blue competent cells.

For ligation into the vector, 50 ng of PCR product was ligated to vector in a 20 μ l reaction consisting of 50 ng vector, 1 μ l T4 DNA ligase, 2 μ l 10 x T4 DNA ligase buffer and water. Competent cells were thawed in an ice bath for 5 to 10 minutes and gently mixed. Five μ l of ligation reaction was mixed with 50 μ l competent cells in a sterile microcentrifuge tube on

ice for 20 minutes. The cells were heat shocked at 42 °C for 60 seconds in a water bath and quenched on ice for a further 2 minutes. 950 μ l SOC medium (2.0 G Bacto-Tryptone, 0.5G Bacto-Yeast Extract, 1 ml 1M NaCl, 0.25 ml 1 M KCl, 1 ml 1M MgCl2:MgSO₄, 1 ml 2 M glucose and distilled water made up to 100 ml) were added to the transformation mixture. This was transferred to a 10 ml Falcon tube and incubated at 37 °C for 1 hour in a shaking incubator at approximately 150 rpm. The cells were pelleted by centrifugation at 1,000 x g for 30 seconds, 800 μ l discarded and the pellet resuspended in the final 200 μ l. The cultures were plated on ampicillin/X-gal/IPTG LB plates and incubated overnight at 37 °C.

Colonies were screened for PCR inserts. Individual white colonies were replated on Ampicillin plates and at the same time were added to a standard PCR mix using M13 forward and reverse primers. The PCR reaction ran for 30 cycles and was analysed on a 2% agarose gel. Clones with a PCR insert generated a PCR product in this reaction of just over 600 bp as opposed to those without which was approximately 200 bp.

PCR product of clones of interest was purified using ethanol or isopropanol precipitation. Two volumes of 100% ethanol were added to the PCR tubes, vortexed and stood at room temperature for at least 15 minutes. After centrifuging at 13,000 rpm for 15 minutes, the supernatant was discarded and 150 μ l 75% ethanol added to wash the pellet. The tubes were vortexed and centrifuged again for 5 minutes. The supernatant was again discarded and the pellets allowed to air dry.

Sequencing was performed using the dye-labelled dideoxy chain termination method with PE Biosystems ABI Prism 377 or 310 Sequencer. 5 ng PCR product was mixed with 2 μ l ABI Dye terminator Ready Reaction mix and an appropriate primer (either M13 forward or a specific V β primer) to 5 μ l and added to 5 μ l Ready Reaction buffer (ABI biosystems). The reaction underwent cycle sequencing using 96 °C for 10 seconds, 50 °C for 5 seconds and 60 °C for 4 minutes over 25 cycles. This was then purified using ethanol or isopropanol

precipitation as for PCR product above.

2.12 DNA vaccination

RNA was isolated from the HN kidney as described (107) and reverse transcribed into cDNA. cDNA was amplified by PCR with primers specific for either

Vβ5 (5'-AAGATGTCTGGGGTGGTCCAGTCT-3'),

Vβ7 (5'-AGCATGTACTGGTATCGACAAGACCCAGATC-3')

or Vβ13 (5'-AGAATGACTGGAGTCACCCAGTCCC-3)

and a reverse J β 2.6 primer (5'-CGTCATAAAACCGTGAGCTTGGTGC-3).

cDNA was also amplified with a V β 8.2 primer as described (108) and a C β primer to generate a control vaccine. All forward primers were designed to include an in-frame ATG. PCR products were cloned into the pTarget plasmid DNA (Promega, Madison. WI) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Plasmid DNA from colonies with an insert were sequenced to confirmed the insertion of the correct gene with the ATG in frame. Large-scale preparation of plasmid DNA was performed using the Mega prep kit (QIAGEN, Hilden Germany).

For DNA vaccination, animals were pretreated with 0.75% bupivacaine (1 μ l/g bodyweight; Sigma) by injection it into the tibialis anterior muscle 1wk before the first vaccination. This is known to enhance the efficiency of DNA vaccination. 300 μ g of DNA was injected into the same site three times at weekly intervals. Two weeks after the last vaccination, rats were challenged with Fx1A in CFA.

2.13 Autoantibody determination

Anti-Fx1A titres (total Ig) were determined by ELISA as described (24). Immulon 1 ELISA microtitre plates (Dynatech Laboratories) were coated overnight with 100 μ l coating buffer containing 10-50 μ g/ml solubilised Fx1A. The plates were washed twice with 0.05% Tween20 in PBS (PBST) and blocked with 2% BSA in PBS for 1 hour at room temperature

Chapter 2.

followed by two washes with PBST. 100 μ l of a dilution series of known strongly positive serum and 1 in 20 dilution of test sera were added to triplicate samples. A 1 in 20 dilution of normal Lewis rat serum was used as the negative control. These plates were incubated for 1 hour at 37 °C. After the plates were washed 3 times with PBST, 100 μ l of alkaline phosphatase conjugated goat anti-rat IgG (Zymed Laboratories, INC) or anti-rat IgG (Boehringer Mannheim) diluted 1:500 in PBS containing 2% BSA was added in each well and incubated for 1 hour at 37 °C. The plates were washed again 3 times with PBST and once with carbonate-bicarbonate buffer and 100 μ l p-nitrophenyl phosphate (Sigma, St Louis, MO) in carbonate buffer was added and allowed to stand for 15-30 minutes. Triplicate sample ODs were read at 405nm on an ELISA reader (Dynatech Laboratories).

2.14 Urinary protein estimation

Twenty-four hour urine samples were collected in metabolic cages at 4, 6, 8 and 12 weeks post-Fx1A/CFA inoculation. Urine protein concentrations were determined by colorimetric assay according to manufacturer's recommendations (Biorad, Oakland, CA, USA). A 5 point standard of rat serum albumin (RSA) was prepared of a representative range of protein concentration. Twenty microlitres of each standard and sample solutions were pipetted into 1 ml of diluted dye reagent in a 1.5 ml tube. After vortexing, samples were incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes and absorbance read at 595 nm. All experimental samples were run in duplicate.

2.15 Renal biopsies and PBMC samples

Renal biopsies were obtained from a bank of biopsy tissue at the Department of Nephrology, Leicester General Hospital, UK. At the time of the initiation of this piece of work, ethics permission was not required to utilise tissue stored after histological examination in research work. Arrangements are now in place to obtain consent for use of renal biopsies both prospectively and retrospectively. Diagnoses were either Goodpasture's disease or idiopathic

rapidly progressive glomerulonephritis. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were obtained by venesection of healthy volunteers followed by density gradient centrifugation. Serial dilutions of subsequent PBMC cDNA were performed for comparison with renal biopsy samples in order to control for dilution in the study of oligoclonality of the infiltrating T cells.

2.16 Real time PCR for CC\beta and GAPDH

Limited real time PCR has been used in experiments in Chapter 7. All other material relating to real time PCR is documented in Chapter 3.

Primers and probes to detect C β and GAPDH using real time PCR were designed. The C β oligonucleotides were designed using Primer Express Software (Applied Biosystems, CA). Primers and probes for detection of GAPDH had been designed by Dr. Alex Bishop of the Centenary Institute, Sydney for use in humans, mice and rats. The sequences are shown in Table 3.1 (p.44). For real time PCR, 1 µl of cDNA was added to a reaction mixture consisting of 10x PCR buffer, dNTPs 0.2 mM, Taq polymerase 0.03 U/ml, C β and V β primers 0.3 mM and fluorescent probe 0.05 mM. The real time experiments were performed over 40 cycles using an ABI 7700 sequence detection system (Applied Biosystems, CA). Analysis of threshold cycle was performed on the ABI 7700 software. Samples were run in triplicate. Results (mean and standard deviation) are expressed for each V β family as percentage of the total V β signal.

IMGT Name	Sequence		Product
2	ATGAAATCTC	AGAGAAGTCT	234-252
3	CACCTAAATC	TCCAGACAAAGCT	194-212
4	CCTGAATGCC	CCAACAGCTCTC	190-214
5	CTGATCAAAA	CGAGAGGACA GCA	354-375
6	CTCTCCTGTG	GGCARGTC	408-425
7	TCAGGTGTGA	TCCAATTTC	329-347
9	GCACAACAGT	TCCCTGACTTGCAC	195-207
10	GRCATGGGCT	GAGGCTGAT	267-290
11	GGCTCAAAGG	AGTAGACTCC	185-200
12	GGTGACAGAG	ATGGGACAAG A	355-373
13	GATCAAAGAA	AAGAGGGAAA C	358-370
14	AAAGAGTCTA	AACAGGATGAGTCC	241-256
15	TACCCAGTTT	GGAAAGC	353-368
16	CAGGTATGCC	CAAGGAAAGA	226-241
18	AGCCCAATGA	AAGGACACAGTCAT	325-337
19	TTTCAGAAAG	GAGATATAGCT	226-241
20	TCATCAACCA	TGCAAGCCTGACCT	195-207
24	AGTGTCTCTC	GACAGGCACAG	193-208
25	TGTTCTCAAA	CCATGGGCCATGAC	321-333
27	ACCCAAGATA	CCTCATCACAG	368-383
28	GTCTCTAGAG	AGAAGAAGGAGCGC	190-208
29	ACGATCCAGT	GTCAAGTCGAT	334-346
30	CTCTGAGGTG	CCCCAGAA	218-227

-

Table 2.1 Human BV primers used for standard PCR and approximate PCR product length.

•

Chapter 2.

.

TCR	Sequence
1	TCTAGTCATGGGAAGAGCAA
2	CCAAGGTGGCGTCTGGTACC
3	ACTCCACAGCATCTGCTCAG
4	${\tt CTGGTGGCAGGTCCAGTCGACCCTA}$
5	CTGGGGTGGTCCAGTCTCCAAG
6	GGACTTAGACTGATCTACTA
7	GACCCAGATCTGGGGGCTACGG
8.2	ACACATGGAAGCTGCAGTCAC
8.5	GTTCAACTGTCACCAGACTG
8.6	ATTGAGCTGTCGCCAGACTA
9	GTTATGCAGAACCCAAGATAC
10	TCTAAGCAATTGCTGAAGGT
11	ACAAATGCTGGTGTCATCCA
12	AGGGCCACAATGATCTTTTC
13	CCACTCCCCCAGATATGCAA
14	GACTATCCATCAATGGCCAG
15	GGAGCTCTCGTCCACCAATC
16	GACCCAGTTTCTAATCACCT
17	GTAACCCAGACTCCAAGATAC
18	CTGTGTTCAGTGTCTTCCTC
19	GAACAGAAAGCCAGAATGCA
20	AGGGCAGCAAGTAGAGATGA
СВ	TGTTTGTCTGCGATCTCTGC
CB probe	AGGTCTCCTTGTTTGAGCCA
C-CR for	ACCATGTGGAGCTGAGCTG
C-CB rev	CACTACCAGCGTACTGACAAGC
C-CB probe	ACAATCCTCGCAACCACTTC

.

Table 2.2 Sequences for the rat V β TCR primers and probes used in QPCR semi quantification.

.

Chapter 3. T cell receptor BV repertoires using real time PCR: a comparison of SYBR green and a dual-labelled HuTrec[™] fluorescent probe.

3.1 Introduction

The real time quantification of PCR product has revolutionised both quantitative and semiquantitative PCR. Other more complex and time-consuming methods of quantification, such as manual construction of standard curves, southern blotting and QPCR (section 2.9, p.29) have been rendered obsolete. The method is generally performed in two hours or less and therefore dramatically reduces the time taken for these experiments which previously have taken several days. Two main systems exist for real time quantification: SYBR Green and fluorogenic probes. SYBR Green is a dsDNA-binding fluorescent green dye which binds to all dsDNA in a PCR reaction. Fluorogenic probes are fluorescent-labelled specific oligonucleotides added to a reaction. These probes either fluoresce on binding their specific target (single-labelled hybridisation probes) or when degraded by Taq Polymerase on amplification of the target (dual-labelled Taqman-style probes). The use of these procedures is now very well established in many areas of research and clinical practice where specific measurement of RNA is required, for example, cytokine measurements and viral load (109) (110).

We have studied TCR BV repertoires in glomerulonephritis for a number of years using the conventional form of the polymerase chain reaction (111) (112). Semiquantitation has been achieved using standard curves generated with multiple samples run at different PCR cycles. These samples have been quantified using QPCR, a process taking approximately two days to perform.

On moving to real time PCR, I have assessed the two available systems, SYBR Green and a HuTrec[™] fluorogenic probe. PCR applied to low signal samples such as renal biopsies has been shown to produce non-specific product in many reactions. In the light of this, I wished to test whether the non-specific dye, SYBR Green, would be effective in these

measurements. The current literature on the real time assessment of TCR BV repertoires has mainly reported on the use of SYBR Green (113) (114) (115). The data presented are only a measure of fluorescence without visual confirmation by agarose gel of the PCR product. In the event that there is non-specific PCR product in the reactions, these results would probably be inaccurate. One group have published an elegant paper on the use of a duallabelled fluorogenic probe for the assessment of TCR BV repertoires (116) but all of their assays were carried out on high signal samples in the form of PBMC or sorted T cells.

The study of renal biopsies and other small tissue samples with low levels of T cell infiltrate has presented particular problems in semiquantitative PCR. Very small quantities of RNA are often retrieved from these samples making the generation of valid standard curves difficult if not impossible and quantitation unreliable. Real time PCR offers the opportunity to obtain far more accurate information on alterations in the BV repertoires in diseased tissue specimens because of the minimal RNA quantities needed to establish a specific repertoire. I have studied both SYBR Green and HuTrec[™] fluorogenic probes in the assessment of BV repertoires in sequential dilutions of PBMC and in a low TCR signal cDNA to mimic the study of renal biopsies.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1. Generation of cDNA

Normal human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) were obtained using density gradient centrifugation with Ficoll Paque[™] PLUS (Pharmacia Biotech) from a single donor. Blood diluted in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) was layered onto Ficoll Paque[™] and centrifuged at 300xg for 30 min. PBMCs were removed and RNA extracted immediately. RNA extraction was performed using a modification of the method of Chomczynski and Saachi (117). PBMC were dissociated in RNAzol B (Cinna/Biotec, Houston, TX.). RNA was then extracted following the standard protocol. The final product was air dried, dissolved in

DEPC-treated water and stored at -80 °C. First strand complementary DNA was synthesised using the M-MLV Reverse Transcription kit (Gibco BRL). One microgram of RNA and random hexamer primer was used to prime the reaction.

cDNA with no TCR signal was prepared from a 293 cell line in culture. RNA extraction and reverse transcription were performed as above.

Multiple dilutions of PBMC cDNA in sterile water were then prepared at 1/10, 1/100, 1/1000 and 1/10000. These were designated PBMC 10, 100, 1000 and PBMC 10000. A single dilution of PBMC in 293 cell cDNA was prepared mixing 1 volume of 1/100 PBMC with 4 volumes of 293 cell cDNA and was denoted PBMC 500.

3.2.2. Design of real time PCR primers and probes

Primers and probes were designed for human glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH), BC and individual BV genes. GAPDH primers and probe have been designed to work on human, mouse and rat genes. BC forward and reverse primers were designed to cross an intron to exclude the amplification of DNA. BV genes are amplified using a forward BV and a second reverse BC primer. Primer and probe design was performed using Primer Express software version 1.5 (Applied Biosystems, CA)

TCR nomenclature is consistent with the International Immunogenetics database (2) (<u>http://imgt.cines.fr:8104/</u>). A list of primers and probes used in this paper are provided in Table 3.1 (p.44).

3.2.3. Real Time PCR

All experiments were performed in triplicate on an ABI 7700 Sequence Detection System. Reagent concentrations were tested independently for both assay systems. Titrations of primer, probe and magnesium concentrations were performed. Final reaction conditions involved the amplification of 1-2 μ l of cDNA in a 25 μ l reaction consisting of 2.5 μ l 10x PCR buffer containing 1.5 mM magnesium chloride (Roche), 2 μ l 2.5 mM dNTPs (final concentration 0.2 mM), 1.5 μ l 5mM BC primer (final concentration 0.3 mM), 5 μ l 1.5mM BV primer (final concentration 0.3 mM), 0.125 μ l 5 U/ml Taq DNA Polymerase (Roche) and either 0.25 μ l 5 mM dual labelled fluorescent probe (final concentration 0.05 mM) or 6.25 μ l 0.1 X SYBR Green (final concentration 0.025 X). Reactions were made up to final volume with sterile water. Samples were all run in triplicate. PCR products were run on a 2% agarose gel to determine the presence of non-specific products.

3.2.4. Statistical Methods

Intrasample variation was assessed using the standard deviation of triplicate samples for the fluorogenic BC probe and SYBR green. Intersample reliability was assessed by comparison of matched repertoires using the Pearson correlation coefficient.

3.3 Results

3.3.1. HuTrec[™] fluorogenic probes and SYBR green both show low intrasample variability.

Standard deviations measured on all BV families showed low intrasample variability for both methods. The fluorogenic probe showed errors ranging from 0.02 to 1.53% whilst SYBR green ranged from 0.01 to 3.31%. Standard deviations were calculated on a high signal sample (PBMC 10).

3.3.2. SYBR green and HuTrec[™] fluorogenic probes give consistent results in

GAPDH and BC assays on serial dilutions of peripheral blood mononuclear cells.

Serial dilutions of PBMCs were assayed for GAPDH and BC genes using both a specific BC dual labelled probe and SYBR Green. Both SYBR Green and the specific probe produced consistent results though the non-specific dye gave lower threshold cycles (Ct) showing earlier detection of product. Table 3.2 (p.45) shows threshold cycles for both SYBR green and specific probe. The difference between Ct of the two genes was constant over serial

Chapter 3.

dilutions of PBMC in water. Both assays therefore gave consistent results.

3.3.3. TCR BV repertoires measured with a HuTrec[™] fluorescent probe.

BV repertoires were performed on each of the dilutions of PBMC used above except PBMC 10000. In order to mimic renal biopsy material, PBMC 100 was diluted 1/5 with cDNA with no TCR signal. This cDNA was prepared from 293 cell culture material and the final mixture was denoted PBMC 500.

Assays using the specific BC probe gave consistent repertoires across all dilutions of PBMC including PBMC 500. These results are shown in Figure 3.1 (p.46). Each series showed very similar results for each BV family. The exceptions were BV5 and BV9 but the differences involved were of the order of 1.5% and are therefore small.

Figure 3.2A (p.47) shows the same results plotted to show the degree of correlation between the results for PBMC 10 and the more dilute samples. A high correlation would be expected if the method were consistent regardless of signal strength and contaminating DNA. The fluorogenic probe showed a correlation of greater than 0.9 over two log dilutions. Additionally, this tight correlation was seen in samples containing contaminating non-TCR cDNA, the conditions that exist with T cell infiltration into tissues.

The results demonstrate that the use of a specific probe for real time PCR gives consistent results across at least 1000 fold dilutions of PBMC and that the level of contaminating non T cell cDNA is unimportant, making this procedure appropriate for the examination of small samples of tissue.

3.3.4. TCR repertoires measured with SYBR Green.

Figure 3.1B (p.46) shows the results from the repertoire experiments performed using SYBR green. Results of high signal, low dilutions of PBMC gave very similar results to the specific probe. However at lower signals, the repertoires showed major alterations. TCR BV families 4, 5, 6, 7-3, 10, 15, 16, 18, 20, 24, 27, 28 and 29 exhibited differences in either or

both the PBMC 1000 and 500 results. Figure 3.2B (p.47) illustrates the loss of correlation between repertoires of either increasingly dilute samples or samples containing contaminating cDNA. The Pearson correlation coefficient was as low as 0.79 with lower dilutions but was further reduced to 0.65 with contaminating cDNA.

3.3.5. Assessment of the cause of SYBR green error with small samples.

The reason for the loss of correlation with increasing dilution or contamination was likely to be due to either variations in primer efficiency or contamination with non-specific product. It is apparent on examination of the agarose gel results shown in Figure 3.3 (p.48) that contamination with non-specific PCR product was a major problem with the SYBR green system. PBMC 1000 and 500 showed increasing quantities of non-specific PCR product which was measured by the SYBR Green in the reaction. Thus as the T cell receptor signal decreased and was diluted by the presence of significant amounts of non-T cell cDNA, the accuracy of the SYBR green measurements reduced dramatically.

3.3.6. Comparing the TCR repertoires produced using the fluorogenic probe and SYBR green.

Repertoires measured with the two different assay systems are compared in Figure 3.4 (p.49). PBMC 10 exhibited similar repertoires in both systems. There were small differences that might be expected since SYBR green is known to affect the efficiency of some PCR reactions. Of note, the BV families which has the highest percentage expression under the HuTrecTM probe system appeared to be overrepresented in the SYBR green system. To some extent the converse applies in that BV families with a lower percentage expression under the fluorogenic probe had an even lower signal in the SYBR green system. When repertoires from PBMC 500 were compared, however, there were large differences. Since all these samples consisted of the same T cell receptor cDNA, they should all produce identical repertoires in an assay system. The matching results at higher concentrations of cDNA from

matched peripheral blood mononuclear cells suggests that at this concentration the SYBR green can adequately assess the repertoire. The loss of correlation at lower concentrations with non-TCR contaminating cDNA again demonstrated the loss of specificity of the SYBR green.

3.3.7. Assessment of the non-specific binding of SYBR green causing elevated results by real time PCR

During the work up of the SYBR green reactions, the non-specific nature of the dye was found to cause several inappropriate results. Figure 3.5 (p.50) shows the real time results and agarose gel of an experiment conducted to titrate the levels of SYBR green used. Three identical samples were run with a no template control. The agarose gel shows that specific product was only produced by two samples in lanes 1 and 3. These samples appear to give the same results on the real time analysis. Lane 2 gave the lowest Ct on the real time curves, while lanes 1, 3 and the non-template control (NTC) all rose together. These results show that non-specific PCR product is produced with the same kinetics as specific product and cannot be assessed simply on the basis of real time results. A separate method is required in the form of either a melting point analysis or some form of gel electrophoresis. Melting point analysis involves the collection of fluorescence data while the temperature of the PCR reaction is gradually raised from annealing temperature to melt all DNA products and enable identification of tubes with non-specific products contaminating the reaction.

Melting point analysis would be helpful here in the case of the NTC but lane 3 could not be quantified adequately because there was both specific and non-specific product present on the gel. Other researchers have investigated the use of data collection at higher temperatures above the non-specific product melting point but results proved disappointing especially at low target signals (118).

Gene Name	Oligonucleotide Sequence
BV2	GAAATCTCAGAGAAGTCTGAAATATTCG
BV3	CCTAAATCTCCAGACAAAGCTCACT
BV4	CCTGAATGCCCCCAACAGC
BV5	ACCTGATCAAAACGAGAGGACAG
BV6	CTCTCCTGTGGGCAGGTCC
BV7-2	GTTTTTAATTTACTTCCAAGGCAACA
BV7-3	CAAGGCACGGGTGCG
BV7-6	ACTTACTTCAATTATGAAGCCCAACA
BV7-7	GAGTCATGCAACCCTTTATTGGTAT
BV7-8	AGGGGCCAGAGTTTCTGACTTAT
BV7-9	CTCAACTAGAAAAATCAAGGCTGCT
BV9	AACAGTTCCCTGACTTGCACTCT
BV10	TTCTTCTATGTGGCCCTTTGTCT
BV11	GGCTCAAAGGAGTAGACTCCACTCT
BV12	GGTGACAGAGATGGGACAAGAAGT
BV13	CATCTGATCAAAGAAAAGAGGGAAAC
BV14	AGAGTCTAAACAGGATGAGTCCGGTAT
BV15	CCAGGTTACCCAGTTTGGAAAG
BV16	AAACAGGTATGCCCAAGGAAAGA
BV18	CAGCCCAATGAAAGGACACAGT
BV19	GGGCAAGGGCTGAGATTGAT
BV20	AACCATGCAAGCCTGACCTT
BV23	TGTACCCCCGAAAAAGGACATAC
BV24	CAGTGTCTCTCGACAGGCACA
BV25	CTCAAACCATGGGCCATGA
BV27	CCAGAACCCAAGATACCTCATCAC
BV28	GGCTACGGCTGATCTATTTCTCA
BV29	GACGATCCAGTGTCAAGTCGATAG
BV30	CTGAGGTGCCCCAGAATCTCT
BC for BV	CTGCTTCTGATGGCTCAAACA
BC for BV probe	6-FAM CACCCGAGGTCGCT MGB NFQ
BC forward	TCCAGTTCTACGGGCTCTCG
BC reverse	AGGATGGTGGCAGACAGGAC
BC probe	6-FAM ACGAGTGGACCCAGGATAGGGCCAA NFQ
GAPDH for	TGCACCACCAACTGCTTAGC
GAPDH rev	GGAAGGCCATGCCAGTGA
GAPDH probe	VIC CCTGGCCAAGGTCATCCATGACAACTT TAMRA

Table 3.1 Primer and Probe sequences for TCR BV repertoire, BC and GAPDH assays. Abbreviations: MGB Minor Groove Binding Protein. NFQ Non Fluorescent Quencher.

	Сβ		GAPDH		Cβ GAPDH difference
	Ct	SD	Ct	SD	
PBMC 10	24.53	0.07	24.63	0.13	-0.1
PBMC 100	27.66	0.15	27.74	0.1	-0.09
PBMC 1000	31.73	0.24	31.4	0.2	0.33
PBMC 10000	35.1	0.56	34.67	0.22	0.43
<u>B. SYBR Green</u>	IR Green		CAL	опи	
	Ľ	,h	UAI	DI	difference
	Ct	SD	Ct	SD	
PBMC 10	17.1	0.14	15.81	0.17	1.29
PBMC 100	19.84	0.32	18.47	0.28	1.37
PBMC 1000	23.15	0.28	21.86	0.32	1.29
PBMC 10000	25.96	0.22	24.55	0.29	1.41

A. Specific C β Probe

Table 3.2 Real time PCR results for GAPDH and BC genes in serial dilutions of PBMC cDNA measured using fluorogenic probes (A) or SYBR green (B). As sample dilution increases, threshold cycle of detection increases linearly for both detection systems. The difference between GAPDH and BC threshold cycle (last column) remains close to constant for both SYBR green and the fluorogenic probe. This suggests that both systems perform well for these two relatively high signal genes.



Figure 3.1 Real time PCR results on serial dilutions of PBMC cDNA using a single BC primer and 29 BV primers and with A. HuTrec[™] fluorogenic BC probe or B. SYBR green fluorescent reporter dye. PBMC 500 was a 500 fold dilution of PBMC cDNA with non-T cell cDNA, used to mimic a tissue sample with a low TCR signal. PBMC cDNA was otherwise diluted with water.

The HuTrec[™] specific BC probe gave consistent results across all cDNA dilutions and also performed well for the PBMC 500 sample. SYBR green gave much greater variability when used for more dilute samples and showed highly inconsistent results in a heterogeneous cDNA (PBMC 500).





B. SYBR Green



Figure 3.2 Real time PCR results on serial dilutions of PBMC cDNA using a single BC primer and 29 BV primers and with HuTrecTM fluorogenic BC probe or SYBR green fluorescent reporter dye. Results for PBMC cDNA dilutions 100, 1000 and 500 are plotted against the corresponding result for PBMC 10 for each BV family. The resulting line gives a correlation coefficient comparing two BV repertoires from different dilutions of cDNA in a single fluorescence reporting system. A correlation coefficient close to 1.0 suggests the reporting system gives accurate results across different cDNA dilutions. The fluorogenic probe gave high correlation coefficients across all samples. SYBR green showed a gradual decrease in the correlation coefficient with decreasing cDNA concentration and in the presence of high levels of non-T cell cDNA. This suggests SYBR green gives much less accurate results in these samples.

A. PBMC 100





C. PBMC 1000



Figure 3.3 Agarose gel electrophoresis of PCR product from experiments in Figure 3.2.A. PBMC 100 BV repertoire gel shows clear bands with minimal non-specific product.B. PBMC 500 cDNA is a low TCR signal cDNA with large amounts of non T cell cDNA to mimic a renal biopsy or other small tissue sample. The repertoire gel shows large amounts of non-specific product which will be detected by the SG present in the reaction and reported as specific product by the detection system.

C. PBMC 1000 is low signal but has no contaminating non T cell DNA. The gel shows more non-specific product that PBMC 100 but less than PBMC 500.



Figure 3.4 Real time PCR results comparing a fluorogenic probe and SYBR green in the measurement of TCR BV repertoires for two dilutions of PBMC cDNA using a single BC primer and 29 BV primers.

A. High signal cDNA. Repertoires generated by specific and non-specific probes are very similar when high signal sample PBMC 10 is studied. There are some moderate differences between individual families that may be accounted for by subtle changes in primer efficiencies under the influence of either the specific probe or SYBR green.

B. Low signal cDNA contaminated with non-T cell cDNA. Low signal samples give very different repertoires when studied with different assay systems. SYBR Green gives a significantly different result under these conditions when compared with the highly consistent result from the HuTrecTM fluorogenic probe. Significant differences between the repertoires are now present in multiple BV families e.g. BV 2, 3, 4, 7-3, 7-8, 10, 12, 16, 18, 28. I have shown previously that the fluorogenic probe results are consistent across samples. Therefore the changes in the repertoire as measured by SG are erroneous.



Figure 3.5 Three samples of PBMC cDNA and a single no template control were amplified using two BC primers and SYBR green in a real time PCR reaction. The four lanes on the agarose gel electrophoresis show several different PCR outcomes with SG. Three identical cDNA samples were run with BC primers and SG. Lane 4 is a no template control. Lanes 1, 3 and 4 give very similar results when assessed on the basis of their real time curves. The agarose gel shows that each consists of a different combination of specific and non-specific products. Lane 2 consisting entirely of non-specific product gives the lowest threshold cycle number. In a real time reaction, this would suggest the presence of a large amount of specific product unless further analysis was performed on the final PCR product to validate the result. It is not possible to adequately distinguish between specific and non-specific product using SG without further analysis or post-PCR manipulation.

3.4 Discussion

TCR BV repertoire studies are usually a prelude to the attempted identification of T cell clones infiltrating a tissue during a disease process. After repertoire definition, further studies utilising methods such as CDR3 spectratyping or SSCP (single stranded conformational polymorphism) analysis and DNA sequencing need to be used to identify potentially pathogenic T cell clones. This study has addressed only the first part of this type of investigation. Knowledge of the BV repertoire is an important step which can be used to some extent to quantify the subsequently identified T cell clones.

I have presented evidence to show that the use of SYBR green in the assessment of the BV repertoires of small tissue samples by real time PCR is unlikely to be accurate. The use of repertoire analysis is frequently used to compare peripheral blood TCR BV repertoires with those of tissue derived T cells. The results outlined suggest that the loss of correlation seen with decreasing quantities of TCR BV cDNA or in the presence of contaminating cDNA render these comparisons meaningless. In contrast, the use of a specific fluorogenic oligonucleotide probe for BC is a sensitive and reproducible method. This method involves an estimate of the relative percentage of each BV family rather than an attempt at absolute quantification. There are several reasons for this. Firstly the use of a standard curve to quantify each BV family would increase by several magnitudes the time taken to obtain an estimate of the BV repertoire. Secondly, the use of absolute quantification does not provide any further information. This method maximises the yield of small samples of RNA while minimising the work required. Repertoire work is based on the detection of a change between a diseased and a reference tissue thus absolute rather than relative quantity is of no advantage.

These results show that the use of a dual-labelled fluorogenic probe gives consistent BV repertoires in up to 1000 fold dilutions of PBMC. Mixing PBMC with non-T cell cDNA

Chapter 3.

produces a sample more akin to tissue sample biopsies. The specific probe performed well with this sample giving a nearly identical BV repertoire. SYBR green was shown to perform well at high target signals. It demonstrated an almost matching TCR repertoire to the specific probe when high concentrations of TCR cDNA were present. However when conditions similar to those associated with real tissue samples were used, SYBR green became much less accurate. At a PBMC dilution of 1:1000 SYBR green showed significant errors compared with the fluorogenic probe and when testing a sample with large amounts of non-TCR cDNA mixed with PBMC cDNA, SYBR green gave very poor results.

Previous comparisons of SYBR Green and fluorogenic probes have been conducted by various groups. Hein et al (119) tested both assay systems in a study of the levels of *Staphylococcus Aureus* in cheese. Both the Roche LightCycler and the ABI Prism 7700 SDS were used and results showed a 10 fold reduction in sensitivity using SYBR Green. Taqman chemistry was also found superior to SYBR green by Terry and colleagues in a study to detect levels of genetically modified soya (120). Other groups have either found both assay systems to be equivalent (121) or SYBR green to be more sensitive (122).

These data were generated using peripheral blood cells and pure cell lines not tissue samples. However the errors found with SYBR green analysis are likely to be magnified in tissue specimens where there may be ongoing cell death, artefacts related to homogenisation, variability of T cell number and variability in the non T cell RNA. I would therefore expect that the difficulties found due to non-specific product with SYBR green and low copy numbers is likely to be an even greater problem in tissue samples and that SYBR green is unlikely to be an appropriate tool to examine small tissue samples for TCR repertoire.

Attempts have been made to overcome the quantitation problems with SYBR green but to my knowledge it has not been possible to overcome the difficulty in resolution of specific from non-specific product that low signal samples pose. Yin et al (123) used a method

involving measurement of the melting temperature of non-specific product followed by data collection above that point during the PCR reaction. Though this resulted in some improvement in outcome, it failed to entirely rectify the problem.

In order to produce a reliable estimate of changes in a T cell receptor repertoire, I would suggest the following:

- Use of a dual labelled fluorogenic specific oligonucleotide probe or other specific probe system.
- As an indirect measure of the level of T cell infiltrate in the diseased tissue for comparison with normal tissue, assess the TCR signal level in the sample using real time assays for BC and a housekeeping gene such as GAPDH.
- Samples should be analysed in pairs including the diseased tissue and a control such as PBMC and, for comparison of level of T cell infiltrate, a normal sample of the relevant tissue. These pairs should be diluted to have a similar level of BC in real time assays so that their BV repertoires will be unaffected by any minor differences in primer efficiencies.

I suggest that SYBR Green is an inappropriate method for the real time PCR assessment of TCR BV repertoires in small tissue samples. Any use of SYBR green should be accompanied by a method to detect the presence of non-specific product, either by melting point analysis or agarose gel electrophoresis. Dual labelled fluorogenic probes give consistent results at variable concentrations of T cells and are therefore a more useful and appropriate method.

Chapter 4. Glomerular T cells in Heymann nephritis

4.1 Introduction

Active Heymann nephritis (HN) is a rat model of human membranous nephropathy associated with immune deposits in glomeruli and infiltration of the glomeruli and interstitium by mononuclear cells (20). The autoantigens thought to be involved in HN are expressed in the glomeruli and have been extensively characterised (124) (125). The appearance of T cells in the glomeruli at 8 weeks, coincident with the development of proteinuria, implies a role for glomerular T cells in the pathogenesis of this disease model (26).

Further evidence for the part played by T cells in HN derives from blocking experiments. Treatment with monoclonal antibodies to CD4 prior to immunisation has been shown to completely prevent proteinuria in this model (24) whereas the use of anti-CD8 antibodies abrogates proteinuria. However the monoclonal antibodies will interfere with T cell function in the glomeruli, the interstitium and the periphery, so the observation does not provide unequivocal evidence that glomerular T cells in HN recognise and proliferate in response to specific autoantigens.

We have previously described the T cell receptor (TCR) repertoire in the renal interstitium of HN rats (28). The aims of this study were to characterise T cells infiltrating the glomeruli in HN in Lewis rats by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) of their V β chains, CDR3 spectratyping and sequencing.

4.2 Materials and methods

More details on these methods are provided in Chapter 2.

4.2.1. Induction of Heymann Nephritis

Heymann nephritis was induced by standard methods as previously documented in detail in Section 2.2 (p.26)

4.2.2. Isolation of glomeruli

Glomeruli were isolated as previously described (101) and as documented in Section 2.3 (p.26).

4.2.3. Immunoperoxidase Staining

Isolated glomeruli were enzymatically permeabilised for immunoperoxidase staining as described in detail in Section 2.2 (p.27).

4.2.4. Extraction of RNA and reverse transcription

Total RNA was extracted from isolated glomeruli using a modification of the method of Chomczynski and Saachi (102). Samples of glomeruli were dissociated in RNAzol B (Cinna/Biotec, Houston, TX.). RNA was then extracted following the standard protocol as detailed in Section 2.5 (p.27). The final product was then air dried, dissolved in DEPC treated water and stored at -80 °C. First strand complementary DNA was synthesised using the M-MLV Reverse Transcription kit (Gibco BRL). One microgram of RNA and random hexamer primer was used to prime the reaction.

Primers for rat TCR V β genes were published previously (103) and are documented in table 2.2 (p.36). Amplification of the housekeeping gene GAPDH was used as a positive control for intact RNA and efficiency of RT. PCR amplification was performed using a thermal cycler (Perkin Elmer 9600) as detailed in Section 2.7 (p.28). Products were then analysed on a 2% agarose gel. Standard curves of product signal were generated at different PCR cycles numbers in triplicate and subsequent V β repertoires were run at appropriate cycles to ensure no over-amplification of product. The specificity of PCR products was confirmed using QPCR and individual V β gene expression was expressed as a percentage of total TCR signal.

4.2.5. Detection of PCR products by QPCR System 5000

The specificity of each PCR product was verified by separate hybridisation with a tris (2,2-

bipyridine) ruthenium (II) chelate (TBR) labelled sequence-specific oligonucleotide probe directed at a segment internal to the amplified PCR segment as previously described (104) (105) (106). The electrochemiluminescent signal of the hybridized probe was detected with a QPCR 5000 system (Perkin Elmer) according to manufacturer's recommendations. The relative luminosity of each V β family member was expressed as a percentage of the total luminosity in all of the V β regions for a given sample.

4.2.6. CDR3 Spectratyping of PCR products

2 μ l of PCR product from each V β family was then used as cDNA for a second round of PCR. Primers were as before with the addition a Fam labelled C β reverse primer internal to the initial C β biotin primer. This proceeded for six to ten cycles. 1 μ l of PCR product from this reaction was sent to University of New South Wales sequencing facility and run on a Perkin Elmer ABI Prism 373 Sequencer. The results were analysed using Genescan and Genotyper software.

4.2.7. Cloning and sequencing of PCR products

PCR products of interest were cloned into a T vector and sequenced as detailed in Section 2.11 (p.30). Sequencing was performed by Sydney University Prince Alfred Macromolecular Analysis Centre using the dye-labelled dideoxy chain determination method with PE Biosystems ABI Prism 377 Sequencer.

4.3 Results

4.3.1. Development of Heymann Nephritis

All of the rats immunised with Fx1A developed active HN. Proteinuria developed at eight weeks and increased to 10 weeks in test animals. Control animals did not develop proteinuria. Test animals developed typical changes of active HN with deposition of IgG along glomerular capillary loops and mononuclear cell infiltration of the renal interstitium.

Approximately 30 000 glomeruli were obtained from each animal with a purity of over 90 %. Staining with anti-CD4 and anti-CD8 antibodies revealed the presence of T cells within the glomeruli as shown in Figure 4.1 (p.60).

4.3.2. No Vβ TCR family was significantly overexpressed

Various individual animals displayed over-representation of single V β families but no single TCR family was overexpressed in multiple animals at any stage of the disease. Figure 4.2 (p.61) shows the relative expression of TCR V β families at 4 weeks and reveals an apparently polyclonal T cell infiltrate.

4.3.3. Multiple restricted CDR3 spectratypes present in each animal

Spectratyping of glomerular PCR products showed widespread restriction of the normal Gaussian distribution of CDR3 sizes. Across the twenty different V β families of the rat, there was an average of 11 abnormal peaks, each within a restricted spectratype. An example of the spectratype results from a single animal are shown in Figure 4.3 (p.62).

4.3.4. Several VB TCR families have identical spectratypes in different animals

Identical size CDR3 spectratypes were found in several different animals for eight V β families. In V β 5, eight animals showed an abnormal peak in their CDR3 spectratype measuring 382/3 base pairs. Other common spectratypes were present in fewer animals (7 animals for V β 7, 6 for V β 8, 13, 14, 19 and 20, 5 for V β 6). The spectratypes of interest from V β 5, 7, 8 and 13, as the most commonly occurring families, were then sequenced. The spectratypes for V β 5 are shown in Figure 4.4 (p.63) and the corresponding sequences of the correct length in Figure 4.5 (p.64).

4.3.5. Small public response

A small public response was demonstrated in that sequences from three animals were identical. The sequence V β 5-LAGDG-J β 1.3 was present as strong clone (8 of 14) in animal

91. In two other animals, the identical sequence was present but in lower numbers (1 of 9). These sequences are shown in bold in Figure 4.5 (p.64).

4.3.6. Clones of interest in V β 5, 7 and 13 had identical CDR3 size

Sequencing the PCR products of interest demonstrated oligoclonal expansion of T cells which reflected the restriction in CDR3 length suggested by the spectratyping results; the more peaks present in the spectratype, the broader the distribution of CDR3 lengths found on sequencing.

In TCR families V β 5, 7 and 13, the sequences with CDR3 lengths in common across multiple animals were nine amino acids in length. CDR3 lengths are expressed as the number of amino acids from the final serine of the V β to the first phenylalanine of the J β (exclusive). These sequences, their clonality and J β are shown in Figure 4.6 (p.65).

4.3.7. Overexpression of J β 2.6 in glomerular clones

Figure 4.6 (p.65) shows that many of the HN clones expressed J β 2.6. A comparison with normal J β 2.6 expression in Lewis rat spleen is shown in Figure 4.7 (p.66). There was a striking overexpression of J β 2.6 in HN glomerular T cell clones.

Reasoning that these clones may all be responding to the same antigen, we examined their CDR3 sequences in more detail using a profile technique first used by Candeias et al (126). Amino acid residues are grouped together according to their properties as A, acidic (aspartate, glutamate), B, Basic (lysine, arginine, histidine), H, Hydrophobic (leucine, isoleucine phenylalanine, methionine, valine, alanine), L, Polar (glutamine, asparagine, threonine, serine), G glycine, P proline, W tryptophan, and Y tyrosine. Each position in the CDR3 sequences from the J β 2.6 clones was classified and a profile generated. This profile was compared with that generated by analysis of splenic sequences of the same size. The result is shown in Figure 4.8 (p.67). The profile of the J β 2.6 clones is markedly altered

when compared with spleen. Positions 1, 2, 4 and 6 are more restricted in the HN clones and this difference was significant on χ^2 analysis (p<0.05)

Chapter 4.



Figure 4.1 Immunoperoxidase staining using monoclonal anti CD4⁺ antibody followed by an HRP labelled goat anti-mouse IgG antibody. HN glomerulus (right) shows a heavy infiltrate of cells. Control glomerulus shown on the left. Magnification x 400.

Chapter 4.



Figure 4.2 Expression of V β TCR genes at 4 weeks after induction of HN shows no significant difference with expression in Lewis rat spleen (n=6).


Figure 4.3 CDR3 spectratypes from a single animal with HN compared with those of a single control animal and spleen. The HN glomeruli showed marked restriction of multiple V β families. Control glomeruli also showed some restriction in their spectratypes but to a lesser degree than found in HN



Figure 4.4 V β 5 spectratypes from six different HN rats show a common restricted size peak at 382/3 base pairs with little or no other signal present.

8/8	CASSLAGDGNVLYFGEGSRLLVV			
1/9	CASSLAGDGNVLYFGEGSRLLVV			
8/9	CASSLSGGDYEQYFGPGTKLTVL			
1/6	CASSLAGDGNVLYFGEGSRLLVV			
5/6	CASSHRERQNTLFFGAGTRLSVL			
e le				
0/0	CASSPGIGDQAQIFGEGIRLSVL			
9/9	CASSLDLFSYEQYFGPGTKLTVL			
2/2	CASSLGTDSYEQYFGPGTKLTVL			
212	CASSLDBGNTEVFFGKGTBLTVV			
Splenic sequences				
1/5	CASSLPTGDEQYFGPGTKLTVL			
1/5	CASSQQGRETQYFGPGTRLLVL			
1/5	CASSQPGQTEVFFGKGTRLTVV			

1/5CASSLGSNTEVFFGKGTRLTVV1/5CASSLTPIGYDYTFGPGTRLLVI

Figure 4.5 V β 5 sequences from seven individual HN animals compared with splenic sequences. The public response is in bold. The nucleotide sequences relating to the public response were all identical.

V beta J beta Frequency Sequence 5 2.6 8/9 97.05.01 CASSLSGGD---YEQYFGPGTKLTVL 7 100.07.06 CASSLGGLS---YEQYFGPGTKLTVL 2.6 7/7 5 2.6 9/9 106.05.02 CASSLDLFS---YEQYFGPGTKLTVL 7 2.6 6/6 107.07.01 CASNAGQVS---YEQYFGPGTKLTVL 7 CASSFWGSS---YEQYFGPGTKLTVL 2.6 8/8 114.07.08 7 112.07.04 2.6 3/8 CASSTGGAS---YEQYFGPGTKLTVL 116.13.13 13 2.6 4/6 CASSLAGGA---YEQYFGPGTKLTVL CASSLGTDS---YEQYFGPGTKLTVL 113.05.17 5 2.6 2/11 3/20 13 2.5 83.13.06 CASSLELVQ---ETQYFGPGTRLLVL 2.4 5/9 113.13.03 CASRAGLAE---NTLFFGAGTRLSVL 13 5 2.4 5/9 87.05.44 CASSHRERQ---NTLFFGAGTRLSVL 13 2.3 4/9 113.13.04 CASSLQQGV---DKIYFGSGTRLTVL 13 2.3 4/18 89.13.04 CASSLRDMT---DKIYFGSGTRLTVL 2/20 83.13.33 13 2.3 CASSLAQVT---DKIYFGSRTRLTVL $\texttt{CASRTGTGT}{---}\texttt{GQLYFGEGSKLTVL}$ 4/9 109.07.05 7 2.2 13 3/6 101.13.05 CASSLPDRG---AEQFFGSGTRLTVL 2.1 7 1.6 9/9 99.07.01 CASSGYDYN---SPLYFAAGTRLTVT 5 1.5 6/7 105.05.15 CASSPGTGD---QAQYFGEGTRLSVL 13 1.5 3/20 89.13.24 CASSQTGEV---QAQYFGEGTRLSVL 13 1.3 6/14 115.13.02 CASSLDRSG---NVLYFGEGSRLLVV 91.05.04 5 1.3 8/13 CASSLAGDG---NVLYFGEGSRLLVV 2/8 88.05.15 CASSLDRGN---TEVFFGKGTRLTVV 5 1.1

Figure 4.6 Sequences from T cell clones isolated from HN glomeruli. Clones bearing J β 2.6 are in bold.



Figure 4.7 J β repertoire of HN clones (\blacksquare) showing a striking over-expression of J β 2.6 when compared to splenic sequences (\Box).



Figure 4.8 Profiles of six CDR3 positions in HN clones compared with the same positions in splenic sequences of the same length. Amino acids are grouped according to their properties. Positions 1, 2, 4 and 6 of the CDR3 profile of the HN clones show clear restriction when compared with splenic sequences of the same length (P < 0.05).

4.4 Discussion

Glomerular T cells are shown here to be present during the development of HN as reported previously (26). PCR shows a broad representation of V β TCR families with no specific family overrepresented. Subsequent CDR3 spectratyping demonstrated the presence of multiple oligoclones many of which shared identical CDR3 sizes across different animals. Sequencing of a subset of these clones found multiple clones with the same size CDR3 in several V β families expressing J β 2.6. HN clones strikingly overexpressed J β 2.6 when compared to spleen. A small public response was demonstrated in 3 animals.

Further examination of the sequences of the $J\beta$ 2.6 HN clones showed a restricted CDR3 profile compared to splenic sequences of the same size. This suggests that this population of T cells may be stimulated by a small set of peptide:MHC complexes.

These data suggest that T cells responding to antigens in the glomerulus are involved in the pathogenesis of HN. The autoantigens described for HN include the large cell surface glycoprotein receptor, megalin and a smaller receptor associated protein (RAP). Megalin is a multiligand-binding endocytic receptor expressed in clathrin coated pits at the surface of several epithelia including the proximal tubule and the glomerulus. This antigen contains multiple epitopes linked to the development of HN (124). We have demonstrated that T cells in HN rats recognise specific peptidic antigens in the RAP (104).

Our data demonstrate that multiple V β genes are involved in the pathogenesis of HN. There could be a number of reasons for this. First, the induction of HN involves reaction to a number of proteins each of which may contain several T cell epitopes. Each epitope may also stimulate more than one V β gene. Previous studies of HN have measured involvement of a particular V β gene by its overexpression in semi-quantitative PCR (28) (104). CDR3 spectratyping was a method reserved for only those genes found to be significantly stronger on PCR than others. This study takes a different approach looking at all V β genes regardless

of level of PCR signal and finds good evidence of oligoclonality in T cells that would previously have been passed over. This suggests that the immune reaction in HN is more complex than previously thought with multiple V β genes involved in clonal expansion. The presence of multiple epitopes makes the situation difficult to interpret and the likelihood of epitope spreading during the course of the disease further compounds the analysis. However, the breadth of the T cell repertoire at 4 weeks suggests that this picture is due less to epitope spreading than to the extensive network of T cell responses to the main Heymann antigens. Studies of other diseases such as experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (the mouse model of multiple sclerosis) have shown overexpression of a particular V β gene which has subsequently been shown to contain pathogenic T cell clones (127). However this has been difficult to demonstrate in human diseases. More often than not, several V β genes are found to be over expressed in a disease within a single individual and different genes are expressed in different patients. This has been shown to be the case for rheumatoid arthritis (128), psoriasis (129), Crohn's disease (130), pulmonary sarcoidosis (131), giant cell arteritis (132) and others. A study in giant cell arteritis even found differing V β expression in discrete inflammatory lesions in a single patient. If the V β gene is not always a critical point of contact with the peptide MHC complex then the same immune reaction could be generated with different VB genes on the same genetic background or even within the same individual. Thus, in a model, identical animals have the potential to produce diverse V β repertoires from a single antigen.

The nature of the peptide autoantigen being presented may dictate whether single or multiple V β genes are expressed in clonally expanded T cells. Recent work on crystal structures of MHC peptide TCR complexes (133) shows V α to be an anchor to the MHC helices, J β to occupy the V α /V β interface and V β to bind both to the MHC and to the peptide via its CDR3 region. Studies of the human TCR/Tax peptide/HLA A2 complex, however, showed that the

CDR3 β pushes the TCR away from the MHC resulting in fewer TCR V β chain contacts with the MHC helices. This suggests that the important parts of the β chain are the J β , at the V α /V β interface, and the CDR3 region since the rest of the molecule appears to have little contact with the stimulating complex. It is therefore entirely possible to generate the same immune response using different V β genes but the same J β and similar CDR3 regions. In our model, we have demonstrated a subset of glomerular T cells which share similar CDR3 properties, use J β 2.6 and express different V β genes. We speculate that they are all responding to the same antigen.

4.5 Conclusion

These data show that glomerular T cells using J β 2.6 and a restricted set of CDR3 sequences in the context of at least two (but probably more) V β genes are involved in the pathogenesis of HN in the Lewis rat. We intend to use these observations to create new TCR-specific interventions to modify the course of this disease.

Chapter 5. DNA Vaccination Against Specific Pathogenic T Cell Receptors Reduces Proteinuria In Active Heymann Nephritis by Inducing Specific Autoantibodies

5.1 Statement

This project proceeded directly from my work on glomerular T cells in HN in the preceding chapter. At the time of its inception, my supervisor judged it to be unlikely that I would be able to remain in Australia long enough to complete the experiment. His judgement was later shown to be correct. Overall responsibility was therefore given to my immediate laboratory superior, Dr Huiling Wu. The majority of the work included in this chapter was performed by Dr Wu. My contribution includes preparation of DNA vaccine, generation of the disease model including injection of Fx1A into rats, injection of DNA vaccine, collection of urine using metabolic cages, sacrifice of animals, perfusion of kidneys, isolation of glomeruli, preparation of glomerular slides for subsequent histological staining. I did not perform the analyses contained within this chapter. These were all performed by Dr Wu. This work clearly validates and extends the observations made in chapter 4 of this thesis. The identification of glomerular T cells in HN does not of itself prove pathogenicity of those cells. This chapter utilises the data generated on infiltrating T cells and demonstrates that interruption of these cells alters the subsequent course of the disease, providing clear evidence of the pathogenicity of these cells and supporting the validity of the data presented in chapter 4. It is therefore presented here as part of my thesis.

5.2 Introduction

Human membranous glomerulonephritis is a major cause of end-stage renal disease in the adult population. Active Heymann nephritis (HN) is a model of membranous nephropathy (20) (23) induced in the Lewis rat by immunization with a crude renal tubular antigen (RAT/Fx1A) (100). It is associated with immune deposits in glomeruli, and infiltration of both glomeruli and interstitium by mononuclear cells. The pathogenesis of HN is thought to be through the binding of anti-Fx1A autoantibodies to the autoantigen (Gp330 or Megalin)

Chapter 5.

expressed on glomerular epithelial cells, resulting in severe glomerular injury and proteinuria (134). However, studies on the role of T cells in the aetiology of HN have shown that blocking CD4⁺ cells by using anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody prior to immunization totally prevents proteinuria, glomerular Ig deposition and mononuclear cell infiltrates in the kidney in this model (24). More recently studies have shown that the appearance of activated T cells, principally Th1 and cytotoxic effector T cells, and macrophages within the glomeruli at 8 weeks, is coincident with the development of proteinuria (26). This results implies a role for glomerular infiltrating T cells in the pathogenesis of HN. Furthermore, permanent depletion of these CD8⁺ T cells abolishes proteinuria and reduces glomerular infiltrates (135). These findings suggest that T cells and more specifically cytotoxic T cells may mediate glomerular injury.

T cell receptor (TCR) CDR3 spectratyping is a powerful tool for identifying autoimmune disease inducing T cells whose mechanism of action is poorly understood . We have demonstrated (chapter 4, p.54) clonal overexpansion of T cells using T cell receptors (TCR) encoding V β 5, V β 7 and V β 13 in combination with J β 2.6 (107) within glomeruli in this HN model . This was done using TCR spectratyping analysis and subsequent CDR3 region sequencing of spectratype-derived T cell clones. These overexpressed clones potentially represent pathogenic T cells. Vaccination with DNA encoding the V β region of an autoreactive TCR has been shown to provide an effective means to prevent autoimmune diseases such as EAE by generating suppressor T cells (136). This study tested the effect of DNA vaccination targeting three specific TCR V β chains in HN. We sought to confirm the pathogenic nature of the subset of T cells bearing this restricted T cell receptor repertoire and investigate the therapeutic use of DNA vaccination in HN. The results of these studies are outlined below.

5.3 Materials and Methods

Further details on these methods are documented in Chapter 2.

5.3.1. Experimental animals and induction of active Heymann Nephritis

The disease model was created as described in chapters 2 (p.26) and 4 (p.54).

5.3.2. DNA vaccination

RNA was isolated from the HN kidney as described (107) and reverse transcribed into

cDNA. cDNA was amplified by PCR with primers specific for either

Vβ 5 (5'-AAGATGTCTGGGGTGGTCCAGTCT-3'),

Vβ7 (5'-AGCATGTACTGGTATCGACAAGACCCAGATC-3')

or Vβ 13 (5'-AGAATGACTGGAGTCACCCAGTCCC-3)

and a reverse J β 2.6 primer (5'-CGTCATAAAACCGTGAGCTTGGTGC-3).

cDNA was also amplified with a V β 8.2 primer as described (108) and a C β primer to generate a control vaccine. All forward primers were designed to include an in-frame ATG. PCR products were cloned into the pTarget plasmid DNA (Promega, Madison. WI) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Further details are documented in Section 2.12 (p.32).

5.3.3. Autoantibody determination

Anti-Fx1A antibody titres (total Ig) were determined by ELISA as described (24). Triplicate sample ODs were read at 405nm, corrected for a control sample of known strongly positive serum OD. IgG subclass were assessed by the same method using alkaline phosphatase-conjugated mouse monoclonal antibody to rat IgG1 and IgG2a (BD PharMingen, San Diego, CA USA).

5.3.4. Urinary protein estimation

Twenty-four hour urine samples were collected in metabolic cages at 4, 6, 8 and 12 weeks

post-Fx1A/CFA inoculation. Urine protein concentrations were determined by colorimetric assay (Biorad, Oakland, CA, USA). This is documented in more detail in Section 2.14 (p.33).

5.3.5. Immunoperoxidase staining

Glomeruli were isolated as previously described (107). Isolated glomeruli were enzymatically permeabilized for immunoperoxidase staining by incubation at 37 °C with a solution of 0.1mg/ml Collagenase D and 10mg/mg trypsin inhibitor in PBS. The sides were then washed in PBS for 15 min and stained with monoclonal Abs, followed by HRP-labelled goat anti-mouse IgG (BD PharMingen, San Diego, CA USA). The monoclonal antibodies used were W3/25 for CD4⁺, OX-8 for CD8⁺ and ED-1 for macrophages (Serotec, Oxford, UK).

5.3.6. RT-PCR for TCR V\beta repertoire

RNA was extracted from isolated glomeruli as described (107) and reverse transcribed to cDNA (104). Oligonucleotide primers used for the rat TCR V β 1-20 were those described (103) and documented in Table 2.2 (p.36). The PCR profile consisted of denaturation at 95°C for 1 min, annealing at 60 °C for 1 min and extension at 72 °C for 1 min for 40 cycles in a DNA thermal cycler (Perkin Elmer). Aliquots (1 µl) of the PCR products were re-amplified for 6 cycles with a nested 5'-Fam-labelled C β primer.

5.3.7. CDR3 spectratyping

Each labelled PCR product was loaded on POP4 sequencing gels together with size standard (GENESCAN-500 ROX) on an Applied Biosystems 310 DNA sequencer. Data were processed using the Genescan Analysis 2.1 Software (Applied Biosystems) which records the fluorescence intensity in each peak.

5.3.8. Semiquantitative RT-PCR for cytokine genes

Semiquantitative RT-PCR for cytokine genes was performed as previously described (104). Briefly, oligonucleotide primers used for rat cytokine genes IFN γ and IL10 were those described (137) (138) (26). GAPDH primers served as the internal control. The PCR profile used was one minute each at 95 °C, 55 °C and 72 °C for 30 cycles for GAPDH, 35 or 40 cycles for IFN- γ and 40 cycles for IL-10 . RT-PCR fragments of cytokine genes were electrophoresed on a 2% agarose gel. Signal was quantitated using Molecular Analyst software (Biorad, Hercules, CA).

5.3.9. Flow cytometry analysis and cell sorting

Mononuclear cells extracted from blood were stained with goat anti-rat IgG antibody conjugated with FITC (Zymed, San Francisco, CA) and anti-rat CD3 monoclonal antibody (clone G4.18) conjugated with PE (PharMingen San Diego, CA) or with anti-rat IgG conjugated with PE and anti-rat CD8 α (clone OX 8) or anti-rat CD4 (clone OX35) conjugated with FITC (PharMingen San Diego, CA). All samples were analysed on a FACScan analyser (Becton Dickinson, Mountain View, CA). IgG⁺CD3⁺ cells were sorted using a FACStar (Becton Dickinson, Mountain View, CA).

5.3.10. Statistical analysis

Urine protein estimations, anti-Fx1A antibody levels for each group were expressed as mean \pm SD. Comparison between groups were made by ANOVA. Paired T tests were used to determine whether changes in the levels of cytokine gene expression were significantly different.

5.4 Results

5.4.1. DNA vaccination protects against HN

Rats were divided into four groups: group 1(DV): DNA vaccination with TCR V β 5, 7, & 13

in HN; group 2 (DV control): DNA vaccination with TCR V β 8 used as a control vaccine in HN; group 3 (HN): HN; group 4 (CFA): immunization with CFA only as a HN control. DNA vaccination encoding TCR V β 5, 7 and 13 significantly reduced proteinuria at 6, 8, 10 and 12 weeks post Fx1A immunization (Figure 5.1 p.79) compared with HN and DV controls. There was no significant difference in proteinuria between the HN and DV control groups. Control rats immunized with only CFA never developed proteinuria.

Examination of isolated glomeruli from HN rats at 12 weeks demonstrated significant infiltrates of macrophages (ED1), CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ cells in the glomeruli as compared with CFA control rats (Figure 5.2 p.80). Macrophage and CD8⁺ infiltrates in glomeruli in the DV group were significantly less than in the HN and DV control groups (p < 0.005).

5.4.2. DNA vaccination reduces IFN-y mRNA expression in HN glomeruli

To test whether DNA vaccination alters T cell function in the glomeruli, we examined cytokine profiles in isolated glomeruli at 12 weeks post-Fx1A/CFA immunization by semiquantitative RT-PCR. The results demonstrated lower mRNA expression for IFN- γ (p<0.01) in the DV group when compared with HN and DV controls (Figure 5.3 p.81) with levels not different from CFA controls.

5.4.3. DNA vaccination reduces the clonality of the T cell response in HN glomeruli

CDR3 spectratyping is a well described method used as a measure of oligoclonality of T cells. A normal splenic sample of a single V β family gives a Gaussian distribution of 6-11 peaks each separated by three nucleotides. Oligoclonal T cells give fewer peaks in a restricted distribution. Single clones give a single peak. Our previous study demonstrated oligoclonal expansion of T cells in HN glomeruli (107) using CDR3 spectratyping and subsequent sequencing of the CDR3 regions of spectratype-derived T cell clones. To test whether DNA vaccination would change the pattern of TCR CDR3 spectratypes in

glomeruli, we examined CDR3 spectratypes of TCR V β 5, 7 and 13 in glomeruli in DNA vaccinated rats. HN glomeruli showed marked restriction with a single peak in CDR3 spectratypes of V β 5, 7 and 13 as we previously reported (107). The glomeruli isolated from DNA vaccinated rats showed diverse CDR3 lengths with more peaks in their CDR3 spectratypes (Figure 5.4 p.81) which matched the CFA control glomeruli. This result indicates that DNA vaccination may reduce the expansion of pathogenic T cell clones in the glomeruli.

5.4.4. DNA vaccination has no significant effect on anti-Fx1A antibodies

There was no difference in the level of serum anti-Fx1A antibodies or in the levels of IgG1 in DV, HN and DV control groups, however, IgG2a was suppressed by DNA vaccination early in the course of HN (Figure 5.5 p.82).

5.4.5. DNA vaccination induces specific autoantibodies

We analysed the mechanism underlying the protection induced by DNA vaccination. To test whether DNA vaccination with TCR V β 5, 7, and 13 would delete T cells expressing V β 5, 7 and 13 by producing autoantibodies, we analysed the TCR V β repertoire by RT-PCR in DNA vaccinated rats. We found that DNA vaccinated rats still expressed TCR V β 5, 7 and 13 in both peripheral blood and isolated glomeruli. We then asked whether DNA vaccination produces autoantibodies that bind the TCR. We sought to identify these T cells to see if they were deleted or functionally impaired. We stained mononuclear cells from DNA vaccinated and unvaccinated rats with PE conjugated anti-CD3 antibody and FITC-conjugated anti-IgG . A small population of CD3⁺IgG⁺ cells were found in DNA vaccination rats but not in unvaccinated HN rats (Figure 5.6 p.83). We also found that those CD3⁺IgG⁺ cells were CD8 cells by staining mononuclear cells from DNA vaccinated rats with FITCconjugated anti-CD8 antibody and PE-conjugated anti-rat IgG (Figure 5.7 p.83). Furthermore, on analysis of their TCR V β repertoire, sorted CD3⁺IgG⁺ cells almost exclusively expressed TCR V β 5 and V β 13, two of the three V β families encoded in the DNA vaccination (Figure 5.8 p.84). Analysis of cytokine mRNA expression in the CD3⁺/IgG⁺ cells showed that IL-10 and IFN- γ mRNA were not detected (Figure 5.9 p.84). These results suggest that TCR DNA vaccination produced specific autoantibodies which bound to the TCRs encoded by the DNA vaccination, resulting in activation blockade of these T cells.



Figure 5.1 DV encoding TCR V β 5, 7 and 13 with J β 2.6 significantly reduced proteinuria at 6, 8, 10 and 12 weeks post immunisation compared with the control group (p < 0.001). HN: Heymann nephritis without DNA vaccination. DV: HN with DV with three TCR V β s. CFA: CFA alone controls without Fx1A. DVctrl: HN with DV with V β 8 as control group for DV. All results were expressed as mean <u>+</u> SD. N = 6 per group.



Figure 5.2 Immunoperoxidase staining of isolated whole glomeruli 12 weeks post immunisation with Fx1A/CFA. A. DV reduced macrophage and CD8⁺ T cell infiltrates in glomeruli at 12 weeks (p < 0.005). All results were expressed as mean \pm SEM of cells per glomerulus. N = 6 per group. B. A representative immunoperoxidase staining of isolated whole glomeruli from different treatment groups. No change in deposition of Ig was seen in glomeruli in HN compared with DV and DV control groups.

Chapter 5.



Figure 5.3 Semiquantitative RT-PCR analysis of cytokine expression in glomeruli from 12 week post immunisation with Fx1A/CFA. GAPDH gene served as an internal control. All results are expressed as mean ration of cytokine gene densitometry score to GAPDH densitometry score \pm SD. n = 6 per group. IFN- γ expression was decreased in DV rats as compared with HN rats (p < 0.01).



Figure 5.4 CDR3 spectratypes from a representative animal from DV group compared with those from HN, CFA groups and spleen. The HN glomeruli showed marked restriction of three TCR V β s. DV glomeruli showed diverse CDR3 lengths with more peaks in the CDR3 spectratypes similar to CFA control glomeruli.



Figure 5.5 Comparison of Ig responses in four groups. N = 6 per group. Anti-Fx1A antibody levels expressed as percentage binding of known positive serum (anti-Fx1A titre 1:250) measured by ELISA and expressed as mean \pm SD. There was no difference in the level of serum anti-Fx1A antibodies or in the levels of IgG1 in DV, HN and DV control groups. However, IgG2a was suppressed by DNA vaccination early in the course of HN (p < 0.05).

Chapter 5.



Figure 5.6 Identification of IgG⁺CD3⁺ cells in peripheral lymphocytes in DNA vaccinated rats by FACS. Freshly isolated lymphocytes from HN rats without DV (HN), with pathogenic TCR DV (DV) and with control TCR DV (DVctrl) were stained with anti rat Ig (FITC) and anti rat CD3 (PE). The number in brackets represents the percentage of IgG⁺CD3⁺ cells among total CD3⁺ T cells. n = 3 per group. One representative experiment is shown.



Figure 5.7 Identification of $IgG^+ CD8^+ T$ cells in peripheral lymphocytes in DNA vaccinated rats by FACS. Freshly isolated lymphocytes from HN rats (HN) and DNA vaccinated rats (DV) were stained with anti rat IgG (PE) and anti rat CD8 (FITC) or anti rat CD4 (FITC). n = 3 per group. One representative experiment is shown.



Figure 5.8 TCR repertoire analysis of sorted IgG^+CD3^+ T cells from peripheral lymphocytes of three rats vaccinated with DNA encoding TCR V β 5, 7 and 13. These $CD3^+/IgG^+$ T cells expressed V β 5 and 13 in contrast to the diverse TCR gene usage of the $CD3^+$ in the lower panel.



Figure 5.9 Expression of cytokine mRNA by sorted IgG^+ CD3⁺ T cells from peripheral lymphocytes in rats vaccinated with V β 5, 7 and 13 by semiquantitative RT-PCR. IFN- γ and IL-10 were not detected in the sorted cells. The GAPDH gene served as an internal control. Lanes 1-3 represent PCR products from sorted IgG^+ CD3⁺ T cells from vaccinated rats (n = 3). Lanes 4 and 5 represent PCR products from ConA stimulated T cells and Th2 cell lines we described previously, which served as positive controls for cytokine genes. Lane 6 represents a negative control for RT-PCR.

Chapter 5.

5.5 Discussion

In antigen driven organ-specific autoimmune diseases, it is possible define a restriction in the TCR used by pathogenic T cells. This restriction is seen in diseases such as experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). In EAE, encephalitogenic T cell lines and clones used mainly a restricted TCR V β 8.2 gene (139) (140). HN is induced in Lewis rats by immunization with a renal tubular antigen (RAT/Fx1A) or megalin (gp330). Recent studies suggest that CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells play a key role in causing glomerular injury in HN (135). We have identified HN-inducing TCRs by direct analysis of glomerular infiltrating T cells and have demonstrated that T cells within glomeruli in HN use T cell receptors (TCR) encoding V β 5, 7 and 13 in combination with J β 2.6 (107). In this study, immunotherapy using TCR-based DNA vaccines against these three V β families significantly reduced the severity of disease in HN, strongly suggesting that T cells bearing TCR V β 5, 7 and 13 are pathogenic and mediate glomerular injury. These findings support the evidence of clonality previously seen as reflecting expansion of pathogenic T cells.

In HN, previous studies by Penny et al demonstrated that the onset of proteinuria is associated with glomerular infiltration of CD8⁺ Tc1 cells and macrophages (26). Furthermore, permanent depletion of these CD8⁺ T cells prevents the onset of proteinuria, suggesting that Tc1 cytotoxic cells may mediate glomerular injury (135). In this study, DNA vaccination reduced the glomerular infiltrates of CD8⁺ cells and macrophages, but accumulation of glomerular CD4⁺ cells was similar to HN controls. IFN- γ mRNA expression was significantly reduced in glomeruli of DNA vaccinated rats compared with HN rats, consistent with reduced infiltrates of CD8⁺ T cells and suggesting that the major source of IFN- γ in HN is CD8⁺ cells. Furthermore, CDR3 spectratype patterns in glomeruli with DNA vaccinated rats were similar to those seen in CFA controls, compared with an oligoclonal restricted TCR repertoire in HN glomeruli. Oligoclonally expanded

TCRs represent the presence of activated pathogenic T cells in target organs in many studies (108). Taken together, these results suggest that DNA vaccination suppressed the cytotoxic CD8 response, which is necessary for induction of proteinuria in this model (135).

We have demonstrated that TCR DNA vaccination produced specific antibodies to the TCRs which it encoded. These specific antibodies did not lead to the depletion of V β 5, 7 and 13 T cells. These results are consistent with the observations made in the EAE disease model (136) and a transplantation model (141) (142). In the EAE model, encephalitogenic T cell lines and clones mainly used a restricted TCR gene V_β 8.2 (139) (140). Vaccination with DNA encoding the V β 8.2 region of an auto-reactive TCR protected mice from EAE (136). This protection was attributed to a shift from a Th1 to Th2 cytokine profile in the V β 8.2 target cells rather than due to their depletion. However, suppressive effects were obtained from other studies with no signs of a Th2 bias (108), suggesting that Th2 deviation is not essential for the protective effect of DNA vaccination. We have examined the cytokine profile in HN glomeruli. DNA vaccination reduced glomerular IFN-y mRNA expression but did not elevate levels of Th2 cytokine mRNA. We also analysed the cytokine profile of CD3⁺IgG⁺ cells from DNA vaccinated rats. CD3⁺IgG⁺ cells which were CD8⁺ T cells, had little IFN- γ and IL10 mRNA expression. It is interesting to note that CD8⁺ T cells were significantly decreased in number in the glomeruli of the DNA vaccinated rats. We speculate that autoantibodies produced following DNA vaccination bind specific TCRs and block the activation of these T cells. Our results suggest that this specifically targeted pathogenic subset of the T cell population either did not infiltrate the glomeruli or failed to expand and were unable to express pathogenic cytokines. This would appear to demonstrate the specific suppressive effects of DNA vaccination. The interaction of the TCR with antigen in the context of MHC has been greatly advanced by the recent crystallographic evidence of TCR structure and mutational analysis of TCR activation. It is possible that antibodies binding to

the V β chain can directly limit the normal activation of these T cells preventing clonal expansion and cytokine production (143).

In conclusion, we have shown that immunotherapy with TCR-based DNA vaccination protects against HN. This is based on a previous identification of pathogenic V β TCRs by TCR CDR3 spectratyping analysis and subsequent CDR3 region sequencing of spectratypederived T cell clones. The mechanism for this appears to be the induction of V β specific antibodies. DNA vaccination targeting the T cell receptors of pathogenic T cells is an attractive therapeutic alternative (107) to broad immunosuppression in the treatment of glomerulonephritis. Chapter 6. Glomerular T cells are of restricted clonality and express multiple CDR3 motifs across different $V\beta$ T cell receptor families in experimental autoimmune glomerulonephritis

6.1 Statement

This work is a collaboration between myself and the Renal Section of the Division of Medicine at Imperial College School of Medicine, Hammersmith Hospital, London, led by Professor Charles Pusey. The disease model was generated, the glomeruli separated and mRNA extracted in London. After first strand cDNA synthesis, the samples were shipped to me and analysis of glomerular T cells was then performed by me. Histology and other analyses of the model were all performed in London.

6.2 Introduction

Goodpasture's disease is an autoimmune disorder associated with severe crescentic glomerulonephritis and lung haemorrhage (144). The pathogenicity of the associated antiglomerular basement membrane (GBM) antibodies is suggested by clinical studies and has been demonstrated using passive transfer experiments (65). The antigenic target of these autoantibodies has been identified as the α 3 chain of type IV collagen (α 3(IV)NC1), an important structural component of the GBM (145) (37) and B cell epitopes have been defined (146). T cells have been implicated in studies demonstrating that patients possess autoreactive T cells responding to α 3(IV)NC1 (64) (71) and that the frequency of such T cells is high in active disease and falls in remission (147). As expected in a T cell dependent disease, MHC class II genes are important in susceptibility, with up to 80% of patients inheriting an HLA-DR2 haplotype (72). Further studies have suggested a hierarchy of association of DRB1 alleles, some inducing protection, others susceptibility (148). Treatment involves the removal of circulating antibodies by plasma exchange, combined with immunosuppression, usually with prednisolone and cyclophosphamide (149). Though effective if started sufficiently early, treatment induces side effects in a significant proportion of patients. The development of more specific treatments depends upon increased understanding and characterisation of the pathogenic T lymphocytes which drive this disorder.

Experimental autoimmune glomerulonephritis (EAG) is a model of human Goodpasture's disease generated in susceptible strains of rat by a single injection of collagenase digested GBM in Freund's complete adjuvant (FCA) (29) (30) (31). It is characterised in the WKY rat by sustained anti-GBM antibody production, linear deposition of antibody on the GBM, severe focal necrotising glomerulonephritis with crescent formation and variable lung haemorrhage (150). T cell involvement in this model has been demonstrated by a reduction in severity of the disease with the use of Cyclosporin A (32), anti-CD4 (33) or anti-CD8 (34) monoclonal antibodies and T cell costimulatory blockade (151)(152). Furthermore the effectiveness of oral tolerance was associated with a decrease in Th1 responses *in vivo* and splenic T cell proliferative responses to GBM *in vitro* (153). Recent studies in a rat model of EAG induced by α 3(IV)NC1 that disease can be transferred using autoreactive T cells (36) and more recently that a T cell epitope from the N-terminus of rat α 3(IV)NC1 is capable of inducing severe crescentic nephritis (154). Studies of a mouse model of EAG have provided further evidence that T cells, in conjunction with specific MHC class II alleles, are necessary for the development of disease (41) (155).

The aim of this study was to characterise the T cells infiltrating the glomeruli of the WKY rat during the development of EAG, using PCR for the variable regions of the TCR β -chain, CDR3 spectratyping and DNA sequencing. a results demonstrate restricted clonality of glomerular T cells in EAG, suggesting that antigen-specific T cells are directly involved in pathogenesis of this disease.

6.3 Materials and Methods

6.3.1. Experimental animals

Male WKY rats, aged 8-12 weeks and weighing 120-150 g were purchased from Charles River UK Ltd. (Margate, United Kingdom). All animals were housed in standard conditions and had free access to normal laboratory diet and water. All experimental procedures were conducted in accordance with the UK Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act.

6.3.2. Induction of EAG

Antigenic material was prepared from normal rat kidneys as previously described (30) (31) (150). EAG was induced in WKY rats by a single i.m. injection of collagenase-solubilised rat GBM at a dose of 5 mg/kg body weight in an equal volume of FCA (Sigma-Aldrich Company Limited) (41). Control rats received an i.m. injection of emulsion containing an equal volume of saline in FCA. Serial blood samples were taken by tail artery puncture under light anaesthesia with isofluorane, and 24 h urine specimens obtained by placing animals in metabolic cages.

6.3.3. Assessment of EAG

6.3.3.1. ELISA

Circulating anti-GBM antibodies measured in sera from animals with EAG by a solid-phase enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), as previously described (30) (31) (150). Briefly, collagenase-digested rat GBM (10µg/ml) was coated on to microtitre plates (Life Technologies, Paisley, UK) by overnight incubation at 4 °C, and an optimum dilution of test or control sera was applied for 1 h at 37 °C. Bound anti-GBM antibody was detected by alkaline phosphatase conjugated sheep anti-rat IgG (Sigma-Aldrich Company Ltd), and developed using the substrate p-nitrophenyl phosphate (NPP, Sigma-Aldrich Company Ltd). The absorbencies for each well were read at 405 nm using an Anthos Multiskan ELISA plate reader (Lab Tech International, Uckfield, UK), and the results initially calculated as mean optical density for each triplicate sample. In order to compare different experimental groups, results were finally expressed as a percentage of the binding obtained with a positive reference serum.

6.3.3.2. Rocket immunoelectrophoresis.

Urinary albumin concentrations were measured in 24 h urine collections from animals with EAG by rocket immunoelectrophoresis (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, St Albans, UK) as previously described [13-15]. Briefly, urine samples from experimental animals were subjected to immunoelectrophoresis at 60 v in an electrophoresis tank containing Barbitone buffer (BDH Laboratory Supplies, Poole, UK), pH 9.5, for 6 h, using a 1% agarose gel (BDH Laboratory Supplies) containing rabbit anti-sera to rat albumin raised in a laboratory. Results were calculated using rat serum albumin standards (which were run at the same time) and expressed in mg per 24 h.

6.3.3.3. Direct immunofluorescence

Deposits of IgG and fibrin within the glomeruli were detected by direct immunofluorescence, as previously described (30)(31)(150). Tissue was embedded in OCT II embedding medium (Miles Inc, Elkhart, Indiana, USA) on cork discs, snap frozen in isopentane (BDH Laboratory Supplies) pre-cooled in liquid nitrogen, and stored at -70 °C. Cryostat sections were cut at 5µm and were incubated with fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) labelled rabbit anti-rat IgG (Serotec Ltd), or goat anti-rat fibrin (Nordic Immunology, Tilburg, The Netherlands). The degree of immunostaining, as judged by intensity of fluorescence, was graded from 0 to 3+ by a blinded observer.

6.3.3.4. Light microscopy

Kidney tissue was fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin, processed, and embedded in

paraffin wax for light microscopy by standard techniques. Briefly, 3 μ m sections were stained with haematoxylin and eosin, and periodic acid-Schiff. Fifty glomeruli per section were graded by a blinded observer as: normal, abnormal (small areas of glomerular hypercellularity and/or focal necrosis), or severe (>50% of the glomerulus affected by necrosis and/or crescent formation), and expressed as a percentage of glomeruli examine (30) (31) (150).

6.3.4. Immunohistology

Kidney sections were stained for T cells and macrophages using a standard avidin-biotin complex immunoperoxidase staining technique. Briefly, formalin-fixed, paraffin embedded kidney sections were stained with monoclonal antibodies W3/13 (T lymphocytes), W3/25 (CD4⁺ lymphocytes), OX8 (CD8⁺ lymphocytes), and ED1 (macrophages)(Serotec Ltd). Numbers of glomerular T cells and macrophages were detected using a biotinylated secondary antibody and avidin-biotin complex (Dako Ltd, Cambridge, UK). The cellular infiltrate was assessed by a blinded observer by counting the number of positively stained cells per 50 consecutive glomeruli in cross section (150).

6.3.5. Isolation of glomeruli

Glomeruli were isolated as previously described (101) and documented in detail in Section 2.3 (p.26). Microscopic examination confirmed purity of glomeruli of over 90% compared to non-glomerular fragments. Glomeruli were then processed for RNA extraction by standard methods.

6.3.6. Extraction of RNA and reverse transcription

Total RNA was extracted from isolated glomeruli using a modification of the method of Chomczynski and Saachi (102). Samples of glomeruli were dissociated in RNAzol B (Cinna/Biotec, Houston, TX.). RNA was then extracted following the standard protocol. The

final product was air dried, dissolved in DEPC treated water and stored at -80 °C. First strand complementary DNA was synthesised using the M-MLV Reverse Transcription kit (Gibco BRL). One microgram of RNA and random hexamer primers were used to prime the reaction.

Primers for rat TCR V β genes were published previously (156) and are documented in Table 2.2 (p.36). The protocol used for PCR is documented in chapter 2 (p. 28).

6.3.7. Detection of PCR products by QPCR System 5000

The specificity of each PCR product was verified by separate hybridisation with a tris (2,2bipyridine) ruthenium (II) chelate (TBR) labelled sequence-specific oligonucleotide probe directed at a segment internal to the amplified PCR segment, as previously described (104) (105) (157) and presented in further detail in section 2.9 (p. 29). The electrochemiluminescent signal of the hybridized probe was detected with a QPCR 5000 system (Perkin Elmer) according to manufacturer's recommendations. The relative luminosity of each V β family member was expressed as a percentage of the total luminosity in all of the V β regions for a given sample.

6.3.8. CDR3 spectratyping of PCR products

2 μ l of PCR product from each V β family was used as cDNA for a second round of PCR. Primers were as before with the addition of a Fam labelled C β reverse primer internal to the initial C β biotin primer. This proceeded for six to ten cycles. 1 μ l of PCR product of this reaction was mixed with 12 μ l of deionised formamide and denatured at 95°C for 2 minutes. This was run on an ABI 310 DNA sequencer. The results were analysed using Genescan and Genotyper software.

6.3.9. Cloning and sequencing of PCR products

PCR products of interest were purified using ethanol or isopropanol precipitation and cloned

into the p-Bluescript SK-T vector. Transformed colonies were screened using PCR with M13 primers. Positive PCR products were purified using ethanol precipitation. Sequencing reactions used the ABI Big Dye Terminator DNA sequencing kit. Purified reactions were then run on an ABI 310 DNA sequencer.

6.3.10. CDR3 region analysis

CDR3 sequencing data were stored in a database. Motifs detected on visual inspection were confirmed with database searches using regular expressions.

6.4 Results

6.4.1. Assessment of EAG

Animals immunised with GBM in FCA and killed at week 2 showed detectable circulating anti-GBM antibodies, intermittent linear deposits of IgG on the GBM, moderate proteinuria, slight focal glomerular abnormalities, and an increase in glomerular T cells (mainly CD4⁺). Animals killed at week 4 after immunisation showed high levels of circulating anti-GBM antibodies, strong linear deposits of IgG along the GBM, marked proteinuria, severe focal and segmental necrotizing glomerulonephritis with extensive crescent formation, and large numbers of glomerular T cells (mainly CD8⁺) and macrophages. Control animals given FCA alone showed no manifestations of EAG. Results are summarised in Table 6.1 (p.97) and illustrated in Figure 6.1 (p.98).

6.4.2. Vβ repertoires in glomerular T cells

cDNA from glomeruli was amplified with primers specific for rat TCR V β families. V β repertoires in individual animals showed overexpression of one or two families. Different V β families were overexpressed in each individual animal studied. The overall repertoire, combining the results from all seven animals studied (three killed at 2 weeks, four at 4 weeks), showed no consistent V β family overexpression across all the animals. A

representative V β repertoire from a single animal and the overall repertoire are shown in Figure 6.2 (p.99).

6.4.3. CDR3 spectratyping

Spectratypes from glomerular TCR PCR products showed that in spite of a lack of consistent restriction in V β repertoires, the infiltrating T cells were clearly oligoclonal. Many of the V β families showed spectratypes with either single peaks or otherwise clearly restricted distributions compared to those of control spleen. Spectratypes from a single representative animal are shown in Figure 6.3 (p.100).

6.4.4. CDR3 motifs

Common CDR3 spectratype peaks were studied further to look for similar T cell clones present in a single V β family across those different animals. Six of seven animals showed a restricted spectratype in V β 13 containing a size band measuring 370/1 base pairs. These spectratypes are shown in Figure 6.4 (p.100). DNA sequencing of these V β 13 products showed significant CDR3 similarities in 5 of these 6 animals. These similarities are shown in the V β 13 sequences shown in Motif 2 in Figure 6.5 (p.101). Interestingly, K7 was the only animal not to show a similar sequence in V β 13, in spite of having a similarly restricted spectratype. However the same CDR3 motif was subsequently found in V β 16. Other V β families showing common spectratype bands in different animals were sequenced but failed to show similar CDR3 regions confined to single V β families.

DNA sequencing was performed, as above, looking for similar sequences in common CDR3 spectratypes in single V β families. Mostly, with the notable exception of V β 13, this failed to identify similar T cells in different animals. However, when sequence data were studied regardless of V β and CDR3 size, multiple CDR3 motifs were noted within the EAG animals. Two of these motifs were entirely absent in control animals. Motifs 1 and 4, from Figure 6.5 (p.101), were each represented by only a single sequence in over 50 CDR3 sequences from

control animals. Test animals showed over representation of motifs in small numbers of sequences from highly oligoclonal spectratypes, suggesting that they are well represented T cell clones within their respective V β families. Motifs were detected at both two and four week time points during disease development. Multiple V β families and CDR3 sizes were represented in each motif and no particular J β gene segment appeared to be overexpressed.

	GBM/FCA		FCA alone
	2 wk	4 wk	2 wk
Circulating anti-GBM antibody			
(%binding)	60 ± 5	95± 4	21 ± 2
Deposits of IgG on GBM (intensity of fluorescence)	+	+++	-
Proteinuria (mg/day)	15 ± 8	120 ± 32	0.6 ± 0.4
Abnormal glomeruli (%) (a) Total (b) Severe	32 ± 10 7 ± 4	100 75 ± 6	0
Immunohistochemistry (cells per 50 glomeruli)			
(a) T cells	64 ± 12	135 ± 22	16 ± 7
(b) CD4⁺ T cells	42 ± 15	5 ± 2	3 ± 2
(c) CD8⁺ T cells	35 ± 17	120 ± 35	20 ± 6
(d) Macrophages	3 ± 1	150 ± 25	2 ± 1

Table 6.1 Summary of results from WKY rats immunised with GBM in FCA or FCA alone. Results are expressed as a mean \pm standard deviation of each group at week 2 and week 4 after immunisation.


Figure 6.1 Light microscopy of kidney tissue at 4 weeks in WKY rats with EAG showing: a) marked segmental necrosis of the glomerular tuft with crescent formation (H&E x300); b) strong linear deposition of IgG along the GBM (immunofluorescence x300); c) T cells infiltrating the glomeruli and interstitium (immunoperoxidase x300).



Figure 6.2 Comparison between glomerular and splenic TCR V β repertoires. a) glomerular T cell receptor V β repertoire from a single animal with EAG compared with the splenic repertoire showing overexpression of V β 2 and 13; b) Combined results from all animals showed no significant overall changes to the repertoires across all the animals. Results for all animals are expressed as mean ± SD for each group.

.

Chapter 6.



Figure 6.3 CDR3 spectratypes from glomeruli of a single rat with EAG (top) are compared with normal spectratypes from spleen (below) for the corresponding TCR family. Spectratype peaks are labelled with their approximate PCR product length in base pairs. A normal spectratype of a diverse T cell population consists of 7 or more peaks. There is clear restriction in multiple V β families in the glomeruli.



Figure 6.4 V β 13 spectratypes from 7 animals showed restricted CDR3 spectratypes. Spectratype peaks are labelled with PCR product length in base pairs, animal reference and percentage expression in the TCR V β repertoire. A common band is present at 370/1 base pairs in 6 of the 7 animals.

Chapter 6.

Motif	1
1010000	_

Animal	V beta	CDR3 sequence	J beta	Clonality
K5 K1 K5 K9 K8 K5 K5 K8 K5 K8 K5 K2	15 14 15 16 5 13 15 5 16 16	CGAP-GQGNQAQYF CAWLP-GQGGAEQFF CGAAP-GQGNTEVFF CASSQ-GQGRERLFF CASSQP-GQGGYDYTF CASSP-GTGVETQYF CGAP-GTGGESATTDKIYF CASSPSGTGGETQYF CASSPSGTGNXDYTF CASSPGTGOLYF	1.5 2.1 1.1 1.4 1.2 2.5 2.3 2.5 1.2 2.2	1 of 3 3 of 8 2 of 4 2 of 5 3 of 4 1 of 8 1 of 1 1 of 4 1 of 1 4 of 6
Control CDR3 Posit	16 ion	CASSLGP-GQGKNDYTF 12345 10 14 19	1.2	1 of 54

Motif: Position 10: P or Q. 12: G. 13: Q or T. 14: G.

Motif 2

Animal	V beta	CDR3 Sequence	J beta	Clonality
К1	13	CASSLDGNT~EVFF	1.1	10 of 10
K8	13	CASSLEGNSPLYF	1.6	1 of 1
K9	13	CASSPDGNSPLYF	1.6	4 of 4
K2	13	CASSLDGQNTLFF	2.4	14 of 14
K5	13	CASSLEGQNTLFF	2.4	1 of 6
K2	16	CASSPDGTGQLYF	2.2	4 of 6
К7	16	CASSLDGTENTLFF	2.4	1 of 6

CDR3 Position 12345 10 14 18

Motif: Position 7: L or P. 8: Acidic. 9: G. 10, 11, 12: polar (QNTS)

Motif 3

Animal	V beta	CDR3 se	quence)		J beta	Clonality
К2	15	CGAK	-DWG	-ONTL	FF	2.4	5 of 7
K2	14	CAWSR-	-DWGG-	-SDKI	YF	2.3	2 of 2
К5	13	CASSLG	-DWGG-	LETQ	YF	2.5	2 of 2
K5	16	CASSPR	-DWGG-	SFYE	QYF	2.6	1 of 1
К9	10	CASR	-DWGD-	QETQ	YF	2.5	3 of 3
K1	10	CASSS	WGD-	SQNT	LFF	2.4	5 of 5
K1	15	CGARV	WGE-	RLFF		1.4	1 of 1
K7	10	CASSY	WG	STGQ	LYF	2.2	1 of 2
K1	10	CASSP	WGG-	QETQ	YF	2.5	5 of 5
CDR3 Posit	ion	12345	10	14	19		
	Animal K2 K2 K5 K9 K1 K1 K7 K1 CDR3 Posit	Animal V beta K2 15 K2 14 K5 13 K5 16 K9 10 K1 10 K1 15 K7 10 K1 10 CDR3 Position	Animal V beta CDR3 set K2 15 CGAK K2 14 CAWSR K5 13 CASSLG- K5 16 CASSPR K9 10 CASR K1 10 CASSS K1 15 CGARV K1 10 CASSP K1 10 CASSP	Animal V beta CDR3 sequence K2 15 CGAKDWG K2 14 CAWSRDWGG- K5 13 CASSLG-DWGG- K5 16 CASSPR-DWGG- K9 10 CASRDWGD- K1 10 CASSSWGD- K1 15 CGARVWGE- K7 10 CASSPWGG- K1 10 CASSPWGG- CDR3 Position 12345 10	Animal V beta CDR3 sequence K2 15 CGAKDWGQNTL K2 14 CAWSRDWGG-SDKI K5 13 CASSLG-DWGG-LETQ K5 16 CASSPR-DWGG-SFYE K9 10 CASRDWGD-QETQ K1 10 CASSSWGD-SQNT K1 15 CGARVWGE-RLFF K7 10 CASSYWG-STGQ K1 10 CASSPWGG-QETQ CDR3 Position 12345 10 14	Animal V beta CDR3 sequence K2 15 CGAKDWGQNTLFF K2 14 CAWSRDWGG-SDKIYF K5 13 CASSLG-DWGG-LETQYF K5 16 CASSPR-DWGG-SFYEQYF K9 10 CASRDWGD-QETQYF K1 10 CASSSWGD-SQNTLFF K1 15 CGARVWGE-RLFF K7 10 CASSYWG-STGQLYF K1 10 CASSPWGG-QETQYF CDR3 Position 12345 10 14 19	Animal V beta CDR3 sequence J beta K2 15 CGAKDWGQNTLFF 2.4 K2 14 CAWSRDWGG-SDKIYF 2.3 K5 13 CASSLG-DWGG-LETQYF 2.5 K5 16 CASSPR-DWGG-SFYEQYF 2.6 K9 10 CASRDWGD-QETQYF 2.5 K1 10 CASSSWGD-SQNTLFF 2.4 K1 15 CGARVWGE-RLFF 1.4 K7 10 CASSPWGSTGQLYF 2.2 K1 10 CASSPWG-QETQYF 2.5 CDR3 Position 12345 10 14 19

Motif: Position 8: D. 9:W. 10: G. 11: G or Acidic.

Motif 4

Animal	V beta	CDR3 Sequence	J beta	Clonality
К2	15	CGARDGGGTEVF	F 1.1	2 of 7
K5	15	CGARAGGGAEQF	F 2.1	2 of 3
K8	15	CGARSGGDETQ	YF 2.5	6 of 6
K7	16	CASSTRQGGYEQY	F 2.6	1 of 4
K7	16	CASSTRTGGAEQY	F 2.6	1 of 4
К5	15	CGARIRTGGNQAQ	YF 1.5	2 of 3
К9	15	CGARVGGPNTL	FF 2.4	2 of 2
К9	13	CASSRTGGG-SYAEQF	F 2.1	5 of 5
К9	14	CAWSRLGG-VSYAEQF	F 2.1	3 of 3
Control	15	CGARTGGAETQ	YF 2.5	1 of 54
CDR3 Pos	ition	12345 10 14 1	9	
Motif: Posi	tion 8: R	10, 11: G. 17: E.		

Table 6.5 CDR3 amino acid motifs from animals with EAG. Multiple V β families and CDR3 sizes are represented in each motif, but no particular J β is overexpressed.

Chapter 6.

6.5 Discussion

These data show clear evidence of T cell restriction in the glomeruli of animals with EAG. This suggests that T cells responding to antigens within the glomerulus may be involved in the pathogenesis of EAG. This may be relevant to human Goodpasture's disease, in view of the extensive immunological and pathological similarities between the two conditions. In EAG induced by GBM, a major autoantigen is $\alpha 3(IV)NC1$ (38) (39), although $\alpha 4(IV)NC1$ (158) may be involved. The nephritogenicity of $\alpha 3$ (IV)NC1 has now been demonstrated by several groups (39) (38) (158). In patients with Goodpasture's disease, α 3(IV)NC1 is clearly the main target of autoantibodies (145) (37) and the major B cell epitope has been defined (146). The pathogenicity of these anti-GBM antibodies has been clearly demonstrated in mouse and rat models of EAG (41) (159), as in human disease (65). The role of T cells in EAG has been clearly demonstrated in the model induced by rat GBM (150). There is an early phase of CD4⁺ T cell infiltration, which is followed by CD8⁺ T cells and macrophages. Similarly, in the human disease, both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells are demonstrated on renal biopsy, but with a predominance of CD4⁺ cells (160). T cell infiltration has been shown to precede macrophage infiltration, but the time course of CD4⁺ versus CD8⁺ T cell infiltration has not been studied. In EAG, T cells have been shown to proliferate to $\alpha 3(IV)NC1$ in vitro and antigen specific CD4⁺ T cell lines are capable of inducing crescentic nephritis (36). However, a role for CD8⁺ T cells has also been demonstrated by therapeutic studies using anti-CD8 monoclonal antibodies (34). In patients with Goodpasture's disease, there is a high frequency of CD4⁺ T cells reactive with $\alpha 3$ (IV)NC1 (147). However, involvement of CD8⁺ T cells is suggested by the generation of CD8⁺ T cell clones reactive with GBM (71). Finally, the renal and pulmonary pathology in EAG and Goodpasture's disease is remarkably similar (144) (150).

Previous studies of oligoclonal T cells thought to be specific for a particular antigen or set of

102

antigens in autoimmunity have produced variable results. T cells in several animal models of autoimmune disease have been shown to use highly restricted V β repertoires. In EAE, initial results suggested the predominant use of V β 8.2 in spinal cord lesions (161). Pathogenicity of these T cells was confirmed on adoptive transfer. Subsequent studies, however, implicated multiple other V β families, including V β 3, 6, 10, 12 and 17 (19). Common CDR3 motifs were identified in experimental autoimmune carditis, but only in a single V β family (V β 4) (162). Other models have shown the use of multiple V β and single V α genes (163) or vice versa (164). In each of these models, CDR3 motifs, when found to be present, have been confined to one or two V β families. In a study of glomerular T cells in Heymann nephritis, we have previously shown similar CDR3 regions in the context of three V β families and an overexpression of J β 2.6 (165).

This study has shown a restricted set of T cells infiltrating the glomeruli of rats with experimental autoimmune glomerulonephritis. Initial analysis using RT-PCR did not show any overall overexpression of specific V β families, although a small number of families were over-represented in each animal. However, subsequent CDR3 spectratype analysis gave clear evidence of oligoclonality within the infiltrating T cells. This was further confirmed by sequencing the spectratypes, which showed a limited number of sequences from each spectratype. Single peak spectratypes generally produced a single sequence of T cell receptor DNA. An initial search for similar T cell sequences within single V β families with shared CDR3 spectratypes produced a strong motif present in V β 13 in five of seven animals studied. This proved to be the exception rather than the rule, with no other similarities found in four other V β families studied. Further study of the sequences, however, showed that when CDR3 regions were compared, irrespective of V β family and CDR3 length, strong motifs were present in test animals that were mostly absent from controls. Only two sequences with the CDR3 motifs of interest were found in control

animals across all V β families and these were represented by only a single sequence in a highly diverse population. The other two motifs were absent from the control animal CDR3 sequences. Highly similar CDR3 regions were used by the infiltrating T cells though in combination with different V β and J β gene segments.

This is the first time that CDR3 motifs have been shown across multiple V β families in so many animals. This data in EAG shows multiple clear CDR3 motifs present in the majority of animals with EAG across several V β families, demonstrating a broader network of similar T cells than has been shown before. Studies of T cell receptor repertoires have previously relied heavily on the relative expression of V β families as a simple screening test for oligoclonality. This study shows that, even in the face of inconsistent changes in the T cell repertoire, extensive oligoclonality may exist in infiltrating T cells. An unchanged V β family expression at 10% becomes remarkable when spectratyping shows a single CDR3 band (e.g. K6 in Figure 4). The increased availability of CDR3 spectratyping makes more detailed studies of oligoclonal T cells a great deal easier than it was even five years ago. It is perhaps not surprising that studies such as this should show increasingly complex T cell responses. In human disease, a similar spectrum of T cell responses has been documented. Recognition

of myelin basic protein (MBP) amino acids 83-99 presented by HLA-DR2 in humans is mediated by V β 13 cells expressing limited CDR3 regions (44). T cells specific for an influenza matrix protein shared overexpression of a single V β combined with multiple J β and a strong CDR3 motif (166). In EBV specific T cells, three different V β families expressed different public CDR3 motifs, all in combination with V α 15. The CDR3 motifs were confined to a single V β family. The α chain expressed different CDR3 features depending on its paired β chain (167). Two previous studies in man have shown common CDR3 motifs, but involving only a few individuals (129) (168).

Diseases in which there is overexpression of single $V\beta$ families are likely to be amenable to

TCR-based treatment strategies, including DNA vaccination or antisense therapy to part of the β chain. In a previous study of the glomerular T cells in Heymann nephritis we have demonstrated oligoclonal T cells utilising three V β families, J β 2.6 and similar CDR3 regions. DNA vaccination against these cells has subsequently been shown to ameliorate disease with a clear decrease in proteinuria and T cell and macrophage infiltration (169). The prospects for T cell based therapy become less clear, however, in more complex responses such as those described here. Neither the V β or J β are obvious targets for treatment, but there does remain the possibility of designing a specific treatment targeted to the CDR3 motifs. The model of EAG described in this study utilizes immunisation with collagenase digested rat GBM, so animals could be generating a more complex T cell response than might be seen in Goodpasture's disease where the immune response is restricted to α 3(IV)NC1 collagen. It is therefore possible that generating EAG with a more defined antigen, as can be done with α 3(IV)NC1 (38) (39) (158), may simplify the T cell responses seen and provide a better opportunity to design specific therapy.

Chapter 7. Oligoclonal T cells in human rapidly progressive glomerulonephritis7.1 Statement

This work is a collaboration between myself and the Renal Laboratories at Leicester General Hospital headed by Professor John Feehally. Renal biopsy material was identified from the Department of Pathology renal biopsy archive held by Professor Peter Furness. Appropriate cases were identified by Dr Alice Smith and Elaine Foster. The archival biopsies were obtained, mRNA extracted and first strand cDNA synthesised prior to transfer of the samples to me for analysis. All further analysis was performed by me.

7.2 Introduction

Rapidly progressive glomerulonephritis is characterised by a crescentic glomerulonephritis with infiltration of mononuclear cells, fibrinoid necrosis of the glomerular capillary tuft and, in renal vasculitis and idiopathic RPGN, a notable absence of immune deposits in the affected glomeruli. Goodpasture's disease is also associated with linear deposition of antibody along the glomerular basement membrane. For a considerable time, the investigation of the role of antibodies had dominated research in this area but there is evidence for the involvement of T cells in the pathogenesis of these diseases both in animals and, increasingly, in humans.

Evidence in animal models has shown that T cells are crucial in the pathogenesis of RPGN. In a model of anti-GBM glomerulonephritis, Tipping et al showed that CD4⁺ cells were crucial for development of crescentic nephritis. Absence of CD8⁺ worsened disease (69). A model of crescentic nephritis in the mouse have also showed clear evidence of the importance of T cells in that disease could only be transferred in the presence of T cells. In their absence, antibody was deposited in the glomeruli but no crescentic changes or severe proteinuria occurred (41). More recently, Xiao et al showed direct pathogenic role for ANCA antibodies with specificity for myeloperoxidase in the development of crescentic disease. In the absence of splenocytes, however, the antibodies were deposited in the glomeruli and produced only a mild proliferative GN with no crescents, indicating the need for cells, most likely T cells, for the development of severe disease (82). Further data in the involvement of T cells in RPGN is documented in the introduction on page 19.

I have analysed renal biopsies samples from patients who suffered from RPGN, extracted their RNA and analysed their TCR repertoires using PCR, CDR3 spectratyping and DNA sequencing of their CDR3 regions.

7.3 Methods

7.3.1. Renal biopsies and PBMC samples

Renal biopsies were identified from a bank of biopsy tissue at the Department of Nephrology, Leicester General Hospital, UK. Diagnoses were either Goodpasture's disease or idiopathic rapidly progressive glomerulonephritis. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were obtained by venesection of healthy volunteers followed by density gradient centrifugation. Serial dilutions of subsequent PBMC cDNA were performed for comparison with renal biopsy samples in order to control for dilution in the study of oligoclonality of the infiltrating T cells.

7.3.2. RNA extraction and reverse transcriptase PCR

mRNA was extracted from biopsy material using oligo-dT conjugated magnetic beads (Dynal mRNA Direct kit). cDNA was then synthesised using M-MLV reverse transcriptase and random hexamer primers, and stored at -80°C until required. PCR was performed. 2 ml of cDNA was added to a reaction mixture consisting of 10x PCR buffer (Mg⁺⁺ 1.5 mM, Roche), dNTPs 0.2 mM, Taq polymerase 0.03 U/ml, C β and V β primers to a final concentration 0.3 mM. Primers used in these reactions are presented in Table 1. Samples were run for 40 cycles. Amplification of the house keeping gene GAPDH was used as a positive control for intact RNA and efficiency of RT. PCR amplification was performed

using a thermal cycler (Perkin Elmer 9600). Products were then analysed on a 2% agarose gel. Repertoires were analysed using UV densitometry of the agarose gel. Results are expressed as percentage of total V β signal in each sample.

7.3.3. CDR3 spectratyping

Two microlitres of PCR product from each V β family was used as cDNA for a second round of PCR. Primers were as before with the addition of a Fam labelled C β reverse primer internal to the initial C β biotin primer. This proceeded for six to ten cycles. 1 µl of PCR product of this reaction was mixed with 12 µl of deionised formamide and denatured at 95°C for 2 minutes. This was run on an ABI 310 DNA sequencer. The results were analysed using Genescan and Genotyper software.

7.3.4. Cloning and sequencing of PCR products

PCR products of interest were purified using ethanol or isopropanol precipitation and cloned into the p-Bluescript SK-T vector. Transformed colonies were screened using PCR with M13 primers. Positive PCR products were purified using ethanol precipitation. Sequencing reactions used the ABI Big Dye Terminator DNA sequencing kit. Purified reactions were then run on an ABI 310 DNA sequencer.

7.3.5. Real time PCR for $CC\beta$ and GAPDH

Primers and probes to detect C β and GAPDH using real time PCR were designed. The C β oligonucleotides were designed using Primer Express Software (Applied Biosystems, CA). The sequences are shown in Table 3.1 (p.44). The protocol used for real time PCR is documented in section 2.16 (p.34).

7.4 Results

7.4.1. Vβ TCR repertoires

Five biopsies surrendered adequate RNA for subsequent analysis. Figure 7.1 (p.112) shows

their V β repertoires. Biopsies A to E show differing levels of repertoire diversity. Biopsy E shows the most restriction with only 12 V β families detectable. Biopsy D demonstrates a more diverse TCR repertoire with almost all V β families represented at similar levels. Four of the five biopsies show a clear degree of restriction in their TCR cDNA.

7.4.2. Oligoclonal CDR3 spectratypes

All detected V β families PCR products were run on a high resolution sequencing gel to study their CDR3 spectratypes. All spectratypes from the biopsies showed clear oligoclonality with some striking restriction in multiple V β families. These restricted spectratypes are shown in Figure 7.2 (p.114) along with the estimated percentage expression from the TCR repertoire. Under these conditions, many highly restricted spectratypes represent a significant percentage of the total TCR repertoire. This is an indication of a highly oligoclonal population of T cells infiltrating these biopsies.

In order to confirm that the apparent spectratype oligoclonality was not simply due to dilution of the TCR cDNA, PBMC cDNA was diluted to a similar level of CC β signal and subjected to the same experiment. Real time PCR using C β primers was performed using serial dilutions of PBMC in order to ascertain the level of dilution of a diverse T cell repertoire that would be required to produce an equivalent C β signal to the renal biopsies being studied. As shown in Table 7.1 (p.115), a 1000 fold dilution of PBMC gave a threshold cycle equivalent to or higher than the biopsies. This sample therefore represents an equivalent or more dilute TCR sample than the biopsies providing a control for oligoclonality. A TCR repertoire was performed followed by CDR3 spectratypes are clearly more diverse than those from the renal biopsies. Some single peaks are present but they represent a minor fraction of the total repertoire. Thus, the spectratypes of the renal biopsies are clearly restricted due to TCR oligoclonality rather than overdilution of cDNA or

Chapter 7.

poor recovery of RNA.

7.4.3. Agarose gel densitometry gives an estimate of the TCR repertoire compared with real time PCR.

Gel densitometry is a limited technique which provides an approximation of a T cell repertoire. The above spectratyping studies raise the question of whether the technique was distorting the V β repertoires such that otherwise poorly represented V β families were being significantly overestimated. In order to assess the extent of repertoire changes in this technique, I measured a TCR repertoire on 1000-fold diluted PBMC using both real time PCR and agarose gel densitometry. The results are shown in Table 7.2 (p.117). The main question to be addressed was the possible overamplification of poorly represented V β families with restricted spectratypes. The results show that agarose gel densitometry gives a 'flatter' repertoire than other measures, reducing high percentage expressions and increasing lower figures. However the overall shape of the repertoire remains intact. Under-represented V β families continue to be under-represented. There is no evidence to show that agarose gel densitometry grossly distorts the overall V β repertoire.

7.4.4. Sequencing results

Restricted and well represented V β families in the biopsy repertoires were cloned and sequenced. The results in Table 7.3 (p.118) show the ten most strongly represented sequences for each sample. The percentage of TCR signal is calculated from the percentage expression of the V β family multiplied by the proportion of TCR clones from that family that carried the identical sequence. The results show clonally expanded T cell sequences in each sample, which account for a highly significant proportion of the total T cell signal within the sample. These results suggest that relatively few T cell clones may account for a striking percentage of the total T cell receptor signal within kidneys with RPGN.

7.4.5. Shared CDR3 motifs in multiple biopsies

Sequencing of the biopsies also revealed that there are clear shared CDR3 motifs in the TCRs infiltrating the kidneys in RPGN. These are shown in Table 7.4 (p.119). Not only are these shared motifs present, but they are also in the five most common CDR3 sequences detected within each biopsy. This would suggest that they are likely to represent T cells that are either highly activated expressing large amounts of TCR mRNA or present in the tissue in disproportionate numbers. Either way, they are likely to be involved in disease pathogenesis.



Figure 7.1. TCR repertoires for biopsies A to E. Four of five biopsies show some restriction in the expression of V β families. No particular V β overexpression is seen across biopsies.

Chapter 7.



Biopsy A spectratypes



Biopsy B spectratypes



Biopsy C spectratypes

Chapter 7.



Biopsy D spectratypes



Biopsy E spectratypes

Figure 7.2. Spectratypes from biopsies A to E. Each spectratype is labelled with BV family name and estimated percentage expression by PCR. Multiple restricted CDR3 spectratypes are demonstrated in each biopsy. Many of these are strongly expressed within the biopsy as indicated by their percentage expression within the repertoire. Single peak spectratypes generally represent single clones of T cells.

	GAPDH Ct	CC beta Ct
Peripheral blo	pod dilutio	n <u>s</u>
PBMC 10 PBMC 100 PBMC 1000 PBMC 10000	24.6 27.7 31.4 34.7	24.5 27.7 31.7 35.1
Renal biopsie	<u>es</u>	
A B C D	27.2 25.3 25.3 25.4 26.0	31.4 31.5 29.6 29.1 32.2

Table 7.1. Real time PCR threshold cycle numbers for GAPDH and CC β in serial dilutions of PBMC and archival renal biopsies. Biopsy samples show a CC β signal equivalent or greater than a 1000 fold dilution of PBMC cDNA.

Chapter 7.



Figure 7.3. Spectratyping of a 1000 fold dilution of PBMCs shows a considerably more diverse T cell population than in renal biopsy samples with an equivalent $CC\beta$ signal. Single peak spectratypes are represented at a low level in the TCR repertoire as demonstrated by a low percentage expression.

Percentage expression in TCR repertoire						
Vβ family	Gel	Real time				
BV 2	3.87	1.74				
BV 3	0.79	0.77				
BV 4	2.7	3.19				
BV 5	3.48	9.20				
BV 6	1.48	6.09				
BV 7-2	3.19	4.27				
BV 7-3	4.22	1.93				
BV 7-6	0.77	1.49				
BV 7-7	0.67	0.19				
BV 7-8	2.21	0.62				
BV 7-9	7.62	11.01				
BV 9	5.48	5.05				
BV 10	3.35	1.80				
BV 11	7.62	4.28				
BV 12	6.23	1.67				
BV 13	3.89	0.33				
BV 14	5.33	1.21				
BV 15	1	0.19				
BV 16	1.96	0.71				
BV 18	3.63	2.35				
BV 19	3.44	9.66				
BV 20	6.31	19.84				
BV 24	0.86	1.64				
BV 25	0.75	0.05				
BV 27	6.18	3.42				
BV 28	2.59	0.66				
BV 29	8.08	5.58				
BV 30	2.31	1.07				

Table 7.2. A comparison between TCR repertoire analysis using agarose gel densitometry and real time PCR. PCR was run for 40 cycles in triplicate. Percentages were calculated by dividing each V β family signal by the total measured signal multiplied by 100. Figures in bold show families measured at less than 1% by real time PCR and their corresponding densitometry figures.

Chapter 7.

		('umula						
Sample	BV	CDR3 sequence	BJ	Clonality	Length	Percentage	Percentage	
A	12	CASSPPRGETEAFE	11	5 of 5	14	66	6.6	
	18	CASSBRDDPSGYTE	1.1	5015 6 of 7	14	4 80	0.0	
	6	CASARARDRTDTOYF	23	8 of 16	15	4.07	16.20	
	7	CASSLGAGHETOYF	2.5	5 of 11	14	3.68	10.29	
	19	CAAGTAKETOYF	2.5	3 of 5	12	24	22 37	
	6	CASSYGGHEQYF	2.7	4 of 16	12	2.4	24.77	
	6	CASRKGLTYEQYF	2.7	4 of 16	13	2.4	27.17	
	7	CASSLSTGVDEQFF	2.1	2 of 11	14	1.47	28.64	
	7	CASIPSAGGYNEQFF	2.1	2 of 11	15	1.47	30.11	
	19	CASSIGPLAGGPAGELFF	2.2	2 of 5	18	1.6	31.71	
B	25	CASSDGGAOPOHF	15	9 of 9	13	85	85	
~	27	CASSLSHROGPGFF	21	5019 6 of 6	14	87	167	
	20	CSASGLAGEISFYNEOFF	2.1	4 of 8	18	0.2 7	23.7	
	18	CASSPNRGTEAFF	11	7 of 11	13	643	30.13	
	28	CASSLOARRETOYF	2.5	6 of 12	14	63	36.43	
	28	CASSYKGYYGYTF	1.2	6 of 12	13	63	42.73	
	6	CASGRRVNEKLFF	1.4	1 of 1	13	4 5	47.23	
	18	CASSPFGEETOYF	2.5	4 of 11	13	3.67	50.9	
	20	CSARSPGYEQYF	2.7	2 of 8	12	3.5	54.4	
	20	CSAKYGLAGSYEQYF	2.7	2 of 8	15	3.5	57.9	
C	18	CASSPTGYFETOYF	25	11 of 16	14	4 68	4 68	
<u> </u>	25	CASSVRGKETOYF	2.5	2 of 2	13	4.00	8.98	
	4	CASSODWGEOGAYEOYE	2.7	2 of 2	17	4.5	13.18	
	11	CASSLGESOPOHF	1.5	3 of 10	13	2.97	16.15	
	14	CASSPGPRPHEOYF	2.7	5 of 12	14	2.88	19.02	
	16	CASSOSOGAKNIOYF	2.4	6 of 12	15	2.7	21.72	
	16	CASSSLAGAFYDEQFF	2.1	6 of 12	16	2.7	24.42	
	13	CASSFIVRSSYNEQFF	2.1	2 of 5	16	2.32	26.74	
	14	CASSPGLGREQYF	2.7	4 of 12	13	2.3	29.04	
	4	CASSQSSGSSEKLFF	1.4	1 of 3	15	2.1	31.14	
D	12	CASRPOGAYYGYTF	1.2	2 of 4	14	3.05	3.05	
_	12	CASSFGQGYRELFF	2.2	2 of 4	14	3.05	6.1	
	13	CASSHGTGGDEQYF	2.7	6 of 6	14	2.6	8.7	
	15	CATSSLLGQPYNEQFF	2.1	6 of 6	16	2.5	11.2	
	14	CASSQTGVRLFF	1.4	2 of 6	12	1.77	12.97	
	9	CASSGTVRMNTEAFF	1.1	2 of 4	15	1.7	14.67	
	3	CASSLYGEQFF	2.1	4 of 6	11	1.6	16.27	
	14	CASSQTGVKLFF	1.4	1 of 6	12	0.88	17.15	
	14	CASSQVAGAPETQYF	2.5	1 of 6	15	0.88	18.03	
	14	CASSQAGVRLFF	1.4	1 of 6	12	0.88	18.92	
E	2	CASSERSLGAEAFF	1.1	3 of 4	14	8.85	8.9	
	28	CASSLVLPLNEKLFF	1.4	3 of 6	15	7.85	16.7	
	18	CASSPPRTLSGANVLTF	2.6	5 of 5	17	7.7	24.4	
	7	CASSLVEVQPQHF	1.5	1 of 1	13	6.5	30.9	
	9	CASSFSGTKGDEQFF	2.1	7 of 9	15	5.91	36.8	
1	28	CASSPGSPDTGELFF	2.2	2 of 6	15	5.23	42.0	
	30	CAWSVQGTPEAFF	1.1	9 of 9	13	5	47.0	
	3	CASSPGTAVNEKLFF	1.4	7 of 9	15	4.98	52.0	
	15	CATSRDLVGTVGNEQFF	2.1	2 of 3	17	3.73	55.8	
	2	CASTGNGQETQYF	2.5	1 of 4	13	2.95	58.7	

Table 7.3. The ten most strongly expressed T cell clones in each biopsy make up a significant proportion of TCR mRNA signal in each biopsy as estimated by PCR and densitometry.

Chapter 7.

Biopsy	BV	CDR3	sequence	B.J	Clonality	CDR3 Length	Percentage
Α	12	CASS	P-PR G-FTEAFF	1.1	5 of 5	14	6.6
B	18	CASS	P-NR G-TEAFF	1.1	7 of 11	13	6.43
C	14	CASS	P G PR P-HEQYF	2.7	5 of 12	14	2.88
E	18	CASS	P-PR T-LSGANVLTF	2.6	5 of 5	17	7.7

Table 7.4. Similar CDR3 sequences from 4 of 5 archival renal biopsies. All clones were within the 5 most represented sequences in each biopsy.

7.5 Discussion

I have shown that T cells infiltrating the kidneys of patients with rapidly progressive glomerulonephritis are restricted in their TCR V β expression and have restricted CDR3 spectratypes. The ten most frequently expressed T cell clones appear to make up a considerable proportion of the mRNA signal in each biopsy, accounting for between 18 and 55% of the total TCR signal. The restriction of spectratypes is not due to cDNA dilution since manual dilution of a diverse T cell repertoire produces much more diverse spectratypes. There may be some debate as to the use of agarose gel densitometry to assess the TCR repertoires since this is clearly not the method of choice. However a control experiment with diverse TCR cDNA shows that it does not skew the repertoire to any great extent. Further evidence from the spectratypes of diluted PBMC also suggests that restricted spectratypes with high levels of expression within the repertoire are likely to be genuine since there are none within the control experiment.

The use of real time PCR, spectratyping and sequencing to document oligoclonal T cell infiltration is not new. However, the demonstration of the cumulative level of mRNA expression of the top 10 T cell clones has not been done previously. This data strongly suggests that the network of infiltrating T cells in a tissue driving an autoimmune disease may be a great deal smaller than previously assumed. This leads to the possibility of a smaller T cell target to interrupt the disease. Interruption of 5 to 10 T cell clones in an individual is clearly a viable option for selective T cell immunotherapy. Data from animal models including my own, documented in chapter 5, has shown that interruption of a very limited set of T cells defined by their TCR can have a profound impact on disease pathogenesis.

The limitations of this study are mainly methodological. Very limited cDNA was available for study from these biopsies frozen for some years. Real time PCR was not available to us

120

at the commencement of the study thus some compromises had to be made with regards to quantification of mRNA. Standard PCR usually requires several PCR experiments to eliminate the possibility of over amplification of cDNA. This was not feasible since this process necessarily utilises much larger quantities of cDNA than were available to me. Some degree of overamplification within these results is therefore highly likely. The extent of this does not appear to negate the remarkable results. Control experiments are clear in showing that a diverse TCR sample diluted to similar or greater levels would not produce the results I have demonstrated. Clearly this needs to be confirmed in subsequent real time PCR experiments on more recently acquired renal biopsy tissue with adequate controls. This project is currently ongoing, utilising the method described in chapter 3.

This study suggests that a highly restricted set of T cells may be responsible for the majority of a T cell infiltrate in the kidneys of patients with rapidly progressive glomerulonephritis and that selective T cell immunotherapy may be possible on an individual patient basis. The interruption of ten T cell clones is a potential treatment option. Further studies are needed to confirm this result.

Chapter 8.

Chapter 8. Summary and Conclusions

8.1 Summary

This thesis sets out to identify potentially pathogenic T cells in kidney tissue with a view to the design of novel T cell specific immunotherapy. The glomerular T cells found in two animal models are analysed on the basis of the TCR V β expression. The results of one of these models is then used to design a DNA vaccination treatment which is shown to ameliorate the disease. A study of human renal biopsy tissue shows infiltrating oligoclonal T cells are also clearly identifiable by their V β chains in human RPGN. A method to analyse human TCR V β chain expression is described using real time PCR. This will enable subsequent human studies to be more accurately quantified and forms the basis for further work in this area.

The study of glomerular T cells in HN (chapter 5, p.71) was based upon the premise that infiltrating glomerular T cells had been described coincident with the development of proteinuria in this model. Glomeruli were isolated and mRNA extracted to identify these potentially pathogenic T cells. The analysis demonstrated the presence of T cells with a high degree of oligoclonality in multiple V β families. There was only limited evidence of a public response across multiple animals in spite of the fact that the model is generated in an inbred strain of rats. Further analysis of the T cells using DNA sequencing of CDR3 sequences showed a group of T cells bearing CDR3 regions of equal length. These regions showed significant restriction in the selection of amino acids at several positions, suggesting that they may be part of a population of T cells responding to a nephritogenic antigen. T cells bearing TCR V β 5, 7 and 13 and J β 2.6 with a CDR3 length of 6 amino acids were identified in this context.

Having suggested that these infiltrating T cells in HN may be pathogenic, we designed a study to attempt to interrupt them. DNA vaccines based upon the PCR products of V β 5, 7

and 13 families in conjunction with J β 2.6 were designed, ligated and purified. Test animals were vaccinated prior to induction of HN. The results showed a significant reduction in proteinuria in vaccinated animals. This was associated with a reduction in infiltration by CD8⁺ T cells and macrophages and a reduction in IFN- γ expression in the glomeruli. Infiltrating T cells in vaccinated rats showed an increase in the diversity of their CDR3 regions in V β 5, 7 and 13. This suggests that either the infiltration or expansion of specific oligoclonal T cells was prevented by vaccination. DV treatment had no apparent effect on the infiltration of CD4⁺ T cells or the deposition of anti-Fx1A antibodies in the glomeruli. The mechanism of action of DV was investigated, showing the development of specific anti-TCR antibodies in vaccinated animals with a reduction in the expression of IFN- γ . This study has demonstrated that the initial study into glomerular T cells is highly likely to represent a real population of pathogenic T cells infiltrating the glomeruli and that DNA vaccination is a potentially useful therapeutic tool.

A study into a second animal model, EAG, also showed extensive T cell oligoclonality in multiple V β families. In this case, there was not an obvious population of T cells to be targeted with specific therapy applicable to multiple animals. Each individual animal carried a different infiltrating T cell repertoire in its glomeruli, each overexpressing different V β families. CDR3 spectratyping showed highly restricted spectratypes in multiple TCR families. DNA sequencing demonstrated several CDR3 motifs expressed in conjunction with multiple V β families. Clearly this particular result makes it difficult to envisage a treatment that could be used in a group of animals or patients. It does not, however, exclude the possibility of individualised therapy based upon V β TCR expression.

The same approach was then used to study infiltrating T cells in archival renal biopsy tissue from patients with RPGN. This was performed on whole renal tissue rather than glomeruli. Standard PCR was used without calibrating experiments to avoid overamplification. This

123

was due to the small amounts of cDNA available for experimentation. The results showed a variable level of restriction in the V β repertoire expression with some biopsies having a very limited repertoire and others fairly broad. Subsequent CDR3 spectratyping showed that even where the V β repertoire did not appear to be restricted, there was striking evidence of oligoclonality. This is a clear demonstration of the fact that TCR V β repertoires when used alone are a very insensitive tool for the detection of T cell clones within tissue. Combining the repertoire and spectratyping data, I have suggested that oligoclonal T cell mRNA may make up a significant proportion of the V β mRNA signal within a tissue. The ten most frequent mRNA species, presumably reflecting ten T cell clones, appeared to account for between 20 and 59% of total TCR V β mRNA signal. This suggests that designing a T cell therapy for an individual may require the interruption of relatively few T cell clones to induce a clinical effect.

The main weakness of this human study is the inadequate quantification involved in standard PCR of small quantities of mRNA. In order to address this for future studies, a real time PCR experiment was performed using a re-designed set of V β primers to compare a fluorogenic probe with SYBR green, a non-specific dye which binds all ds-DNA. The primers were shown to work well in conjunction with the fluorogenic probe and SYBR green. The SG, however, failed to work well on using samples which were either of too low a signal or mixed with non-TCR cDNA. The fluorogenic probe is therefore the appropriate method to use for subsequent experiments on small amounts of renal biopsy tissue.

8.2 Future studies.

The results presented in this thesis suggest several lines for further research. The finding that DNA vaccination ameliorates the development of Heymann nephritis is interesting. It remains a study in prevention of disease which does not address truly therapeutic issues. Further studies need to address therapy with treatment given after the onset of disease. This would more fairly represent the scenario of treatment within the human population. The identification of T cells in renal tissue or glomeruli does not in itself demonstrate pathogenicity. Neither does the interruption of a group of T cells demonstrate pathogenicity of the entire interrupted population. Other studies envisaged would address the difference in TCR repertoires and detectable T cell clones in both activated T cells and populations of regulatory T cells in peripheral blood. An analysis of regulatory T cells within renal tissue is necessary to prevent the targeting of these cells in any potential future therapeutic manoeuvres.

Further studies are required to confirm the results of the human renal biopsy study. The real time PCR for TCR V β families needs to be performed on relatively fresh biopsy samples with subsequent CDR3 analyses to demonstrate the relative levels of T cell clones. Analyses need to be carried out on a wide range of glomerulonephritides including ANCA associated vasculitis, Goodpasture's disease, IgA nephropathy, membranous glomerulonephritis, and the renal manifestations of systemic lupus erythematosus. Once T cell clones have been identified in an individual patient, clonotypic PCR can be designed to detect the clone in PBMC or urine. In the case of progressive or relapsing diseases, the time course of these T cell clones can then be studied in relation to their clinical course. Results from animal models suggest that even in an inbred population, different animals utilise different VB families and CDR3 sequences to drive the same immunological process. The same is therefore highly likely to be true in an outbred population such as humans. It then seems unlikely that T cell therapies based on V β families will be anything other than an individualised therapeutic option. Multiple questions require answering prior to that becoming reality. The studies suggested above would answer the question of whether specific T cell clones can be identified and tracked during the disease. Other studies would need to address whether the same T cell clones are used in serial relapses of the same disease

in an individual patient and whether interruption of these clones could be used to treat the disease.

8.3 Conclusions

The findings in this thesis demonstrate that restricted populations of oligoclonal T cells are detectable in animal models of renal disease and in human renal biopsies. In Heymann nephritis, DNA vaccination based on TCR V β expression is shown to be effective in preventing disease. This suggests that the glomerular T cells identified are likely to be pathogenic. A limited number of T cell clones appear to be responsible for driving the immune process in human rapidly progressive glomerulonephritis. Individualised V β specific T cell immunotherapy may be a viable treatment option for patients with T cell mediated glomerulonephritis.

References

- 1. Smith LR, Kono DH, Theofilopolous AN. (1991) Complexity and sequence identification of 24 rat V beta genes. *J Immunol* 147:375-379.
- 2. LeFranc M. (2001) IMGT, the international ImMunoGeneTics database. *Nucl Acids Res* 29:207-209.
- 3. Rowen L, Koop BF, Hood L. (1996) The complete 685-kilobase DNA sequence of the human beta T cell receptor locus. *Science* 272:1755-1762.
- 4. Larocque R, Robinson MA. (1996) Diversity in the human T cell receptor. Hum Immunol 48:3-11.
- 5. Reinherz EL, Tan K, Tang L, Kern P, Liu J, Xiong Y, Hussey RE, Smolyar A, Hare B, Zhang R, Joachimiak A, Chang HC, Wagner G, Wang J. (1999) The crystal structure of a T cell receptor in complex with peptide and MHC class II. *Science* 286:1913-1921.
- 6. Clarke GR, Humphrey CA, Lancaster FC, Boylston AW. (1994) The human T cell antigen receptor: the skewed use of V beta gene families by CD8+ T cells. *Clin Exp Immunol* 96:364-369.
- 7. Kotzin BL, Karuturi S, Chou YK, Lafferty J, Forrester JM, Better M, Nedwin GE, Offner H, Vandenbark AA. (1991) Preferential T cell receptor beta chain variable gene use in myelin basic protein reactive T cell clones form patients with multiple sclerosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 88:9161-9165.
- 8. Rosenberg WM, Moss PA, Bell JI. (1992) Variation in human T cell receptor V beta and J beta repertoire: analysis using anchor polymerase chain reaction. *J Immunol* 22:541-549.
- 9. Watson D, Ando T, Knight JF. (2000) Sequence and diversity of the rat delta T-cell receptor. *Immunogenetics* 51:714-722.
- 10. Malhotra U, Spielman R, Concannon P. (1992) Variability in T cell receptor V beta gene usage in human peripheral blood lymphocytes. Studies of identical twins, siblings, and insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus patients. *J Immunol* 149:1802-1808.
- 11. Zamvil SS, Nelson PA, Mitchell DJ, Knobler RL, Fritz RB, Steinman L. (1985) Encephalitogenic T cell clones specific for myelin basic protein. An unusual bias in antigen recognition. *J Exp Med* 162:2107-2124.
- 12. Kim G, Kohyama K, Tanuma N, Arimito H, Matsumoto Y. (1998) Persistent expression of Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis (EAE) specific V beta 8.2 TCR spectratype in the central nervous system of rats with chronic relapsing EAE. J Immunol 161:6993-6998.
- 13. Happ MP, Eber-Katz E. (1988) Differences in the repertoire of the Lewis rat T cell response to self and non-self myelin basic proteins. *J Exp Med* 167:502-513.

- 14. Ben-Nun A, Wekerle H, Cohen IR. (1981) The rapid isolation of clonable antigenspecific T lymphocyte lines capable of mediating autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Eur J Immunol* 11:195-199.
- 15. Burns FR, Li X, Shen N, Offner H, Chou YK, Vandenbark AA, Heber-Katz E. (1989) Both rat and mouse T cell receptors specific for the encephalitogenic determinant of myelin basic protein us similar V alpha and V beta chain genes even though the major histocompatibility complex and encephalitogenic ceterminants being recognized ar. J Exp Med 169:27-39.
- 16. Chluba J, Steeg C, Becker A, Wekerle H, Epplen JT. (1989) T cell receptor beta chain usage in myelin basic protein-specific rat T lymphocytes. *Eur J Immunol* 19:279-284.
- 17. Gold DP, Offner H, Sun D, Wiley S, Vandenvark AA, Wilson DB. (1991) Analysis of T cell receptor beta chains in lewis rats with experimental allergic encephalomyelitis: conserved complementarity determining region 3. *J Exp Med* 174:1467-1476.
- 18. Fritz RB, Wang X, Zhao ML. (2000) Alterations in the spinal cord T cell repertoire during relapsing experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* 164:6662-6668.
- 19. Gold R, Geigerich, Hartung H, Toyka K. (1995) T cell receptor (TCR) usage in Lewis rat experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: TCR beta chain variable region Vb8.2 positive T cells are not essential for induction and course of disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 92:5850-5854.
- 20. Heymann W, Hackel DB, Harwood S, Wilson SGF, Hunter JLP. (1959) Production of Nephrotic Syndrome in Rats by Freund's Adjuvants and Rat Kidney Suspensions. *Proc Exp Biol Med* 100:660-664.
- 21. Quigg RJ, Cybulsky AV, Jacobs JB, Salant DJ. (1988) Anti-Fx1A produces complement-dependent cytotxicity of glomerular epithelial cells. *Kidney Int* 34:43-52.
- 22. Kerjaschki D, Schulze M, Binder S, Kain R, Ojha PP, Susani M, Horvat R, Baker PJ, Couser WG. (1989) Transcellular transport and membrane insertion of the C5b-9 membrane attack complex of complement by glomerular epithelial cells in experimental membranous nephropathy. *J Immunol* 143:546-552.
- 23. Salant DJ, Quigg RJ, Cybulsky AV. (1989) Heymann nephritis: Mechanism of renal injury. *Kidney Int* 35:976-984.
- 24. Quiza CG, Leenaerts PL, Hall BM. (1992) The role of T cells in the mediation of glomerular injury in Heymann nephritis in the rat. Int Immunol 4:423-432.
- 25. Cheng IKP, Dorsch SE, Hall BM. (1988) The regulation of autoantibody production in Heymann's nephritis by T lymphocyte subsets. *Lab Invest* 59:780-788.

- 26. Penny MJ, Boyd RA, Hall BM. (1997) Role of T cells in the mediation of Heymann nephritis. Ii Identification of Th1 and cytotoxic cells in glomeruli. *Kidney Int* 51:1059-1068.
- 27. Gronhagen-Riska C, Honkanen E, von Willebrand E, Tikkanen I, Miettinen A, Holthofer H, Tornroth T. (1987) Interstitial mononuclear cell infiltration in Heymann nephritis. *Clin Exp Immunol* 70:425-433.
- 28. Wu H, Zhang GY, Knight JF. (2001) T cell receptor BV gene usage in interstitial cellualr infiltrates in active Heymann nephritis. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 16:1374-81.
- 29. Sado Y, Naito I, Akita M, Okigaki T. (1986) Strain specific responses of inbred rats on the severity of experimental autoimmune glomerulonephritis. *Clin Lab Immunol* 19:193-199.
- 30. Reynolds J, Mavromatidis K, Cashman SJ, et al. (1998) Experimental autoimmune glomerulonephritis (EAG) induced by homologous and heterologous glomerular basement membrane in two substrains of Wistar-Kyoto rat. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 13:44-52.
- 31. Pusey CD, Holland MJ, Cashman SJ, Sinico RA, Lloveras JJ, Evans DJ, Lockwood CM. (1991) Experimental autoimmune glomerulonephritis induced by homologous and isologous glomerular basement membrane in Brown-Norway rats. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 6:457-465.
- 32. Reynolds J, Cashman SJ, Evans DJ, Pusey CD. (1991) Cyclosporin A in the prevention and treatment of experimental autoimmune glomerulonephritis in the Brown Norway rat. *Clin Exp Immunol* 85:28-32.
- 33. Reynolds J, Pusey CD. (1994) In vivo treatment with a monoclonal antibody to T helper cells in experimental autoimmune glomerulonephritis in the BN rat. *Clin Exp Immunol* 95:122-127.
- 34. Reynolds J, Norgan VA, Bhambra U, Smith J, Cook HT and Pusey CD. (2002) Anti-CD8 monoclonal antibody therapy is effective in the prevention and treatment of experimental autoimmune glomerulonephritis. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 13:359-369.
- 35. Reynolds J, Sallie BA, Syrganis C, Pusey CD. (1993) The role of T-helper lymphocytes in priming for experimental autoimmune glomerulonephritis in the BN rat. J Autoimmun 6:571-585.
- 36. Wu J, Hicks J, Borillo J, Glass II WF, Lou Y. (2002) CD4+ T cells specific to a glomerular basement membrane antigen mediate glomerulonephritis. *J Clin Invest* 109:517-524.
- 37. Salama AD, Pusey CD. (2002) Immunology of anti-glomerular basement membrane disease. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 11:279-286.

- 38. Ryan JJ, Reynolds J, Norgan VA, Pusey CD. (2001) Expression and characterisation of recombinant rat alpha 3(IV)NC1 and its use in the induction of experimental autoimmune glomerulonephritis. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 16:253-261.
- 39. Abbate M, Kalluri R, Corna D, Yamaguchi N, McCluskey RT, Hudson BG, Andres G, Zoja C, Remuzzi G. (1998) Experimental Goodpasture's syndrome in Wistar-Kyoto rats immunized with alpha 3 chain of type IV collagen. *Kidney Int* 54:1550-1561.
- 40. Wu J, Hicks J, Ou C, Singleton D, Borillo J, Lou YH. (2001) Glomerulonephritis induced by recombinant collagen IV alpha 3 chain noncollagen domain 1 is not associated with glomerular basement membrane antibody: a potential T cell-mediated mechanism. *J Immunol* 167:2388-2395.
- 41. Kalluri R, Danoff TM, Okada H, Neilson EG. (1997) Susceptibility to anti-glomerular basement membrane disease and Goodpasture syndrome is linked to MHC class II genes and the emergence of T cell mediated immunity in mice. *J Clin Invest* 100:2263-2275.
- 42. Ben-Nun A, Liblau RS, Cohen L, Lehmann D, Tournier-Lasserve E, Rosenzweig, Zhang J, Raus JCM, Bach A. (1991) Restricted T cell receptor V beta gene usage by myelin basic protein specific T cell clones in multiple sclerosis: predominant genes vary in individuals. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 88:2466-2470.
- 43. Richert JD, Robinson ED, Camphaused K, Martin R, Voskuhl RR, Faerber MA, McFarland HF, Hurley CK. (1995) Diversity of T cell receptor V alpha, V beta and CDR3 expression by byelin basic protein-specific human T cell clones. *Neurology* 45:1919-1922.
- 44. Hong J, Zang YC, Tejada-Simon MV, Kozovska M, Li S, Singh RA, Yang D, Rivera VM, Killian JK, Zhang JZ. (1999) A common TCR V-D-J sequence in V beta 13.1 T cells recognizing an immunodominant peptide of myelin basic protein in multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol* 163:3530-3538.
- 45. Wucherpfennig KW, Zhang J, Witek C, Matsui M, Modabber Y, Ota K, Hafler DA. (1994) Clonal expansion and persistence of human T cells specific for an immunodominant myelin basic protein peptide. *j Immunol* 152:5581-5592.
- 46. Zhang J, Markovic-Plese S, Lacet B, Raus J, Weiner HL, Hafler DA. (1994) Increased frequency of interleukin 2-responsive T cells specific for myelin basic protein and proteolipid protein in peripheral blood and cerebrospinal fluid of patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Exp Med* 179:973-984.
- 47. Lozeron P, Chabas D, Duprey B, Lyon-Caen O, Liblau R. (1998) T cell receptor V beta 5 and V beta 17 clonal diversity in cerebrospinal fluid and peripheral blood lymphocytes of multiple sclerosis patients. *Mult Scler* 4:154-161.
- 48. Wilson DB, Golding AB, Smith RA, Dafashy T, Nelson J, Smith L, Carlo DJ, Brostoff SW, Gold DP. (1997) Results of a phase I clinical trial of a T-cell receptor peptide vaccine in patients with multiple sclerosis. I. Analysis of T-cell receptor utilization in CSF cell populations. *J Neuroimmunol* 76:15-28.

- 49. Oksenberg JR, Stuart S, Begovich AB, Bell RB, Erlich HA, Steinman L, Bernard CC. (1990) Limited heterogeneity of rearranged T-cell receptor V alpha transcripts in brains of multiple sclerosis patients. *Nature* 345:344-346.
- 50. Oksenberg JR, Panzara MA, Begovich AB, Mitchell D, Erlich HA, Murray RS, Shimonkevitz R, Sherritt M, Rothbard J, Bernard CC, et al. (1993) Selection for T-cell receptor V beta-D beta-J beta gene rearrangements with specificity for a myelin basic protein peptide in brain lesions of multiple sclerosis. *Nature* 362:68-70.
- 51. Wucherpfennig KW, Newcombe J, Li H, Keddy C, Cuzner ML, Hafler DA. (1992) T cell receptor V alpha-V beta repertoire and cytokine gene expression in active multiple sclerosis lesions. *J Exp Med* 175:993-1002.
- 52. Killestein J, Olsson T, Wallstrom E, Svenningsson A, Khademi M, Blumhardt LD, Fagius J, Hillert J, Landtblom AM, Edenius C, Arfors L, Barkhof F, Polman CH. (2002) Antibody-mediated suppression of Vbeta5.2/5.3(+) T cells in multiple sclerosis: results from an MRI-monitored phase II clinical trial. *Ann Neurol* 51:467-474.
- 53. Gold DP, Smith RA, Golding AB, Morgan EE, Dafashy T, Nelson J, Smith L, Diveley J, Laxer JA, Richieri SP, Carlo DJ, Brostoff SW, Wilson DB. (1997) Results of a phase I clinical trial of a T-cell receptor vaccine in patients with multiple sclerosis. II. Comparative analysis of TCR utilization in CSF T-cell populations before and after vaccination with a TCRV beta 6 CDR2 peptide. *J Neuroimmunol* 76:29-38.
- 54. Morgan EE, Nardo CJ, Diveley JP, Kunin J, Bartholomew RM, Moss RB, Carlo DJ. (2001) Vaccination with a CDR2 BV6S2/6S5 peptide in adjuvant induces peptide-specific T-cell responses in patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Neurosci Res* 64:298-301.
- 55. Vandenbark AA, Morgan E, Bartholomew R, Bourdette D, Whitham R, Carlo D, Gold D, Hashim G, Offner H. (2001) TCR peptide therapy in human autoimmune diseases.. *Neurochem Res* 26:713-730.
- 56. Medaer R, Stinissen P, Truyen L, Raus J, Zhang J. (1995) Depletion of myelin-basicprotein autoreactive T cells by T-cell vaccination: pilot trial in multiple sclerosis. *Lancet* 346:807-808.
- 57. Hermans G, Medaer R, Raus J, Stinissen P. (2000) Myelin reactive T cells after T cell vaccination in multiple sclerosis: cytokine profile and depletion by additional immunizations. *J Neuroimmunol* 102:79-84.
- 58. Hermans G, Denzer U, Lohse A, Raus J, Stinissen P. (1999) Cellular and humoral immune responses against autoreactive T cells in multiple sclerosis patients after T cell vaccination. *J Autoimmunity* 13:233-246.
- 59. Zhang JZ, Rivera VM, Tejada-Simon MV, Yang D, Hong J, Li S, Haykal H, Killian J, Zang YC. (2002) T cell vaccination in multiple sclerosis: results of a preliminary study. *J Neurol* 249:212-218.

- Achiron A, Lavie G, Kishner I, Stern Y, Sarova-Pinhas I, Ben-Aharon T, Barak Y, Raz H, Lavie M, Barliya T, Faibel M, Cohen IR, Mandel M. (2004) T cell vaccination in multiple sclerosis relapsing-remitting nonresponders patients. *Clin Immunol* 113:155-160.
- 61. Van der Aa A, Hellings N, Medaer R, Gelin G, Palmers Y, Raus J, Stinissen P. (2003) T cell vaccination in multiple sclerosis patients with autologous CSF-derived activated T cells: results from a pilot study. *Clin Exp Immunol* 131:155-168.
- 62. Kalluri R, Sun MJ, Hudson BG, Neilson EG. (1996) The Goodpasture autoantigen. Structural delineation of two immunologically privileged epitopes on alpha3(IV) chain of type IV collagen. *J Biol Chem* 271:9062-9068.
- 63. Kalluri R, Gunwar S, Reeders ST, Morrison KC, Mariyama M, Ebner KE, Noelken ME, Hudson BG. (1991) Goodpasture syndrome. Localization of the epitope for the autoantibodies to the carboxyl-terminal region of the alpha 3(IV) chain of basement membrane collagen. *J Biol Chem* 266:24018-24024.
- 64. Merkel F, Kalluri R, Marx M, Enders U, Stevanovic S, Giegerich G, Neilson EG, Rammensee HG, Hudson BG, Weber M. (1996) Autoreactive T cells in Goodpasture's syndrome recognise the N-terminal NC1 domain on alpha 3 type IV collagen. *Kidney Int* 49:1127-1133.
- 65. Lerner RA, Glassock RJ, Dixon FJ. (1967) The role of anti-glomerular basement membrane antibody in the pathogenesis of human glomerulonephritis. *J Exp Med* 126:989-1004.
- 66. Savage CO, Pusey CD, Bowman C, Rees AJ, Lockwood CM. (1986) Antiglomerular basement membrane antibody mediated disease in the British Isles 1980-4. *Br Med J* 292:301-304.
- 67. Rocklin RE, Lewis EJ, David JR. (1970) In vitro evidence for cellular hypersensitivity to glomerular-basement-membrane antigens in human glomerulonephritis. *New Engl J Med* 283:497-501.
- 68. Mahieu P, Dardenne M, Bach J. (1972) Detection of Humoral and Cell-Mediated Immunity to Kidney Basement Membranes in human Renal Diseases. Am J Med 53:185-192.
- 69. Tipping P, Huang X, Qi M, Van G, Tang W. (1998) Crescentic glomerulonephritis in CD4 and CD8 deficient mice. Am J Path 156:1541-1548.
- 70. Ligler F, Westby G, Hertz B, Durning C, Cohen R, Bonner H. (1983) Immunoregulatory cell subsets in Goodpasture's Syndrome: evidence for selective T suppressor cell depletion during active autoimmune disease. *J Clin Invest* 3:368-374.
- 71. Derry CJ, Ross CN, Lombardi G, Mason PD, Rees AJ, Lechler RI, Pusey CD. (1995) Analysis of T cell responses to the autoantigen in Goodpasture's disease. *Clin Exp Immunol* 100:262-268.

- 72. Fisher M, Pusey C, Vaughan R, Rees A. (1997) Susceptibility to anti-glomerular basement disease is strongly associated with HLA-DRB1 genes. *Kidney Int* 51:223-229.
- 73. Ronco P, Morel-Maroger L. (1983) Immunopathological studies of Polyarteritis Nodosa and Wegener's Granulomatosis: a report of 43 patients. *QJM* 206:212-223.
- 74. van der Woude FJ, Rasmussen N, Lobatto S, Wiik A, Permin H, van Es LA, van der Giessen M, van der Hem GK, The TH. (1985) Autoantibodies against neutrophils and monocytes: tool for diagnosis and marker of disease activity in Wegener's granulomatosis. *Lancet* 1:425-429.
- 75. Nolle B, Specks U, Ludemann J, Rohrbach MS, DeRemee RA, Gross WL. (1989) Anticytoplasmic autoantibodies: their immunodiagnostic value in Wegener granulomatosis. *Ann Intern Med* 111:28-40.
- 76. Rao JK, Weinberger M, Oddone EZ, Allen NB, Landsman P, Feussner JR. (1995) The role of antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (c-ANCA) testing in the diagnosis of Wegener granulomatosis. A literature review and meta-analysis. *Ann Intern Med* 123:925-932.
- 77. Van der Geld YM, Steeman CA, Kallenberg CGM. (2004) B cell epitope specificity in ANCA-associated vasculitis: does it matter?. *Clin Exp Immunol* 137:451-459.
- 78. Ewert BH, Jennette JC, Falk RJ. (1991) The pathogenic role of antineutrophil cytoplasmic autoantibodies. *Am J Kidney Dis* 18:188-195.
- 79. Csernok E, Ernst M, Schmitt W, Bainton DF, Gross WL. (1994) Activated neutrophils express proteinase 3 on their plasma membrane in vitro and in vivo. *Clin Exp Immunol* 95:244-250.
- 80. Mayet WJ, Meyer zum Buschenfelde KH. (1993) Antibodies to proteinase 3 increase adhesion of neutrophils to human endothelial cells. *Clin Exp Immunol* 94:440-446.
- 81. Savage CO, Pottinger BE, Gaskin G, Pusey CD, Pearson JD. (1992) Autoantibodies developing to myeloperoxidase and proteinase 3 in systemic vasculitis stimulate neutrophil cytotoxicity toward cultured endothelial cells. *Am J Path* 141:335-342.
- Xiao H, Heeringa P, Hu P, Liu Z, Zhao M, Aratani Y, Maeda N, Falk R, Jennette J. (2002) Antineutrophil cytoplasmic autoantibodies specific for myeloperoxidase cause glomerulonephritis and vasculitis in mice. J Clin Invest 110:955-963.
- 83. Mulder AH, Stegeman CA, Kallenberg CG. (1995) Activation of granulocytes by antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies (ANCA) in Wegener's granulomatosis: a predominant role for the IgG3 subclass of ANCA. *Clin Exp Immunol* 101:227-232.
- 84. Mulder AH, Heeringa P, Brouwer E, Limburg PC, Kallenberg CG. (1994) Activation of granulocytes by anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies (ANCA): a Fc gamma RII-dependent process. *Clin Exp Immunol* 98:270-278.
- 85. Mellbye OJ, Mollnes TE, Steen LS. (1994) IgG subclass distribution and complement activation ability of autoantibodies to neutrophil cytoplasmic antigens (ANCA). *Clin Immunol Immunopathol* 70:32-39.
- 86. Weidner S, Carl M, Riess R, Rupprecht HD. (2004) Histologic analysis of renal leukocyte infiltration in antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-associated vasculitis: importance of monocyte and neutrophil infiltration in tissue damage. *Arthirits Rheum* 50:3651-3657.
- 87. Ten Berg I, Schellekens P. (1983) Clinical and immunological follow up of patients with severe renal disease in Wegener's Granulomatosis. *Am J Nephrol* 5:21-29.
- 88. Schmitt W, Gross W. (1992) Elevated serum levels of soluble IL-2 receptor in patients with Wegener's Granulomatosis. *Arth Rheum* 35:1088-1096.
- 89. Stegeman C, Cohen Tervaert J, Huitema M, Kallenberg C. (1993) Serum markers of T cell activation in relapses of Wegener's Granulomatosis. *Clin Exp Immunol* 91:415-420.
- 90. Ludviksson B, Sneller M, Chua K, Talar-Williams C, Langford C, Ehrhardt R, Fauci A, Strober W. (1998) Active Wegener's Granulomatosis is associated with HLA-DR+ CD4+ T cells exhibiting an unbalanced Th1-type T cell cytokine pattern: reversal with IL-10. J Immunol 160:3602-3609.
- 91. Mathieson PW, Lockwood CM, Oliveira DB. (1992) T and B cell responses to neutrophil cytoplasmic antigens in systemic vasculitis. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol* 63:135-141.
- 92. Brouwer E, Stegeman CA, Huitema MG, Limburg PC, Kallenberg CG. (1994) T cell reactivity to proteinase 3 and myeloperoxidase in patients with Wegener's granulomatosis (WG). *Clin Exp Immunol* 98:448-453.
- 93. Griffith ME, Coulthart A, Pusey CD. (1996) T cell responses to myeloperoxidase and proteinase 3 in patients with systemic vasculitis. *Clin Exp Immunol* 103:253-258.
- 94. King WJ, Brooks CJ, Holder R, Hughes P, Adu D, Savage COS. (1998) T lymphocyte responses to anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic autoantibody (ANCA) antigens are present in patients with ANCA-associated systemic vasculitis and persist during disease remission. *Clin Exp Immunol* 112:539-546.
- 95. Ballieux B, Van der Burg S, Hagen E, Van der Woude F. (1995) Cell mediated autoimmunity in Wegener's Granulomatosis. *Clin Exp Immunol* 100:186-193.
- 96. Simpson I, Skinner M, Geursen A, Peake J, Abbott W, Fraser J, Lockwood C, Tan P. (1995) Peripheral blood T lymphocytes in systemic vasculitis: increased T cell receptor V? gene usage in Microscopic Polyangiitis. *Clin Exp Immunol* 101:220-226.
- 97. Clarke GR, Humphrey CA, Lancaster FC, Boylston AW. (1994) The human T cell antigen receptor repertoire: skewed use of V beta gene families by CD8+ T cells. *Clin Exp Immunol* 96:364-369.

- 98. Giscombe R, Grunewald J, Nityanand S, Lefvert A. (1995) T cell receptor V gene usage in patients with systemic necrotizing vasculitis. *Clin Exp Immunol* 101:213-219.
- 99. Grunewald J, Halapi E, Wahlstrom J, Giscombe R, Nityanand S, Sanjeevi C, Lefvert A. (1998) T cell expansions with conserved T cell receptor ? chain motifs in the peripheral blood of HLA-DRB1*0401 positive patients with necrotizing vasculitis. *Blood* 92:3737-3744.
- 100. Edgington TS, Glassock RJ, Dixon FJ. (1968) Autologous immune complex nephritis induced with renal tubular antigen. I. Identification and isolation of the pathogenetic antigen. *J Exp Med* 127:555-572.
- 101. Striker GE, Striker LJ. (1985) Glomerular Cell Culture. Lab Invest 53:122-131.
- 102. Chomcynski P, Sacchi N. (1987) Single step method of RNA isolation by acid guanidinium thiocyanate-phenol-chloroform extraction. *Anal Biochem* 162:152-159.
- 103. Gold DP, Vainiene M, Celnik B, Wiley S, Gibbs C, Hashim GA, Vandenbark AA, Offner H. (1992) Characterization of the immune response to a secondary encephalitogenic epitope of basic protein in Lewis rats. II. Biased T cell receptor Vb expression predominates in spinal cord infiltrating T cells. *J Immunol* 148:1712-1717.
- 104. Wu H, Zhang G, Knight JF. (2000) T cell lines specific for a synthetic Heymann nephritis peptide derived from receptor-associated protein. *Clin Exp Immunol* 121:157-164.
- 105. DiCesare J, Grossman B, Katz E, Picozza E, Ragusa R, Woudenberg T. (1993) A high sensitivity electrochemiluminescence based detection system for automated PCR product quantitation. *Biotechniques* 15:152-157.
- 106. Wu H, Zhang GY, Clarkson AR, Knight JF. (1999) Conserved T cell receptor beta chain CDR3 sequences in IgA nephropathy biopsies. *Kidney Int* 55:109-119.
- 107. Walters G, Wu H, Knight JF. (2001) Glomerular T cells in Heymann nephritis. Clin Exp Immunol 126:319-325.
- 108. Matsumoto Y, Jee Y, Sugisaki M. (2000) Successful TCR-based immunotherapy for autoimmune myocarditis with DNA vaccines after rapid identification of pathogenic TCR. *J Immunol* 164:2248-2254.
- 109. Benveniste O, Martin M, Villinger F, Dormont D. (1998) Techniques for quantification of cytokine mRNAs. Cytokines Cell Mol Ther 4:207-214.
- 110. de Haas V, Breunis WB, Dee R, Verhagen OJ, Kroes W, van Wering ER, van Dongen JJ, van den Berg H, van der Schoot CE. (2002) The TEL-AML 1 real time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (PCR) might replace the antigen receptor-based genomic PCR in clinical minimal residual disease studies in children with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Br J Haematol* 116:87-93.

- 111. Walters G, Wu H, Knight JF. (2001) Glomerular T cells in Heymann nephritis. Clin Exp Immunol 126:319-325.
- 112. Wu H, Zhang G, Knight JF. (2000) T cell lines specific for a synthetic Heymann nephritis peptide derived from receptor-associated protein. *Clin Exp Immunol* 121:157-164.
- 113. Gagne K, Brouard S, Giral M, Sebille F, Moreau A, Guillet M, Bignon J, Imbert B, Cuturi M, Soulillou J. (2000) Highly altered V beta repertoire of T cells infiltrating long term rejected kidney allografts. *J Immunol* 164:1553-1563.
- 114. Guillet M, Sebille, Soulillou J. (2001) TCR usage in naive and committed alloreactive cells: implications for the understanding of TCR biases in transplantation. *Curr Opin Immunol* 13:566-571.
- 115. Sebille F, Gagne K, Guillet M, Degauque N, Pallier A, Brouard S, Vanhove B, Delsuc M, Soulillou J. (2001) Direct recognition of foreign MHC determinants by naive T cells mobilizes specific V beta families without skewing of the complementarity determining region 3 length distribution. *J Immunol* 167:3082-3088.
- 116. Lim A, Baron V, Ferradini L, Bonneville M, Kourilsky P, Pannetier C. (2002) Combination of MHC-peptide multimer-based T cell sorting with the Immunoscope permits sensitive ex vivo quantitation and follow-up of human CD8 T cell immune responses. *J Immunol Methods* 261:177-194.
- 117. Chomcynski P, Sacchi N. (1987) Single step method of RNA isolation by acid guanidinium thiocyanate-phenol-chloroform extraction. *Anal Biochem* 162:152-159.
- 118. Yin JL, Shackel NA, Zekry A, McGuinness PH, Richards C, van der Putten K, McCaughan W, Eris JM, Bishop GA. (2001) Real time reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) for measurement of cytokine and growth factor mRNA expression with fluorogenic probes or SYBR Green I. *Immunol Cell Biol* 79:213-221.
- 119. Hein I, Lehner A, Rieck P, Klein K, Brandl E, Wagner M. (2001) Comparison of different approaches to quantify Staphylococcus aureus cells by real-time quantitative PCR and application of this technique for examination of cheese. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 67:3122-6.
- 120. Terry CF, Shanahan DJ, Ballam LD, Harris N, McDowell DG, Parkes HC. (2002) Realtime detection of genetically modified soya using Lightcycler and ABI 7700 platforms with TaqMan, Scorpion and SYBR Green I chemistries. *J AOAC Int* 85:938-944.
- 121. Malinen E, Kassinen A, Rinttila T, Palva A. (2003) Comparison of real-time PCR with SYBR Green I or 5'-nuclease assays and dot-blot hybridization with rDNA-targeted oligonucleotide probes in quantification of selected faecal bacteria. *Microbiology* 149:269-277.

- 122. Schmittgen TD, Zakrajsek BA, Mills AG, Gorn V, Singer MJ, Reed MW. (2000) Quantitative reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction to study mRNA decay: comparison of endpoint and real-time methods. *Anal Biochem* 285:194-204.
- 123. Yin JL, Shackel NA, Zekry A, McGuinness PH, Richards C, van der Putten K, McCaughan W, Eris JM, Bishop GA. (2001) Real time reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) for measurement of cytokine and growth factor mRNA expression with fluorogenic probes or SYBR Green I. *Immunol Cell Biol* 79:213-221.
- 124. Yamazaki H, Ullrich R, Exner M et al. (1998) All four putative ligand-binding domains in megalin contain pathogenic epitopes capable of inducing passive Heymann nephritis. J Am Soc Nephrol 9:1638-1644.
- 125. Ellgaard L, Holtet TL, Moestrup SK, Etzerodt M, Thogersen HC. (1995) Nested sets of protein fragments and their use in epitope mapping: Characterization of the epitope for the S4D5 monoclonal antibody binding to receptor associated protein. *J Immunol Methods* 180:53-61.
- 126. Candeias S, Waltzinger C, Benoist C, Mathis D. (1991) The V beta 17+ T cell repertoire: skewed J beta usage after thymic selection; dissimilar CDR3s in CD4+ versus CD8+ cells. J Exp Med 174:989-1000.
- 127. Tsuchida M, Matsumoto Y, Hirahara H, Hanawa H, Tomiyama K, Abo T. (1993) Preferential distribution of V beta 8.2-positive T cells in the central nervous system of rats with myelin basic protein-induced autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Eur J Immunol* 23:2399-2406.
- 128. Sottini A, Imberti L, Gorla R, Cattaneo R, Primi D. (1991) Restricted expression of T cell receptor V beta but not V alpha genes in rheumatoid arthritis. *Eur J Immunol* 21:461-466.
- 129. Prinz JC, Vollmer S, Boehncke WH, Menssen A, Laisney I, Trommler P. (1999) Selection of conserved TCR VDJ rearrangements in chronic psoriatic plaques indicates a common antigen in psoriasis vulgaris. *Eur J Immunol* 29:3360-3368.
- 130. Gulwani-Akolkar B, Akolkar PN, Minassian A, Pergolizzi R, McKinley M, Mullin G, Fisher S, Silver J. (1996) Selective expansion of specific T cell receptors in the inflamed colon of Crohn's disease. *J Clin Invest* 98:1344-1354.
- 131. Vissinga C, Springmeyer SC, Concannon P. (1996) TCR expression and clonality analysis in pulmonary sarcoidosis. *Hum Immunol* 48:98-106.
- 132. Weyand CM, Schonberger J, Oppitz U, Hunder NN, Hicok KC, Goronzy JJ. (1994) Distinct vascular lesions in giant cell arteritis share identical T cell clonotypes. *J Exp Med* 179:951-960.
- 133. Garboczi DN, Ghosh P, Utz U, Fan QR, Biddison WE, Wiley DC. (1996) Structure of the complex between human T-cell receptor, viral peptide and HLA-A2. *Nature* 384:134-141.

- 134. Makker SP. (1993) Analysis of glomeruli-eluted Gp330 autoantibodies and of Gp330 antigen of Heymann nephritis. *J Immunol* 151:6500-6508.
- 135. Penny MJ, Boyd RA, Hall BM. (1998) Permanent CD8(+) T cell depletion prevents proteinuria in active Heymann nephritis. *J Exp Med* 188:1775-1784.
- 136. Waisman A, Ruiz PJ, Hirschberg DL, Gelman A, Oksenberg JR, Brocke S, Mor F, Cohen IR, Steinman L. (1996) Suppressive vaccination with DNA encoding a variable region gene of the T-cell receptor prevents autoimmune encephalomyelitis and activates Th2 immunity. *Nat Med* 2:899-905.
- 137. Koga Y, Caccia N, Toyonaga B, Spolski R, Yanagi Y, Yoshikai Y, Mak TW. (1986) A human T cell-specific cDNA clone (YT16) encodes a protein with extensive homology to a family of protein-tyrosine kinases. *Eur J Immunol* 16:1643-1646.
- 138. Nielsen PR, Ellgaard L, Etzerodt M, Thogersen HC, Poulsen FM. (1997) The solution structure of the N-terminal domain of alpha2-macroglobulin receptor-associated protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 94:7521-7525.
- 139. Acha-Orbea H, Mitchell DJ, Timmermann L, Wraith DC, Tausch GS, Waldor MK, Zamvil SS, McDevitt HO, Steinman L. (1988) Limited heterogeneity of T cell receptors from lymphocytes mediating autoimmune encephalomyelitis allows specific immune intervention. *Cell* 54:263-273.
- 140. Urban JL, Kumar V, Kono DH, Gomez C, Horvath SJ, Clayton J, Ando DG, Sercarz EE, Hood L. (1988) Restricted use of T cell receptor V genes in murine autoimmune encephalomyelitis raises possibilities for antibody therapy. *Cell* 54:577-592.
- 141. Vignes C, Chiffoleau E, Brouard S, Douillard P, Coudreuse D, Soulillou JP, Cuturi MC. (2000) Anti-TCR Vbeta-specific DNA vaccination prolongs heart allograft survival in adult rats. *Eur J Immunol* 30:2460-2464.
- 142. Vignes C, Chiffoleau E, Douillard P, Josien R, Peche H, Heslan JM, Usal C, Soulillou JP, Cuturi MC. (2000) Anti-TCR-specific DNA vaccination demonstrates a role for a CD8+ T cell clone in the induction of allograft tolerance by donor-specific blood transfusion. *J Immunol* 165:96-101.
- 143. Bankovich AJ, Garcia KC. (2003) Not just any T cell receptor will do. Immunity 18:7-11.
- 144. Salama AD, Levy JB, Lightstone L, Pusey CD. (2001) Goodpasture's disease. Lancet 358:917-920.
- 145. Turner N, Mason PJ, Brown R, Fox M, Povey S, Rees AJ, Pusey CD. (1992) Molecular cloning of the human Goodpasture antigen demonstrates it to be the a3 chain of type IV collagen. *J Clin Invest* 89:592-601.

- 146. Borza DB, Netzer KO, Leinonen A, Todd P, Cervera J, Saus J, Hudson BG. (2000) The Goodpasture autoantigen: Identification of multiple cryptic epitopes on the NC1 domain of the alpha3(IV) collagen chain. *J Biol Chem* 275:6030-6037.
- 147. Salama AD, Chaudhry AN, Ryan JJ, Eren E, Levy JB, Pusey CD, Lightstone L, Lechler RI. (2001) In Goodpasture's disease, CD4+ T cells escape thymic deletion and are reactive with the autoantigen alpha3(IV)NC1. J Am Soc Nephrol 12:1908-1915.
- 148. Phelps RG, Rees AJ. (1999) The HLA complex in Goodpasture's disease: a model for analysing susceptibility to autoimmunity. *Kidney Int* 56:1638-1653.
- 149. Levy JB, Turner AN, Rees AJ, Pusey CD. (2001) Long-term outcome of antiglomerular basement membrane antibody disease treated with plasma exchange and immunosuppression. *Ann Intern Med* 134:1033-1042.
- 150. Reynolds J, Moss J, Duda MA, Smith J, Karkar AM, Macherla V, Shore I, Evans DJ, Woodrow DF, Pusey CD. (2003) The evolution of crescentic nephritis and alveolar haemorrhage following induction of autoimmunity to glomerular basement membrane in an experimental model of Goodpasture's disease. *J Path* 200:118-129.
- 151. Reynolds J, Tam FWK, Chandraker A, Smith J, Karkar AM, Cross J, Peach R, Sayegh MH, Pusey CD. (2000) CD28-B7 blockade prevents the development of experimental autoimmune glomerulonephritis. *J Clin Invest* 105:643-651.
- 152. Reynolds J, Khan SB, Allen AR, Benjamin CD, Pusey CD. () Blockade of the CD154-CD40 costimulatory pathway prevents the development of experimental autoimmune glomerulonephritis. *Kidney Int (in press)* :.
- 153. Reynolds J, Pusey CD. (2001) Oral administration of glomerular basement membrane prevents the development of experimental autoimmune glomerulonephritis in the WKY rat. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 12:61-70.
- 154. Wu J, Borillo J, Glass WF, Hicks F, Ou C-N, Lou Y-H. (2003) T cell epitope of a3 chain of type IV collagen induces severe glomerulonephritis. *Kidney Int* 64:1292-1301.
- 155. Hopfer H, Maron R, Butzmann U, Helmchen U, Weiner HL, Kalluri R. (2003) The importance of cell mediated immunity in the course and severity of autoimmune anti-glomerular basement membrane disease in mice. *FASAB* 17:860-868.
- 156. Gold DP, Vainiene M, Celnik B, Wiley S, Gibbs C, Hashim GA, Vandenbark AA, Offner H. (1992) Characterization of the immune response to a secondary encephalitogenic epitope of basic protein in Lewis rats. II. Biased T cell receptor Vb expression predominates in spinal cord infiltrating T cells. *J Immunol* 148:1712-1717.
- 157. Wu H, Zhang GY, Clarkson AR, Knight JF. (1999) Conserved T cell receptor beta chain CDR3 sequences in IgA nephropathy biopsies. *Kidney Int* 55:109-119.

- 158. Sado Y, Boutaud A, Kagawa M, Naito I, Ninomiya Y, Hudson BG. (1998) Induction of anti-GBM nephritis in rats by recombinant alpha3(IV)NC1 and alpha4(IV)NC1 of type IV collagen. *Kidney Int* 53:664-671.
- 159. Sado Y, Naito I, Okigaki T. (1989) Transfer of anti-glomerular basement membrane antibody induced glomerulonephritis in inbred rats with isologous antibodies from urine of nephritic rats. *J Pathol* 158:325-332.
- 160. Bolton WK, Innes DJ, Sturgill BC, Kaiser DL. (1987) T cells and macrophaes in rapidly progressive glomerulonephritis: Clinicopathologic correlations. *Kidney Int* 32:869-876.
- 161. Kim G, Tanuma T, Kohyama K, Suzuki Y, Kawazoe Y, Matsumoto Y. (1998) CDR3 size spectratyping and sequencing of spectratype derived TCR of spinal cord T cells in autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* 160:509-513.
- 162. Hanawa H, Inomata T, Okura Y, Hirono S, Ogawa Y, Izumi T, Kodama M, Aizawa Y. (1998) T cells with similar T cell receptor beta chain CDR3 motifs infiltrate inflammatory lesions of synthretic peptides inducing rat autoimmune myocarditis. *Circ Res* 83:133-140.
- 163. Winoto A, Urban J, Lan N, Goverman J, Hood L, Hansburg D. (1986) Predominant use of a V alpha gene segment in mouse T cell receptors for cytochrome c. *Nature* 324:679-682.
- 164. Danska J, Livingstone A, Paragas V, Ishihara T, Fathman G. (1990) The presumptive CDR3 regions of both T cell receptor alpha and beta chains determine T cell specificity for myoglobin peptides. *J. Exp. Med* 172:27-33.
- 165. Walters G, Wu H, Knight JF. (2001) Glomerular T cells in Heymann nephritis. Clin Exp Immunol 126:319-325.
- 166. Naumov YN, Hogan KT, Naumova EN, Pagel JT, Gorski J. (1998) A class I MHCrestricted recall response to a viral peptide is highly polyclonal despite stringent CDR3 selection: implications for establishing memory T cell repertoires in 'real-world' conditions. *J Immunol* 160:2842-2852.
- 167. Lim A, Trautmann L, Peyrat M, Couedel C, Davodeau F, Romagne, Kourilsky P, Bonneville M. (2000) Frequent contribution of T cell clonotypes with public TCR features to the chronic response against dominant EBV-derived epitope: application to direct detection of the molecular imprint on the human peripheral T cell repertoire. J Immunol 165:2001-2011.
- 168. Hara H, Morita M, Iwaki T, Hatae T, Itoyama Y, Kitamoto T, Akizuk S, Goto I, Watanabe T. (1994) Detection of Human T Lymphotrophic Virus Type I (HTLV-I) proviral DNA and analysis of T cell receptor V beta CDR3 sequences in spinal cord lesions of HTLV-I associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis. *J Exp Med* 180:831-839.

169. Wu H, Walters G, Knight JF, Alexander SI. (2003) DNA Vaccination Against Specific Pathogenic T Cell Receptors Reduces Proteinuria In Active Heymann Nephritis by Inducing Specific Autoantibodies. *J Immunol* 171:4824-4829.